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PART |

item 1. Business:

The following business overview is qualified in its entirety by the more detailed information included
elsewhere or incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K {(*Report”). As used in this
Report, unless otherwise expressly stated or the context otherwise requires, all references to “Steelcase,”
“we," “our,” “the Company" and similar references are to Steelcase Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.
Unless the context otherwise indicates, reference to a year relates to a fiscal year, ended in February of
the year indicated, rather than a calendar year. Additionally, Q1, Q2, Q3 and Q4 reference the first,
second, third and fourth quarter of the fiscal year indicated, respectively. All amounts are in millions,
except share and per share data, data presented as a percentage or as otherwise indicated.

Our Business

Steelcase is the world's leading designer, marketer and manufacturer of office furniture and
complementary products and services, with 2008 revenue of approximately $3.4 billion. We were
incorporated in 1912 as The Metal Office Furniture Company and changed our name to Steelcase Inc. in
1954. We became a publicly-traded company in 1998, and our stock is listed on the New York Stock
" Exchange.

Our mission is to help people work more effectively by providing knowledge, products and services
that result in a better work experience for our customers. We expect to grow our business by focusing
" on new geographic and customer market segments while continuing to leverage our existing customer
base, which we believe represents the largest installed base in the industry. '

Headquartered in Grand Rapids, Michigan, USA, Steelcase is a global company with approximately
13,500 employees. We sell our products through various channels including independent dealers,
company-owned dealers and directly to end users and governmental units. Various other channels are
employed to reach new customers and to serve existing customer segments more efficiently. We operate
using a global network of manufacturing, assembly and distribution facilities to supply product to our
various business units.

QOur Products

We study work, workers and workplaces to fully understand the ever-changing needs of individuals,
tearns and organizations all around the world. We then take our knowledge, couple it with products and
services inspired by what we've learned about the workplace, and create solutions that help people work
more effectively. This knowledge is embedded in our product portfolio, which includes a broad range of
products with a variety of aesthetic options and performance features at various price points that
address three core elements of a work environment: furniture, interior architecture and technology. Our
reportable segments generally offer similar or complementary preducts under some or all of the
categories listed below.

Furniture

Panel-based and freestanding furniture systems. Moveable and reconfigurable furniture compo-
_nents used to create individual workstations and complete work environments. Systems furniture
provides visual and acoustical privacy, accommaodates power and data cabling and supports technology
and other worktools.

Storage. Lateral and vertical files, cabinets, bins and shelves, carts, file pedestals and towers.

Seating. High-performance, ergonomic, executive, guest, lounge, team, healthcare, stackable and
general use chairs.

Tables. Conference, training, personal and café tables.

1




Textiles and surface materials. Upholstery, wall covering, drapery, panel fabrics, architectural
panels, shades and screens and surface imaging.

Desks and Suites. Wood and non-wood desks, credenzas and casegoods.

Worktoofs. Computer support, technology management and information management products
and portable whiteboards.

Architecture

Interior architecture. Full and partial height walls ‘and doors with a variety of surface materials and
modular post and beam products.

Lighting. Task, ambient and accent lighting with energy efficient and user control features.

Technology
Infrastructure. Infrastructure products, such as modular communications, data and power cabling.

Appliances. Group communication tools, such as interactive and static whiteboards, image captur-
ing devices and web-based interactive space-scheduling devices.

Our Services

We provide lease origination services to customers and selected financing services to our dealers,
We offer services to help our customers more fully leverage their physical space to drive down and
control occupancy costs while at the same time enhance the performance of their employees. Our
services include furniture and asset management and workplace strategies consulting.

IDEO provides product design and innovation services to a variety of organizations in the business,
government, education and social sectors. .

Reportable Segments ;

We operate on a worldwide basis within our North America and International reportable segments,
plus an “Other” category. During 2008, we made changes in our organizational structure which resulted
in changes to our segment reporting. As a result of these changes, certain components have been
reclassified between our North America segment and our Other category, including Vecta, which moved
fram North America to our Premium Group unit, and a health-care product line within Brayton, which
moved from our Premium Group unit to Nurture by Steelcase. Segment information for pricr years has
been restated to reflect these changes.

In recent years, we have significantly decreased our investment in the activities of the Financial
Services business. While we continue to originate leases to customers and earmn an origination fee for
that service, a third party provides the lease funding. In addition, we have significantly reduced the nature
and level of financing services provided to our dealers. As a result, we intend to wind down the operation
of our Financial Services subsidiary and transition its residual activities to our North America segment
during 2009. :

Additional information about our reportable segments, including financial information about geo-
graphic areas, is contained in litem 7: Managernent’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Resufts of Operations and Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

North America Segment

Our Neorth America segment serves customers in the United States (*U.S.") and Canada mainly
through approximately 230 independent and company-owned dealers. The North America segment
includes furniture, interior architecture and technology environment solutions as described above, under
the Steelcase, Turnstone, Details and Nurture by Steelcase brands. The Steelcase brand delivers insight-
led products, services and experiences that elevate performance of the world's leading organizations.
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Turnstone targets smaller to medium-sized companies and offers furniture that features smart design
and provides good value for people at work in all types of organizations. Details designs and markets
ergonomic tools and accessories for the workplace. Nurture by Steelcase creates healthcare products
and environments that seek to provide patients, caregivers and patients’ families a more comfortable,
efficient and favorable healing process.

Our end-use customer sales are distributed across a broad range of industries and vertical markets
including financial services, healthcare, insurance, government, higher education and technology, none
of which individually exceeded 17% of the North America segment revenue in 2008.

Each of our dealers maintains their own sales force which is complemented by our sales represen-
tatives who work closely with the dealers throughout the selling process. The largest independent dealer
in North America accounted for appreximately 5% of our segment revenue in 2008. The five largest
independent dealers collectively accounted for approximately 16% of our segment revenue. We do not
believe our business is dependent on any single dealer, the loss of which would have a sustained
material adverse effect upon our business. However, temporary disruption of dealer coverage within a
specific local market due to financial failure, the inability to smoothly transition ownership or termination
of the dealer relationship could temporarily have an adverse impact on our business within the affected
market. From time to time, we obtain a controlling interest in dealers that are undergoing an ownership
transition. It is typically our intent to divest our interest in these dealerships as soon as it is practical.

In 2008, the North America segment had revenue of $1,936.6, or 56.6% of our consolidated
revenue, and at the end of the year had approximately 7,100 employees and 500 temporary workers,
Approximately 4,300 of the total workers related to manufacturing.

The North America office furniture markets are highly competitive, with a number of competitors
offering similar categories of products. In these markets, companies compete on price, product
performance, design, delivery and relationships with customers, architects and designers. Our most
significant competitors in the U.S. are Haworth, Inc., Herman Miller, Inc., HNI Corporation, Kimball
International Inc. and Knoll, Inc. Together with Steelcase, these comparies represent approximately 65%
of the U.S. office furniture market.

International Segment

Our Intemational segment serves customers outside of the U.S. and Canada primarily under the
Steelcase brand, with an emphasis on freestanding furniture systems, storage and seating solutions. The
international office furniture market is highly competitive and fragmented. We compete with many ltocal
and regional manufacturers in many different markets. In many cases, these competitors focus on
specific product categories. Our largest presence is in Europe, where we have the teading market share
in Germany, France and Spain. We serve customers through approximately 430 independent and
company-owned dealers. In certain geographic markets we sell directly to end customers. No single
independent dealer in the International segment accounted for more than 5% of our segment revenue in
2008. The five largest independent dealers collectively accounted for approximately 7% of our segment
revenue.

During 2008, we acquired 100% of the outstanding stock of Ultra Group Company Limited (“Ultra”).
Ultra is an office furniture manufacturer with headquarters in Hong Kong, manufacturing in China and
sales and distribution throughout Asia.

In 2008, our International segment had revenue of $893.8, or 26.1% of our consolidated revenue,
and at the end of the year had approximately 4,100 employees and 700 temporary workers. Approxi-
mately 3,100 of the total workers related to manufacturing.

Other Category

The Cther category includes our Premium Group (formerly Design Group), PolyVision, IDEQ, and,
through 2008, Financial Services business,




The Premium Group is comprised of the following four brands focused on providing architects and
designers with unique products and premium experiences.

¢ Designtex focuses on surface materials including textiles, wall coverings, shades, screens and
surface imagings.

» Vecta designs and creates learning, meeting and teaming environments.
¢ Brayton focuses on lounge and executive seating and tables.
* Metro creates refined, modem furniture for meeting spaces, private offices and the open floor plan.

Designtex primarily sells products specified by architects and designers directly to end-use custom-
ers through a direct sales force. Vecta, Brayton and Metro sales are primarily generated through our
North America dealer network.

PolyVision designs and manufactures visual communication products, such as static and electronic
whiteboards. The majority of PolyVision's revenue relates to the manufacturing of steel and ceramic
surfaces and the fabrication of related static whiteboards sold in the primary and secondary education
markets. PolyVision's revenue generated from whiteboards and group communication tools are sold
through audio-visual resellers and our North America dealer network. PolyVision also sells fabricated
static whiteboards to general contractors through a direct bid process; however, we intend to exit this
portion of the business during 2009.

IDEQ is an innovation and design firm that uses a human-centered, design-based approach to
generate new offerings and build new capabilities for its customers. IDEQ serves Steelcase and a variety
of organizations within consumer products, financial services, healthcare, information technology, govern-
ment, transportation and other industries. In 2008, we entered into an agreement which will allow certain
members of the management of IDEO to potentially purchase a controlling equity interest in IDEO in two
phases before 2013. As of February 28, 2008, IDEQ management effectively purchased approximately
12% of IDEC under the first phase of the agreement.

In 2008, the Other category accounted for $590.4, or 17.3% of our total revenue, and at the end of
the year had approximately 2,300 employees and 100 temporary workers. Approximately 1,100 of the
total workers related to manufacturing.

Corporate Expenses

Approximately 85% of corporate expenses are charged to the operating segments as part of a
corporate allocation. Unallocated corporate expenses are reported as Gorporate. Corporate costs
include executive and portions of shared service functions such as information technology, human
resources, finance, legal, research and development and corporate facilities.

Joint Ventures

We enter into joint ventures from time to time to expand our geographic presence, support our
distribution network or invest in complementary products and services. As of February 29, 2008, our
investment in these unconsolidated joint ventures was $16.7. Our portion of the income or loss from the
joint ventures is recorded in Gther income, net on the Consclidated Statements of Income.

Customer and Dealer Concentrations

Cur largest direct-sale customer accounted for approximately 1.0% of our consolidated revenue in
2008 and our five largest direct-sale customers accounted for approximately 2.4% of consolidated
revenue. However, these percentages do not include revenue from various govemment agencies and
other entities purchasing under our U.S. General Services Administration contract, which in the
aggregate accounted for approximately 2.2% of our consolidated revenue, We do not believe our

_business is dependent on any single or small number of end-use customers, the loss of which would
have a material adverse effect on our business.




No single independent dealer accounted for more than 3% of our consolidated revenue for 2008.
The five largest independent dealers collectively accounted for approximately 10% of our consolidated
revenue,

Working Capital

Our accounts receivable are primarily from our dealers, and to a lesser degree, direct-sale
customers. Payment terms vary by country and region. The terms of our North America segment, and
certain markets within the International segment, encourage prompt payment by offering a discount.
Other international markets have, by market convention, longer payment terms. We are not aware of any
special or unusual practices or conditions related to working capital items, including accounts receivable,
inventory and accounts payable, which are significant to understanding our business or the industry at
large.

Backlog

Our products are generally manufactured and shipped within four to six weeks following receipt of
order; therefore, we do not view the amount of backlog at any particular time as a meaningful indicator
of longer-term shipments.

Global Manufacturing and Supply Chain
Manufacturing and Logistics

We have manufacturing operations throughout North America, Europe {principally in France,
Germany and Spain) and in Asia. In crder to serve the growth needs of our Asian market, we continue to
expand production in our plants in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia and in Shenzhen, China, and we acquired
additional capacity in Zhaoging, China in 2008 as a result of the Ultra acquisition.

We have evolved our manufacturing and supply chain systems significantly over the past several
years by implementing lean manufacturing principles. In particutar, we have focused on implementing
continuous one-piece flow, streamlining our product offerings and developing a global network of
integrated suppliers. Anything which cannot be part of one-piece flow may be evaluated to see whether
outside partners would offer better levels of service, quality and cost. Cur global manufacturing
operations are centralized under a single organizaticn to serve our customers' needs across multiple
brands and geographies.

This approach has reduced the capital needs of our business, reduced inventories and reduced the
footprint of our manufacturing space while at the-same time, allowing us to improve quality, delivery
performance and the customer experience. We continue to identify opportunities to eliminate excess
capacity and redundancy while continuing to focus on our growth strategies. We recently announced
that we will be closing three U.S. manufacturing facilities in 2009 and relocating the majerity of their
operations to other manufacturing facilities.

In addition to our continued focus on enhancing the efficiency of our manufacturing operations, we
also seek to reduce costs through our global sourcing effort. We have capitalized on raw material and
* component cost savings available through lower cost suppliers around the globe. This global view of
potential sources of supply has enhanced our leverage with dormestic supply sources, and we have been
able to reduce cycle times through improvements from all levels throughout the supply chain.

Our physical distribution system utilizes dedicated fleet, commercial transport and company-owned
delivery services. Over the past several years, we have implemented a network of regional distribution
centers to reduce freight costs and improve service to our dealers and customers. Some of these
distribution centers are located within cur manufacturing facilities, and we have contracted with third
party logistics providers to operate some of these regional distribution centers.
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Raw Materials and Energy Prices

We source raw materials and compenents from a significant number of suppliers around the world.
Those raw materials include steel and other metals, plastics, wood, fabrics, paint, packaging, acoustical
materials, foam, veneers, laminates, glass and leather. To date, we have not experienced any significant
difficulties in obtaining these raw materials.

The prices for certain commodities such as steel, aluminum, wood, particleboard and petroleum-
based products have fluctuated in recent years due to changes in global supply and demand. Qur global
supply chain team continually evaluates market conditions and supply options on the basis of cost,
quality and reliability of supply.

Research, Design and Development

Our extensive global research—a combination of user observations, feedback sessions and sophis-
ticated network analysis—has helped us develop unique expertise in helping people work more
effectively. We team up with external world-class innovaters, including leading universities, think tanks
and knowledge leaders, to expand and deepen our understanding of how people work.

Understanding patterns of work enables us to identify and anticipate user needs across the globe.
Qur design teams explore and develop prototypical solutions to address these needs. These solutions
vary from furniture, architecture and technology solutions to single products or enhancements to existing
products and different vertical market applications such as healthcare, higher education and professional
services. Organizationally, design responsibility is distributed globally across our major businesses and
may involve external design services.

Our marketing team evaluates product concepts using several criteria, including financial return
metrics, and chooses which products will be developed and launched. Designers then work closely with
“our engineers and external suppliers to co-develop products and processes that lead to more efficient
manufacturing while incorporating inncvative user features. Products are tested for performance, quality
and compliance with applicable standards and regulations.

Exclusive of royalty payments, we invested $152.5 in research, design and development activities
over the past three years. We continue to invest approximately one to two percent of our revenue in
research, design and development each year. Royalties are sometimes paid to external designers of our
products as the products are scld. These costs are not included in the research, design and
development costs since they are variable, based on product sales.

Intellectual Property

We generate and hold a significant number of patents in 2 number of countries in connection with
the operation of our business. We also hold a number of trademarks that are very important to our
identity and recognition in the marketplace. We do not believe that any material part of our business is
dependent on the continued availability of any one or all of our patents or trademarks, or that our
business would be materially adversely affected by the loss of any of such, except the “Steelcase,”
“Turnstone,” “PolyVision,” “Designtex” and “IDEO" trademarks.

We occasionally enter into license agreements under which we pay a royalty to third parties for the
use of patented products, designs or process technology. We have established a global network of
intellectual property licenses with our subsidiaries. We also selectively license our intellectual property to
third parties as a revenue source.

Employees

As of February 29, 2008, we had approximately 13,500 employees including 7,600 hourly employ-
ees and 5,900 salaried employees. Additionally, we had 1,300 temporary workers who primarily work in
manufacturing. Approximately 340 employees in the U.S. are covered by collective bargaining
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agreements. Internationally, a significant number of employees are covered by workers' councils that
operate to promote the interests of workers. Management believes we continue to maintain positive
relations with our employees.

Environmental Matters

We are subject to a variety of federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations relating to the
discharge of materials into the environment, or otherwise relating to the protection of the environment
{"Environmental Laws"). We believe our operations are in substantial compliance with all Environmental
Laws. We do not believe existing Envirenmental Laws and regulations have had or will have any material
effects upon our capital expenditures, eamings or competitive position.

Under certain Environmental Laws, we could be held liable, without regard to fault, for the costs of
remediation associated with our existing or historical operations. We could also be held responsible for
third-party property and personal injury claims or for violations of Environmental Laws relating to
contamination, We are a party to, or otherwise involved in, proceedings relating to several contaminated
properties being investigated and remediated under Environmental Laws, including as a potentially
responsible party in several Superfund site cleanups. Based on our information regarding the nature and
volume of wastes allegedly disposed of or released at these properties, other financially viable potentially
responsible parties and the total estimated cleanup costs, we do not believe the costs to us associated
with these properties will be material, either individually or in the aggregate. We have established
reserves that we believe are adequate to cover our anticipated remediation costs. Howsver, certain
events could cause our actual costs to vary from the established reserves. These events include, but are
not limited to: a change in governmental regulations or cleanup standards or requirements; undiscovered
information regarding the nature and volume of wastes allegedly disposed of or released at these
properties; and other factors increasing the cost of remediation or the foss of other potentially
responsible parties that are financially capable of contributing toward cleanup costs.

Available Information

We file annual reports, quarterly reports, proxy statements and other documents with the Securities
and Exchange Commission (“SEC"} under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the *Exchange Act”).
The public may read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Room
at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain information on the operation of the
Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. Also, the SEC maintains an Intemet
website at www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information
regarding issuers, including Steelcase, that file electronically with the SEC.

We also make available free of charge through our internet website, www.steelcase.com, our annual
reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Foerm 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and any
amendments to these reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such reports
with or furnish them to the SEC. In addition, our Corpaorate Governance Principles and the charters for
the Audit, Compensation, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committees are available free of
charge through our website or by writing to Investor Relations, PO Box 1967, Grand Rapids, Michigan
49501-1967.

We are not including the infermation contained on our website as a part of, or incorporating it by
reference into, this Report.
item 1A. Risk Factors:

The following risk factors and other information included in this annual report on Form 10-K should
be carefully considered. The risks and uncertainties described below are net the only ones we face.
Additional risks and uncertainties not presentty known to us or that we presently deem less significant
may also adversely affect our business, operating results, cash flows and financial condition. If any of the
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following risks actually occur, our business, operating results, ¢ash flows and financial condition could be
materially adversely affected.

Business cycles and other changes in demand could adversely impact our revenue and
profits.

Office furniture industry revenues are impacted by a variety of cyclical macroeconomic factors such
as corporate profits, non-residential fixed investment, white-collar employment growth and commercial
office construction. Qur product sales are directly tied to corporate capital spending, which is outside of
our control. Geopolitical uncertainties, terrorist attacks, acts of war, natural disasters, other world events
or combinations of such and other factors that are outside of our control could also have a significant
effect on business confidence and the global economy and therefore, our business.

Cther demand influences on our industry include technology changes, organizational changes,
employee health and safety concerns and the globalization of companies. The trend towards outsourcing
white collar jobs could cause our major customers in our core markets to shift employment growth to
countries where our market share is not as strong. If we are unsuccessfu! in adapting our business to
these changes and trends, our revenues and profits may be adversely impacted.

We may not be able to successfully implement and manage our growth strategies.
QOur growth strategies call for expansion in;

* existing markets by leveraging our current distribution to win new customers and more fully serve
existing customers and their installed base of our products, and

* new adjacent markets such as the mid-market segment of the office furniture market (firms with
50 to 250 employees), vertical markets such as healthcare and higher education and emerging
international markets with multiple or alternate channels.

We believe our future success depends upon our ability to deliver a great experience to our
customers, which includes innovative, well-made products and world-class processes. Our success
relies in part on our research and development and engineering efforts, our ability to manufacture or
source the products and customer acceptance of our products. As it relates to new markets, our
success also depends on our ability to create and implement local supply chain and distribution
strategies to reach these markets. The potential inability to successfully implement and manage our
growth strategy could adversely affect our business and our results of operations.

~ The successful implementation of our growth strategy will depend, in part, on our ability to attract
and retain a skilled workforce. The increasing competition for highly skilled and talented employees could
result in higher compensation costs, difficulties in maintaining a capable workforce and leadership
succession planning challenges.

Our efforts to grow our business in emerging markets are subject to the risk factors listed below
relating to our global operations but also include other risks. In certain markets in Asia and eastern
Europe where we are expanding our business, the legal and political environment can be unstable and
uncertain which could make it difficult for us to compete successfully and to protect our investments or
sell our investments in the future. As we hire new people and establish new processes in these locations,
we are implementing our global business standards, but there is some risk our activities could expose us
to liabilities.

We also make investments in new business development initiatives which, like many startups, could
have a relatively high failure rate. We limit our investments in these initiatives and establish govemance
procedures to contain the associated risks, but losses could resuit and may be material.

Our growth strategy also may involve acquisitions, joint venture alliances and additional channels of
distribution. We may not be able to enter into acquisitions or joint venture arrangements on acceptable
terms, and we may not successfully integrate these activities into our operations. We also may not be
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successful in implementing new distribution channels, and changes could create discord in our existing
channels of distribution.

We could be adversely affected by increasing raw material and commodity costs.

We procure raw materials from a significant number of sources within the U.S., Canada, Mexico,
Europe and Asia. These raw materials are not rare or unigue to our industry. The absolute level and
volatility in steel, aluminum, wood, particleboard, petroleumn-based products, and other commodity costs,
such as fuel and energy, have significantly increased in recent years due to changes in global supply and
demand. These changes could also lead to supply interruptions. Our gross margins could be affected if
these types of costs remain high or escalate further. In the short term, rapid changes in raw material
costs can be very difficult to offset because of price hold agreements we have entered into with our
customers. It is difficult to find effective financial instruments to hedge against these risks. We may not
be successful in passing along a portion of the higher raw materials costs to our customers because of
competitive pressures.

Disruptions to the supply of raw materials, component parts and labor in our manufacturing
operations could adversely affect our supply chain management.

We are reliant on the timely flow of raw materials and components from third party suppliers and our
own manufacturing operations. The flow of such materials and components may be affected by:

¢ fluctuations in the availability and guality of the raw materials,

» damage and loss or disruption of production from accidents, natural disasters and other
causes, and

* disruptions caused by labor activities.

We continue to migrate to a less vertically integrated manufacturing model, which will increase our
reliance on an international network of suppliers. Any disruptions in the supply and delivery of component
parts and products or deficiencies in our ability to develop and manage our network of suppliers could
have an adverse impact on our business, operating results or financial condition.

We operate in a highly competitive environment and may not be able to compete
successfully.

The office furniture industry is highly competitive, with a number of competitors offering similar
categories of product. We compete on a variety of factors, including: brand recognition and reputation,
price, lead time, delivery and service, product design and features, product quality, strength of dealers
and other distributors and relationships with customers and key influencers, such as architects,
designers and facility managers.

In the North America segment, our top competitors in our primary markets are Haworth Inc.,
Herman Miller, inc., HNI Corporation, Inc., Kimball International Inc. and Knoll, Inc. Some of our
competitors may have lower cost structures and a broader offering of moderately priced products,
potentially making it more difficult for us to compete in certain customer segments. In addition, such
competition may prevent us from maintaining or raising the prices of our products in response to rising
raw material prices and other inflationary pressures.

Although we do not have major offshore competitors in cur North America segment, there are other
segments of the North America furniture industry, notably the residential furniture and made-to-stock
office furniture segments sold through retailers, where lower-cost imports have become dominant. While
customer lead time and customization reguirements are currently inhibiting factors, it is possible we
could see increased competition from imports in our core markets.

In the International segment, we compete against a larger number of smaller size competitors. Our
North American-based competitors also compete in some of our Intemational markets, but their market
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share varies significantly by market. Most of our top competitors have strong relationships with their
existing customers that can be a source of significant future sales through repeat and expansion orders.
These competitors manufacture products with strong acceptance in the marketplace and can develop
products that could have a competitive advantage over Steelcase products. In certain markets, we
compete using an import model which requires longer lead times than local competitors with domestic
supply chains.

In the Other category, we are experiencing intense price competition in the U.S. contractor
whiteboard business sold through a direct bid process, which negatively impacted cur operating margins
during 2007 and 2008. As a result, in March 2008, we announced our decision to exit this portion of
PolyVision's business and that we expect to close one of PolyVision's manufacturing facilities before the
end of Q3 2009.

Cur continued success depends upon many things, including our ability to continue to manufacture
and market high quality, high performance products at competitive prices and our ability to evolve our
business model and implement world-class processes to enable us to effectively compete in the office
furniture industry’s increasingly competitive environment. Qur success is also dependent on our ability to
sustain our positive brand reputation and recognition among existing and potential customers and use
our brand and our trademarks effectively as we enter new markets.

Our global operations subject us to risks that may negatively affect our resufts of operations
and financial condition.

We have sales offices and manufacturing facilities in many countries, and as a result, we are subject
1o risks associated with doing business globally. Our global operations are subject to risks that may limit
our ability to manufacture, design, develop or sell products in particular countries, which in turn could
have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition, including:

» differing employment practices and labor issues,
¢ |ocal business and cultural factors that differ from our global business standards and practices,
» regulatory requirements and prohibitions that differ between jurisdictions,

* restrictions on our operations by governments seeking to support local industries, nationalization
of our operations and restrictions ¢n our ability to repatriate earnings, and

s natural disasters, security concerns, including crime, political instability, terrorist activity, armed
conflict and civil or military unrest, and global health issues.

in the U.S. and most countries in Europe, our revenue and costs are typically in the same currency.
Howsever, there are some situations where we export and import products in different currencies. We
also may hold assets, such as equity investments, real estate investments and cash balances, or incur
debt in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Fluctuations in the rate of exchange between the U.S. dollar
and the currencies of other countries in which we conduct business, and changes in currency controls
with respect to such countries, could negatively impact our business, operating results and financial
condition. In addition, changes in tariff and import regulations and changes tc U.S. and international
monetary policies may also negatively impact our revenue.

Disruptions within our dealer network could adversely affect our business.

We rely largely on a network of independent and company-owned dealers to market, deliver and
install our products to customers. Cur business is influenced by our ability to initiate and manage new
and existing relationships with dealers.

From time {o time, an individual dealer or Steelcase may choose to terminate the relationship, or the
dealership could face financial difficulty leading to failure or difficulty in transitioning to new ownership. In
addition, our competitors could engage in a strategy to attempt to acquire or convert a number of our
dealers to carry their products. We do not believe our business is dependent on any single dealer, the
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loss of which would have a sustained material adverse effect upon cur business. However, temporary
disruption of dealer coverage within a specific local market could temporarily have an adverse impact on
our business within the affected market. The loss or termination of a significant number of dealers could
cause difficulties in marketing and distributing our products and have an adverse effect on our business,
operating results or financial condition. In the event that a dealer in a strategic market experiences
financial difficulty, we may choose to make financial investments in the dealership, reducing the risk of
disruption, but increasing our financial exposure.

A portion of our international distribution network is company-owned because of the need for us to
make financial investments in dealerships in order to preserve our market share and profitability in the
affected regions. in certain cases, we have adopted a direct mode! of distribution through which we
establish company-owned sales and service capabilities. If we are not able to effectively manage these
businesses, they could have a negative effect on our operating results. Our direct-sale and owned-dealer
models sell non-Steelcase products where product gaps exist. These models involve increased
operational risk, the risk of conflict with other distribution channels and the risk that we will not be able
to compete effectively to win business in those markets because of a more limited breadth of product
offering than a dealer who carries multiple lines of products.

We could be adversely affected by product defects.

Product defects can occur within our own product development and manufacturing processes or
through our increasing reliance on third parties for product development and manufacturing activities.
Wa incur various expenses related to product defects, including product warranty costs, product recall
and retrofit costs and product liability costs. The amount of our product defect expenses relative to
product sales varies from time to time and could increase in the future. We maintain a reserve for our
product warranty costs based con certain estimates and our knowledge of current events and actions,
but our actual warranty costs may exceed our reserve and we could need to increase our accruals for
warranty charges. In addition, the reputation of our brands may be diminished by product defects and
recalls. Any significant increase in the rate of our product defect expenses could have a material adverse
effect on our results of operations,

There may be significant limitations to our utilization of net operating losses to offset future
taxable income.

We have significant deferred tax asset values related to net operating loss carryforwards (*NOLS”)
primarily in varicus non-U.S. jurisdictions. We may be unable to generate sufficient taxable income from
future operations in the applicable jurisdiction or implement tax, business or other planning strategies to
fully utilize our NOLs. We have NOLs in various currencies that are also subject to foreign exchange risk,
which could reduce the amount we will ultimately realize. Additionally, future changes in tax laws or
interpretations of such tax laws may limit our ability to fully utilize cur NOLs.

item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments:

Nore.

Item 2. Properties:

Woe have operations at locations throughout the U.S. and around the world. None of our owned
properties are mortgaged or are held subject to any significant encumbrance. We believe our facilities
are in good operating condition and, at present, are in excess of that needed to meet volume needs
currently and for the foreseeable future. Our global headguarters is located in Grand Rapids, Michigan,
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U.S.A. Our owned and leased principal manufacturing and distribution center locations with greater than
50,000 square feet are as follows:

: Number of Principal
Segment/Category Primarily Supported Locations Owned Leased

Noth America . ...t 13 8 5
International . ..., 0 i e e 9 8 1
Other. ... ... 9 4 5
Total. o o e 31 20 11

We recently announced we will be closing threse facilities in the U.S. These facilities are leased and
included in the table above and are expected to be vacated in 2009.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings:

We are involved in litigation from time to time in the ordinary course of our business. Based on
known information, we do not believe we are a party to any lawsuit or proceeding that is likely to have a
material adverse effect on the Company.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders:

None.

Supplementary item. Executive Officers of the Registrant:

Qur executive officers are:

' L Name l Age I Position [
Mark A.Baker.......................... 47  Senior Vice President, Global Operations Officer
Mark T.Greiner .. ......... ... .. ... ... 56  Senior Vice President, Workspace Futures
James P.Hackett ... ... ... . ... ..., 53  President and Chief Executive Officer, Director
Nancy W. Hickey . .. .......... .. ... ..... 56  Senior Vice President, Chief Administrative Cfficer
James P Keane ............ ... ... ..... 48  President, Steelcase Group
Michael l.tove .. ...... ... ... ... ... ..... 59  President, Nurture by Steelcase
JohnS. Malnor .......... ... . ... ... 46  President, Turnstone
Frank H. Merotti, Jr. . ... ... ... ....... 57  President, Premium Group
James G. Mitchell . ... .. ... . L e 58  President, Steelcase Intemational
Mark T.Mossing . ....................... 50  Corporate Controller and Chief Accounting Officer
Lizbeth S. O'Shaughnessy . ................ 46  Vice President, Chief Legal Officer and Secretary
David C. Sylvester .. ....... ... ...t 43  Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

Mark A. Baker has been Senior Vice President, Global Operations Cfficer since September 2004.
Mr. Baker held the position of Senior Vice President, Operations from 2001 to September 2004.

Mark T. Greiner has been Senior Vice President, Workspace Futures since November 2002.

James P Hackett has been President, Chief Executive Officer and Director of the Company since
December 1994, Mr. Hackett also serves as a member of the Board of Trustees of the Northwestern
Mutual Life Insurance Company and the Board of Directors of Fifth Third Bancorp.

Nancy W. Hickey has been Senior Vice President, Chief Administrative Officer since November
2001. Ms. Hickey also served as Secretary on an interim basis from March to July 2007,

James P Keane has been President, Steelcase Group since October 2006. Mr. Keane was Senior
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer from 2001 to October 20086,
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Michael I. Love has been President, Nurture by Steelcase since May 2006. Mr. Love was President
and Chief Executive Officer, Steelcase Design Partnership from 2000 to May 2006.

John S. Malnor has been President, Turnstone since October 2007 and was General Manager,
Turnstone from 2004 to Qctober 2007. From 2001 to 2004, Mr. Malnor held the position of Director,
Market Development for Turnstone.

Frank H. Merfotti, Jr. has been President, Premium Group since October 2006 (the Premium Group
was known as the Design Group from October 2006 to October 2007}, From 2002 to October 2006
Mr. Merlotti held the position of President, Steelcase North America.

James G. Mitchell has been President, Steelcase International since June 2004 and was Managing
Director, United Kingdom from 2003 to June 2004, From 1999 to 2003, Mr. Mitchell held the position of
President, Steelcase Canada.

Mark T. Mossing has been Corporate Controller and Chief Accounting Officer since April 2008.
Mr. Mossing served as Vice President, Corporate Controller from 1999 to April 2008.

Lizbeth S. O'Shaughnessy has been Vice President, Chief Legal Officer and Secretary since July
2007 and was Assistant General Counse! from 2000 to July 2007, From 2005 to July 2007,
Ms. O'Shaughnessy also held the position of Assistant Secretary.

David C. Syivestsr has been Vice President, Chief Financial Officer since October 2006 and was
Vice President, Global Operations Finance from 2005 to October 2006. From 2001 to 2005, Mr. Sylvester
held the position of Vice President, International Finance.

PART I

Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Pur-
chases of Equity Securities:

Common Stock

Our Class A Common Stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “SCS."
Qur Class B Common Stock is not registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or publicly
traded. See Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements for additiona! information. As of the close
of business on Aprit 24, 2008, we had outstanding 135,091,029 shares of common stock with
8,809 shareholders of record. Of these amounts, 78,743,499 shares are Class A Common Stock with
8,699 shareholders of record and 56,347,530 shares are Class B Common Stock with 110 shareholders
of record.

Class A Commaon Stock First Second Third Fourth
End of Day Per Share Price Range Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

Fiscal 2008 :
High . ... . $20.72 %2042 $19.31 $18.49
LW .t e e e e $1855 $14.03 $14.63 $12.86

Fiscal 2007
High........... e e $19.20 $19.00 $18.11 $20.22
oW ot e e e e e e $16.84 $13.22 $13.70 $17.25
'Dividends

The declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion of our Board of Directors and to compliance
with applicable laws. Dividends in 2008 and 2007 were declared and paid quarterly. In Q4 2008, our
Board of Directors declared and paid a special cash dividend of $1.75 per share on our Class A |
Common Stock and Class B Common Stock. The payment of this dividend aggregated $247.5. The
amount and timing of future dividends depends upon our results of operations, financial condition, cash
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requirements, future business prospects, general business conditions and other factors that our Board of
Directors may deem relevant at the time.

Total Dividends Paid

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter | Quarter | Quarter | Quarter Total

........................... $221 $21.6 $21.2 $268.8 $333.7
........................... $150 $15.0 $179 $ 193 § 67.2

Fourth Quarter Share Repurchases

Fiscal 2008
Fiscal 2007

The following table is a summary of share repurchase activity during Q4 2008;

{d
{c) Approximate
Total Number of Doliar Value of
Shares Purchased as Shares that May
(a} {b} Part of Publicly Yet be Purchased
Totat Number of Average Price Announced Plans Under the Plans
Period Shares Purchased Paid per Share or Programs {1) or Programs
11/24/07 — 12/28/07 . .. 354 $15.87 - $312.8
12/29/07 — 1/25/08 . . .. 1,457,800 $14.52 1,457,800 291.7
1/26/08 — 2/29/08 . . ... 1,373,266 $14.23 1,343,800 2725
Total o 2,831,420 (2) 2,801,700 $272.5

(1) In June 2007, our Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program permitting the repur-
chase of up to $100 of shares of cur common stock and in December 2007 approved an additional
$250 of share repurchases. These programs have no specific expiration dates.

(2) 29,720 of these shares were repurchased to satisfy participants’ tax withholding obligations upon the

vesting of restricted stock and restricted stock unit grants, pursuant to the terms of our Incentive
Compensation Plan,
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ltem 6. Selected Financial Data:

February 29, | February 23, | February 24, | February 25, | Fehruary 27,
Financial Highlights -1 2008 (1) 2007 2006 2005 2004

Operating Results
Revenue..................... $3,420.8 $3,097.4 $2,868.9 $2,613.8 $2,345.6
Revenue increase (decrease). .. . ... 10.4% 8.0% 9.8% 11.4% {(7.3)%
Grossproft. .................. $1,1269 $ 9479 $ 8463 $ 7457 $ 6153
Gross profit—% of revenue. ... . ... 32.9% 30.6% 29.5% 28.5% 26.2%
Income {loss) from continuing

operations before income tax

expense (benefit) . ............ $ 211.4 $ 1246 $ 764 $ 50 $ ©2.9
Income (loss) from continuing

operations before income tax

expense {benefit)—% of revenue . . 6.2% 41% 2.7% 0.2% (4.0)%
Income (loss) from continuing

operations after income tax

expense enefit) . ............ $ 1332 $ 1069 $ 489 $ 117 $ (420
Income {loss} from continuing

operations after income tax

expense (benefif)— % of revenue . . 3.9% 3.5% 1.7% 0.5% {1.81%
Income from discontinued

operations (2}. . .......... ... - — - $ 10 $ 224
Cumulative effect of accounting

change, net of income taxes (3) . . . - - — - $ 42
Netincome (08S). . ... ....ocovnn $ 133.2 $ 106.9 $ 489 $ 127 $ (238
Net income (oss)—% of revenue . . . . 3.9% 3.5% 1.7% 0.5% (1.01%
Per Share Data
Income {loss) from continuing

operations:
Basic..........ciii $ 093 $ o072 $ 033 $ o008 $ (0.28
Diluted ... ...t $ 093 $ on $ 033 $ 008 $ (028
Income from discontinued

operations—basic and diluted . . . . - — - $ 001 $ 0415
Cumulative effect of accounting

change—basic and diluted . . .. .. - — - - $ (0.03
Net income (loss): )
Basic .. ... ..ociiiii $ 093 $ 072 $ 033 $ 009 $ (©.16)
Diluted . .. ..., $ 093 $ 071 $ 033 $ 009 $ {0.16)
Dividends—common stock (4). . . . .. $ 235 $ 045 $ 033 $ 024 $ 024
Financial Condition
Working capital . ............... § 2517 $ 5855 $ 2019 $ 4478 $ 4010
Total@ssets. . ... ...oviiei $2,124.4 $2,399.4 $2,3445 $2,364.7 $2,350.4
long-termdebt. ... ............ $ 2505 $ 250.0 § 22 $ 258.1 $ 31986

(1) The fiscal year ended February 29, 2008 contained 53 weeks. All other years shown contained

52 weeks.

(2) Income from discontinued operations relate to the disposition of AW Corporation in 2005.

(3) Cumulative effect of accounting change for the fiscal year ended February 27, 2004 related to our
adoption of Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB") Interpretation Number (*FIN”} 46{R}, Con-

solfidation of Variable Interest Entities.

(4) Includes special cash dividend of $1.75 per share paid in January 2008.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations:

The following review of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in
conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes thereto included

elsewhere within this Report.

Financial Summary

Results of Operations

Income Statement Data—
Consclidated

Grossprofit ... L.
Operatingexpenses .. ............
Restructuring costs ..............

Operatingincome. .. .............
Other income {expense), net. ... .. ..

Income before income tax expense. . .
Income taxexpense. .. ...........

Netincome ....................

Overview

Year Ended
February 29, February 23, February 24,

2008 2007 2006
$3,420.8 100.0% $3,097.4 100.0% $2,868.9 100.0%
12,2953 67.1 2,128.2 68.7 1,980.4 69.3

04 - 21.3 0.7 33.2 1.2
1,125.9 32.9 947 .9 30.6 846.3 29.5
923.1 27.0 831.8 26.8 7581 26.4
— — 2.4 0.1 57 0.2
202.8 59 113.7 3.7 82.5 29
8.6 0.3 10.9 0.4 6.1}y (0.2)
2114 6.2 124.6 41 76.4 2.7
78.2 2.3 17.7 0.6 27.5 1.0

$ 1332 3.9% $ 106.9 35% $ 489 1.7%

Net income improved significantly in 2008 and 2007. The $26.3 improvement in 2008 net income
was due to increased volume and price yield, reduced cost of sales, lower restructuring costs and
significant improvements in the performance of our weod business, partially offset by lower favorable tax
adjustments, higher intangible asset and goodwill impairment-related charges at PolyVision and
increased spending related to longer-term growth initiatives. The $58.0 improvement in 2007 net income
was due to increased volume and price yield, favorable tax adjustments, reduced cost of sales, lower
restructuring costs and higher interest income on increased cash balances, partially offset by higher
variable compensation costs, intangible asset and goodwill impairment-related charges at PolyVision,
lower cash surrender value appreciation on company-owned life insurance policies and increased
spending related to longer-term growth initiatives.

QOur revenue increased 10.4% in 2008 compared to 2007 following an increase of 8.0% from 2006
to 2007. Revenue in 2008 increased for all of our reportable segments, but growth in our International
segment of 21.5% was the strongest. As compared to 2007, revenue excluded $79.6 of sales related to
dealer deconsolidations and other divestitures, net of acquisitions. Current year revenue was positively
impacted by $73.2 from currency transtation effects and approximately $64.0 from an extra week of

shipments as compared to the pricr year.

Cost of sales, which is reported separately from restructuring costs, decreased to 67.1% of revenue
in 2008, a 160 basis point improvement compared to the prior year. Improvements in the North America
segment and the Other category of 220 and 240 basis points, respectively, were the key drivers of this
improvement. The improvements were due to volume leverage, improved pricing vields, benefits of
restructuring efforts and product simplicity initiatives and continued implementation of lean manufacturing
principles, partially offset by lower cash surrender value appreciation on our company-owned life

insurance in the North America segment,
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Gross margin increased to 32.9% because of the improvements in cost of sales and lower
restructuring costs.

Operating expenses increased $91.3 in 2008 compared to 2007. Currency translation effects, higher
intangible asset and goodwill impairment-related charges at PolyVision, higher spending related to
longer-term growth initiatives, lower cash surrender value appreciation on company-owned life insurance
and costs associated with an additional week of operations in 2008 were the primary reasons for the
increase.

QOperating income improved by $89.1 in 2008 compared to 2007, due to better performance in our
North America and International segments and lower restructuring costs, offset by lower operating
income in the Other category, primarily due to intangible asset and goodwill impairment-related charges
at PolyVision,

We recorded net restructuring credits of $0.4 in 2008, compared to net restructuring costs of $23.7
in 2007 and $38.9 in 2006. The net credit in 2008 primarily consisted of a gain on the sale of real estate
related to our former headguarters campus for our International segment in Strasbourg, France offset by
charges related to the completion of a two-year facility rationalization initiative at our Grand Rapids,
Michigan campus.

Other Income, Net, and Effective Income Tax Rate

Year Endad
February 29, February 23, February 24,
Other Income, Net 2008 2007 2006
INterest BXPeNSe. . v oot $16.9 $18.5 $18.1
Other income, net:
Interestincome. . ........ .. i 23.0 25.9 11.1
Equity in income of unconsolidated ventures . ......... 4.9 3.5 2.0
Elimination of minority interest in consolidated dealers . . . {(7.2) (2.8) 2.9)
Otherincome, net. .. ... i 4.8 2.8 1.8
Total otherincome, net . . . ........ .. ... . ... 25.5 29.4 12.0
Total interest expense and other income, net. . .......... $ 8.6 $10.9 $(6.1)
Effective incometaxrate. . ........... ... 37.0% 14.2% 36.0%

Interest income decreased in 2008 compared to 2007 due to lower average cash and investment
balances, lower interest rates and a $0.9 impairment charge recorded against a Canadian commercial
paper investment that remains in default. interest income increased in 2007 compared to 2006 due to
higher average cash and investment balances and higher interest rates.

Our consolidated results include the results of several dealers in which we either own a majority
interest or we maintain participative control, but our investments are structured such that we do not
share in the profits or losses. Elimination of minority interest in consolidated dealers represents the
elimination of earnings where either our class of equity does not share in the earnings or the eamnings
are allocated to the minority interest holder.

Other income, net consists of foreign exchange gains and losses, unrealized gains and losses on
derivative instruments and miscellaneous income and expenses in 2008, 2007 and 20086. Included in
this amount for 2008 and 2007 is $3.9 and $3.6, respectively related to gains on dealer transitions.

During 2007, we recorded favorable tax adjustments of $25.1. These adjustments included a $13.6
reduction of deferred tax asset valuation allowances related to International and U.S. net operating losses
and U.S. foreign tax credit carryforwards. These reductions were the result of improved profitability and
the implementation of tax planning strategies, which increased the likelihood of utilizing foreign net
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operating losses, U.S. state net operating losses and U.S. foreign tax credit carryforwards. We reduced
specific tax reserves by $7.5 due to the completion of a long-outstanding audit of a foreign subsidiary
and other adjustments related to open tax periods in the U.S. In addition, we recorded a $4.0
adjustment to recognize the future benefit of U.S. foreign tax credits resulting from a change in an
election for the treatment of foreign taxes on our 2004 to 2006 U.S. tax returns. See further discussion
of these items in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements. The favorable tax adjustments had
the effect of reducing the 2007 effective tax rate from approximately 34% to 14.2%.

Segment Disclosure

We operate on a worldwide basis within North America and International reportable segments, plus
an “Other” category. During 2008, we made changes in our organizational structure which resulted in
changes to our segment reporting. As a result of these changes, certain components have been
reclassified between our North America segment and our Other category, including Vecta, which moved
from North America to our Premium Group unit, and a health-care product line within Brayton, which
moved from our Premium Group unit to Nurture by Steelcase. Segment information for prior years has
been restated to reflect these changes. Additional information about our reportable segments is
contained in Item 1: Business and Note 15 to the consclidated financial statements included with this
report.

North America

Year Ended
February 29, February 23, February 24,
Income Statement Data—North America 2008 2007 2006

Revenue.................... .. $1,936.6 100.0% $1,796.2 100.0% $1,696.9 100.0%
Costofsales................... 1,324.6 68.4 1,266.9 70.6 1,216.3 717
Restructuring costs . ............. 0.8 — 18.5 1.0 22.6 1.3
Grossprofit, ... ..., 611.2 31.6 510.8 284 458.0 * 27.0
Operating expenses ............. 444.5 23.0 4128 229 380.0 224
Restructuringcosts . .. ........... — — 1.7 0.1 — —
Operating income . ... ........... $ 166.7 86% $ 963 54% $ 780 4.6%

The North America segment increased operating income by $70.4 in 2008 compared to 2007 after
an increase of $18.3 between 2006 and 2007. The 2008 improvement was driven by volume growth,
improved pricing yield, significant improvements in the perfermance of our wood business, benefits of
pricr restructuring activities and lower restructuring costs, partially offset by lower cash surrender value
appreciation on company-owned life insurance policies and higher spending related to longer-term
growth initiatives.

Revenue increased 7.8% in 2008 compared to 2007 and represented 56.6% of consolidated
revenue. Revenue growth in 2008 was driven by relatively strong sales across the Steelcase Group,
Nurture by Steelcase and Details brands and benefited from an extra week of shipments as compared
to the prior year. While positive, growth at Turnstone moderated in 2008 compared to strong double digit
percentages in recent years. As compared to the prior year, current year revenue excluded $80.6 of
sales related to dealer deconsolidations, net of acquisitions, and included additional sales from an extra
week of shipments and $9.2 from favorable currency transtation effects related to sales by our subsidiary
in Canada.

Cost of sales, which is reported separately from restructuring costs, decreased 220 basis points
from the prior year as a percent of revenue. The improvement was the result of volume leverage,
improved pricing yields, benefits from prior restructuring activities and product simplicity initiatives and
continued implementation of lean manufacturing principles, including significant improvement in the
performance of our wood product category. These improvements were partially offset by lower cash
surrender value appreciation on company-owned life insurance.
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As disclosed in Note 7 to the consclidated financiat statements, we have made investments in
company-owned life insurance paolicies with the intention of using them as a long-term funding source
for post-retirement medical benefits, deferred compensation and other supplemental retirement benefits.
Income from these investments was $11.8 lower in 2008 compared to 2007, with $6.3 of the decrease
negatively impacting cost of sales.

Gross margin as a percent of revenue improved from 28.4% in the prior year to 31.6% in the current
year, due to improved operating performance and lower restructuring costs. Restructuring costs of $0.8
in 2008 and $18.5 in 2007 included in gross profit consisted of moving and severance costs associated
with our plant consclidation initiative at our Grand Rapids, Michigan manufacturing campus, which we
completed during 2008, offset in part by realization of conditional proceeds related to the sale of related
properties.

Operating expenses were 23.0% of revenue in 2008 compared to 22.9% of revenue in 2007.
Operating expenses increased in abseclute dollars compared to 2007 primarily due to costs associated
with an additional week of operations in 2008, higher spending related to longer-term growth initiatives,
marketing and product development and lower cash surrender value appreciation on company-owned
life insurance, partially offset by lower costs resulting from dealer deconsclidations, net of acquisitions.

International
Year Ended
February 29, February 23, February 24,
Income Statement Data—International 2008 2007 2006
Revenue ..............uiiveninnn. $893.8 100.0% $735.8 100.0% $644.5 100.0%
Costofsales ...................... 597.1 66.8 490.0 ©66.6 4428 68.7
Restructuringcosts . ................ {2.0) {0.2) 2.8 0.4 8.6 1.3
Grossprofit . ... © 298.7 334 243.0 33.0 1831 30.0
Cperating expenses . ... .......ov v 241.7 27.0 208.7 284 188.7 203
Restructuringcosts ................. — — 0.1 — 5.7 0.9
Operating income (10s8) .............. $ 57.0 6.4% $ 34.2 46% $ (1.3} (0.2)%

International reported operating income of $57.0, an improvement of $22.8 compared to 2007. The
2008 improvement was driven by increased profitability in certain markets, most notably Germany,
France and Latin America, lower restructuring costs and benefits of currency translation.

Revenue increased 21.5% in 2008 compared to 2007 and represented 26.1% of consolidated
revenue. The growth was relatively broad-based across most of our International regions, but was
particularly strong in Germany, France, eastern Europe, Spain and Portugal, Latin America and Asta.
Currency translation had the effect of increasing revenue by $64.0 in 2008 as compared to the prior
year. Revenue also included $13.6 of incremental sales refated to net acquisitions.

Cost of sales, which is reported separately from restructuring costs, increased by 20 basis points as
a percentage of revenue compared to 2007, Improvements due to volume leverage and benefits from
prior restructuring activities were more than offset by operational issues at a small subsidiary, higher
material ‘and transportation costs and unfavorable currency impacts, most notably in the U.K.

Gross margin as a percent of revenue was 33.4% in 2008 compared to 33.0% in 2007. The change
in gress margin was influenced by the cost of sales items discussed above and a restructuring credit in
2008 related to a gain on the sale of real estate associated with our former headquarters campus in
Strasbourg, France.

Operating expenses increased by $33.0 in 2008 compared to 2007, primarily due to currency
translation impacts of $17.6, higher spending on growth initiatives in Asia and net acquisitions.
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Other

Year Ended
February 29, February 23, February 24,
Income Statement Data—Cther 2008 2007 2006

Revenue .. ...ooo v $500.4 100.0% $565.4 100.0% $527.5 100.0%
Costofsales....................... 373.6 63.3 371.3 65.7 330.3 62.6
Restructuringcosts . . ................ 0.8 0.1 — — 2.0 0.4
Grossprofit. . .......... ... .. 216.0 36.6 1941 34.3 195.2 37.0
Operating expenses. . . ............... 2106 35.7 183.3 324 161.2 30.6
Restructuringcosts . . ................ — — 0.6 0.1 — —

Operatingincome . .................. $ 54 0.9% $ 10.2 1.8% $§ 34.0 6.4%

Our Other category includes the Premium Group, PolyVision, IDEO and Financial Services
subsidiaries.

The Other category reported operating income of $5.4, a $4.8 decline compared to the prior year.
The decline was primarily the result of higher intangible asset and goodwill impairment-related charges at
PolyVision which offset improved profitability in the Premium Group and PolyVision, excluding the impact
of the impairment-related charges. IDEQ's business grew significantly in 2008, but operating income
growth was offset by higher variable compensation earned by certain members of IDEO management in
connection with an agreement to enable them to acquire an ownership interest in IDEQ.

Over the past few years, PolyVision faced intense price competition in the U.S. contractor
whiteboard business sold through a direct bid process, and consequently financial performance within
this portion of their business continued to lag our expectations. Accordingly, during our annual strategic
planning process in Q3 2008, we evaluated several alternative strategies to address its financial
performance. As a result, we performed impairment testing and recorded a non-cash charge of $21.1 in
Q3 2008, of which $15.8 related to intangible assets and $5.3 related to goodwill. We recorded $10.7 of
similar non-cash intangible asset and goodwill impairment-related charges at PolyVision in 2007,

In 2008, we entered into an agreement which will allow certain members of the management of
IDEO to potentially purchase a controlling equity interest in IDEO in two phases before 2013. The
agreement includes a variable compensation program which provides these employees higher variable
compensation to acquire ownership, provided certain performance targets are met. As of February 289,
2008, IDEC management effectively purchased approximately 12% of IDEO under the first phase of the
agreement.

Revenue increased by $25.0 in 2008 due to growth at IDEO and across most of the Premium
Group companies.

Gross margin as a percent of revenue was 36.6% in 2008 compared to 34.3% in 2007. The
improvement in gross margin was primarily due to improvements at IDEQ, PolyVision and across most of
the Premium Group companies. )

Restructuring costs included in 2008 related to initial costs associated with the announced closure
of one of the Premium Group plants, which we expect to complete by Q3 2009.

During Q1 2009, we announced a restructuring plan at PolyVision, linked to a decision to exit a
portion of the contractor whiteboard fabrication business which typically carries the lowest gross
margins. Under the current restructuring plan, we expect to close one facility before the end of (33 2009.
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Cormporate

Year Ended
February 29, | February 23, | February 24,
Income Statement Data—Ceorporate 2008 2007 2006
Operating expenses . . . ... .oue it i $26.3 $27.0 $28.2

Approximately 85% of corporate expenses are charged to the operating segments as part of a
corporate allocation. Unallocated portions of these expenses are considered general corporate costs
and are reported as Corporate. Corporate costs include executive and portions of shared service
functions such as information technology, human resources, finance, legal, research and development
and corporate facilities.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Liquidity

We believe we currently need approximately $50 in cash to fund the day-to-day operating needs of
our business. However, we intend to maintain a minimum of $100 of additional cash and investments as
ready liquidity for funding investments in growth initiatives and as a cushion against volatility in the
economy. Cur cash balances seasonally decline in Q1 due to the timing of variable compensation,
retirement plan funding and annual insurance payments. We plan to use ongoing cash generation to
reinvest in the business and to return value to sharehclders in the form of dividends and share

repurchases. These are general guidelines and our cash balance may be higher or lower at any point in
time. We alsc may change this approach as conditions change or new opportunities emerge. -

The following table summarizes our consolidated statements of cash flows:

Year Ended

February 29, February 23, February 24,
Cash Flow Summary 2008 2007 20086
Net cash flow provided by (used in):
Operating activities . . ... ....... ... it $2497 $280.5 $175.5
Investing activities. . ......... .. ... i e {91.3) (51.9) 127.7
Financing activities . .. .......... ... .. . . . L {484.4) (127.1) (101.6)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
equivalents . .. ... .. e 12.7 1.9 5.6
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents . . . .. {313.3) 103.4 207.2
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period .. ....... 527.2 423.8 216.6
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period. . ... ......... $213.9 $527.2 $423.8

During 2008, cash and cash equivalents decreased by $313.3 to a balance of $213.9 as of
February 29, 2008. Of our total cash and cash equivalents, approximately 77% was located in the
U.S. and the remaining 23% was located outside of the U.S., primarily in Canada and Europe. These
funds, in addition to cash generated from future operations and available credit facilities, are expected to
be sufficient to finance our foreseeable lquidity and capital needs.

We currently have investments in auction rate securities (*ARS"} and one Canadian asset-backed
commercial paper (*“ABCP") investment with a total par value of $31.5 and an estimated fair value of
$28.0. With the tightening of the U.S. credit markets, there is no liquid market for the ARS or ABCP at
this time. As a result, we have reclassified these securities to Long-term investments on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets, as we do not reasonably expect to sell the securities in the near term. We intend to
hold these investments until the market recovers and do not anticipate having to sell these investments
in order to operate our business. Seg Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements for additional
information,
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Cash provided by operating activities

Year Ended
February 29, February 23, February 24,
Cash Flow Data— Operating Activities 2008 2007 2006

Netincome ........... ... . .. . . . $133.2 $106.9 $ 489
Depreciation and amortization. . . ................. 924 101.4 119.4
Deferredincometaxes . . ... ... 11.3 30.9 0.2
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of

acquisitions . ..., . {7.6) 231 8.9
Other,met ..., e 20.4 18.2 15.9
Net cash provided by operating activities ........... $249.7 $280.5 $175.5

The decrease in cash provided by operating activities in 2008 was pnmarlly due to higher working

capital requirements to support the growth of our business.

Additionally, during 2008 and 2007, we recorded $21.1 and $10.7, respectively, of non-cash
intangible asset and goodwill impairment-related charges at PolyVision, which are included in Other, net

in the table above.

Cash (used in) provided by investing activities

Year Ended
Fehruary 29, February 23, February 24,
Cash Flow Data—Investing Activities 2008 2007 ) 2006

Capital expenditures. . . ... i $(79.6) $(58.2) $(71.9)
Net (purchases) liquidations of investments . . ... . ... 8 42.2) (33.1) 131.6
Proceeds from disposal of fixedassets . . ........... 27.5 18.9 39.3
Proceeds from repayments of lease fundings . ..... .. 57 9.7 17.7
Proceeds from repayments of notes receivable, net. . .. 15.4 175 15.3
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired and business '

divestitures . . . ... ... e {13.8) (9.9) (8.6)
Other,net .. ... .. . i (4.9) 3.2 4.3
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities . . . . . $(91.3) $(51.9 $127.7

We continue to closely scrutinize capital spending to ensure we are making the right investments to
sustain our business and to preserve our ability to introduce innovative, new products. The increase in
capital expenditures in 2008 was due to higher investments in new product development, showrooms
and corporate facilities and progress payments toward the planned replacement of an existing corporate
aircraft in 2009. Capital expenditures during 2006 included a $18.0 payment for a corporate aircraft.

Net cash used in investing activities in 2008 included the allocation of $50 of cash and cash
equivalents into a managed investment portfofio. During 2006 we converted all of our short-term
investments in ARS to cash and cash equivalents, and in 2007 and 2008, we purchased additional ARS,
certain of which we continue to hold due to a lack of liquidity in the marketplace.

Proceeds from the disposal of fixed assets in 2008 primarily related to the sale of real estate
associated with manufacturing consolidation initiatives completed in Grand Rapids, Michigan and
Strasbourg, France. 2007 disposals included the sale of domestic and international manufacturing
facilities and related equipment. Proceeds from the disposal of fixed assets in 2006 included the sale of
a corporate aircraft that we replaced and the sale of a domestic manufacturing facility.

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired and business divestitures in 2008 related to the purchase of Ultra,
offset by cash proceeds from a dealer transition. The 2007 amount related to an acquisition offset by the
sale of a small subsidiary of PolyVision. The 2006 amount related to investments in three small

22



dealerships acquired by our International segment and a small technology services company that was
acquired by a company-owned dealer within our North America segment.

Cash used in financing activities

Year Ended
February 29, February 23, February 24,
Cash Flow Data—Financing Activities 2008 2007 2006
Borrowings {repayments) of short-term and long-term debt, :
8- G $ 14 $ (9.8 $ (61.2)
Excess tax benefit from exercise of stock options and
vestingof restricted stock . . . ........... ... ... .. 1.7 3.9 —
Common stock repurchases, net of issuances .......... {163.8) {54.0) 8.8
Dividendspaid .. .......c i (333.7) {67.2) (49.2}
Net cash used in financing activities .. ................ $(484.4) $(127.1 $(101.6

We used cash related to financing activities in 2008 primarily to return value to shareholders through
dividend payments and common stock repurchases. We paid common stock dividends of $2.35 per
share in 2008 consisting of quarterly dividends of $0.15 per share and a special cash dividend of $1.75
during Q4 2008. Dividends in 2007 and 2006 were $0.45 per share and $0.33 per share, respectively.
During Q1 2009, we announced a quarterly dividend of $0.15 per share. We befieve this dividend level
can be supported throughout 2009 by our existing cash balances and projected operating performance.

During 2008 and 2007, we repurchased $165.3 and $77.3 of shares of our common stock,
respectively. Of the 2008 repurchases, $132.3 related to the repurchase of 7.7 million shares of our
Class A Common Stock, and $33.0 related to the repurchase of 1.7 million shares of our Class B
Common Stock from entities affiliated with a member of our Beard of Directors. As of February 29,
2008, $272.5 remained available under our repurchase authorizations.

We issued 0.8 million shares and 1.8 miliion shares of Class A Common Stock in 2008 and 2007,
respectively, for proceeds of $11.5 and $23.3, respectively, related to the exercise of employee stock
options. See Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Capital Resources
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We are contingently liable under loan and lease guarantees for certain Steelcase dealers and joint
ventures in the event of default or non-performance of the financial repayment of a liability. In certain
cases, we also guarantee completion of contracts by our dealers. Due to the contingent nature of
guarantees, the full value of the guarantees is not recorded on our consolidated balance shests;
however, when necessary we record reserves to cover potential losses. See Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements for additional information.
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Contractual Obligations

Our contractual obligations as of February 29, 2008 were as follows:

Payments Due by Period

Less than 13 3-5 After 5
Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year Years Years Years
Long-term debt and short-term borrowings . . . . . .. $2587 $ 82 $ 09 $2496 $ —
Estimated interest on debt obligations. ... ....... 571 16.6 32.4 8.1 -
Operatingleases .......... ... .. iviuun.. 269.2 58.3 91.4 57.7 61.8
Committed capital expenditures .. ............. 65.3 35.0 19.2 1.1 -
Purchase obligations ....................... 21.3 18.4 1.6 1.3 -
Other long-term fiabilities. . . .................. 327.1 1111 76.6 44.8 94.6
Total. . ... $098.7 $247.6 $222.1 $372.6 $156.4

Total consolidated debt as of February 29, 2008 was $258.7. Of our total debt, $249.5 is in the
form of term notes due in 2012, As of February 29, 2008, our debt to total capital ratio was 22.1%, an
increase from 17.4% in 2007 due to lower sharsholders’ equity at the end of 2008 as a result of a
$247.5 special cash dividend and higher share repurchases during 2008.

We have commitments related to certain sales offices, showrooms and equipment under non-
cancelable operating leases that expire at various dates through 2018. Minimum payments under
operating leases having initial or remaining non-cancelable terms in excess of one year are presented in
the contractual obligations table above.

Committed capital expenditures represent obligations we have related to property, plant and
equipment purchases and include outstanding commitments of $55.8 to purchase two corporate aircraft
that are intended to replace existing aircraft.

We define purchase obligations as non-cancelable signed contracts to purchase goods or services
beyond the needs of meeting current backlog or production.

Cther long-term liabilities represent contributions and benefit payments expected to be made for our
post-retirement, pension, deferred compensation, defined contribution and variable compensation plans.
It should be noted that our obligations related to post-retirement benefit plans are not contractual and
the plans could be amended at the discretion of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors.
We limited our disclosure of contributions and benefit payments to 10 years as information beyond this
time period was not available. See Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements for additional
information.

The contractual obligations table above is current as of February 29, 2008. The amounts of these
obligations could change materially over time as new contracts or obligations are initiated and existing
contracts or obligations are terminated or modified.
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Liquidity Facilities
Our total liquidity facilities as of February 29, 2008 were:

| Liquidity Facilities I Amount I
Global committed bank facility .. ............. $200.0
Various uncommitted fines . .. ............... 118.5

Total credit fines available . . .............. 3185
Less:
Borrowings outstanding ... ... ... . 7.3
Standby lettersof credit . . ... ... ... ... 23.7
Available capacity (subject to covenant
CONSHRAINTS) . ..ot e e et $287.5

We have the option of increasing the global committed bank facility from $200 to $300, subject to
customary conditions. Borrowings under this facility are unsecured and unsubordinated. There are
currently no borrowings outstanding under the facility. The facility requires us to satisfy financial
covenants including a maximum debt ratio covenant and a minimum interest coverage ratio covenant.
We were in compliance with all covenants under our financing facilities during 2008, and they are fully
available for our use, afthough the various uncornmitted lines are subject to change or cancellation by
the banks at any time.

Borrowings outstanding on these facilities are primarily related to short-term borrowings within our
International segment and totaled $7.3 at February 29, 2008. In addition to the borrowings, we had
$23.7 at February 29, 2008 in outstanding standby letters of credit against these facilities which primarily
relate to our self-insured workers’ compensation programs. We had no draws on our standby letters of
credit during 2008.

Total consolidated debt as of February 29, 2008 was $258.7. Our debt primarily consists of $249.5
in term notes due in 2012 with an effective interest rate of 6.3%. See Note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements for additional information.

Our long-term debt ratings are investment grade BBB- with a positive outlook from Standard &
Poor's and Baa3d with a stable outlook from Moody’s Investor Service.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition is based
upon our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Our consolidated financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. These principles require the use of estimates and assumptions that affect
amounts reported and disclosed on the consclidated financial statements and accompanying notes.
Although these estimates are based on historical data and management’s knowledge of current events
and actions it may undertake in the future, actual results may differ from the estimates if different
conditions occur. The accounting estimates that typically involve a higher degree of judgment and
complexity are listed and explained below. These estimates were discussed with the Audit Committee of
the Board of Directors and affect all segments of the Company.

impairment of Goodwill, Other Intangible Assets and Long-Lived Assets

Goodwill represents the difference between the purchase price and the related underlying tangible
and identifiable intangible net asset values resulting from business acquisitions. Annually, or if conditions
indicate an earlier review is necessary, the carrying value of the reporting unit is compared to an estimate
of its fair value. If the estimated fair value is less than the carrying value, goodwill is impaired and is
written down to its estimated fair value. Goodwill is assigned to and the fair value is tested at the
reporting unit level. We evaluated goodwill and intangible assets using ten reportable units where
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goodwill is recorded—specifically North America excluding consolidated dealers, North America consol-
idated dealers and Softcare within the North America reportable segment; International; and Brayton,
Designtex, Financial Services, IDEQ, Metro, and PolyVision within the Other category.

Annually, we perform an impairment analysis on our goodwill and intangible assets not subject to
amortization using an income approach based on the cash flows attributable to the related products. We
also perform an annual impairment analysis for our intangible assets subject to amortization and our
other long-lived assets including property, plant and equipment. An impairment loss is recognized if the
carrying amount of a long-lived asset is not recoverable and its carrying amount exceeds its fair value. In
testing for impairment, we first determine if the asset is recoverable and then compare the discounted
cash flows over the asset’s remaining life to the carrying value.

At February 29, 2008, we had $216.7 of goodwill and $48.9 of net intangible assets recorded on
our Consolidated Balance Sheet as follows:

Other Intangible

Reportable Segment Goodwill Assets, Net
North America . . ........... $ 50.0 $ 8.0
International . .. ............ 50.9 8.4
Othercategory. ............ 115.8 34.5
Total .......covviiinnnn.. $216.7 8.9

During Q4 2008 (Q3 2008 for PolyVisicn}, we performed our annual impairment assessment of
goodwill in our reporting units. n the first step to test for potential impairment, we measured the
estimated fair value of our reporting units using a combination of two methods based upon a discounted
cash flow valuation (“DCF"} and a market value approach (“MVA”"). The first method used a 100%
weighting factor based on DCF while the second valuation was based upon 50% of DCF and 50% of
MVA. The MVA was only calculated for International and North America excluding consolidated dealers
reportable units because these are the only two reportable units where we could obtain comparable
market data. -

The DCF analysis used the present value of projected cash flows and a residual value and was
based cn the fcllowing assumptions:

¢ a business is worth today what it can generate in future cash to its owners,
¢ cash received today is worth more than an equal amount of cash received in the future and
¢ future cash flows can be reasonably estimated.

The MVA used a set of four comparable companies to derive a range of market multiples for the last
twelve months' revenue and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization.

Considerable management judgment is necessary to evaluate the impact of operating changes and
to estimate future cash flows in measuring fair value. Assumptions used in our impairment valuations,
such as forecasted growth rates and cost of capital, are consistent with our current internal projections
and operating plans, and discount rates we used ranged from 10.0% to 13.0%. However, these
assumptions could change over time, which may result in future impairment charges.

As of the valuation date, the enterprise value available for goodwill determined by each method
described above is in excess of the underlying reported value of the goodwili as follows:

Enterprise Value
Available in Excess

Reportable Segment of Goodwill
NothAmerica ................... $1,318.8
Intermational . .............. .. .... 482.0
Othercategory ................... 119.8




Within the Other category, PolyVision's DCF analysis indicated a ${8.4) shortfall in enterprise value
available for goodwill. As the available enterprise value for PolyVision was less than reported goodwill
and intangible assets, respectively, in the first step of our impairment testing, we were required to
perform the second step of the goodwill impairment test. As a result of our step two analysis, we
recorded a total impairment charge of $21.1, of which $5.3 related to goodwill and $15.8 related to
intangible assets. At February 29, 2008 PolyVision had remaining goodwill and intangible assets of $44.4
and $34.5, respectively.

For each reporting unit other than Poly\ﬁsibn, the excess enterprise value available for goodwill is
primarily driven by the residual value of future years. Thus, increasing the discount rate by 1%, leaving all
other assumptions unchanged, would reduce the enterprise value in excess of goodwill to the following
amounts:

Enterprise Value
Available in Excess

Reportable Segment of Goodwill
North America . ...t innnn $1,133.8
International . ............ ... ..... 396.0
Othercategory ........... .ot 107.7

Based on the sensitivity analysis above, the North America consolidated dealers and Financial
Services reportable units would have had goodwill balances in excess of enterprise value available for
goodwill, and would have triggered the second step of our impairment testing. These two reporting units
had recorded goodwill aggregating $35.3 as of February 29, 2008.

See Notes 2 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements for more information regarding goodwill
and other intangible assets.

Income Taxes

Our annual effective tax rate is based on income, statutory tax rates and tax planning strategies
available in various jurisdictions in which we operate. Tax laws are complex and subject to different
interpretations by the taxpayer and respective governmental taxing authorities. Significant judgment is
required in determining our tax expense and in evaluating tax positions. Tax positions are reviewed
quarterly and balances are adjusted as new information becomes available.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences
attributable to temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets
and liabilities and their respective tax bases. These assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which the temporary differences are expected
to reverse.

Future tax benefits of tax losses and credit carryforwards are recognized to the extent that realization
of these benefits is considered more likely than not. We estimated a tax benefit from the operating loss
carryforwards before valuation allowance of $94.9, but we recorded a valuation allowance of $29.1
which reduces our estimated tax benefit to $65.8. Additionally, we estimated a tax benefit from tax credit
carryforwards of $16.3. it is considered more likely than not that a combined benefit of $82.1 will be
realized on these carryforwards. This determination is based on the expectation that related operations
will be sufficiently profitable or various tax, business and other planning strategies will enable us to utilize
the carryforwards. To the extent that available evidence raises doubt about the realization of a deferred
income tax asset, a valuation allowance is established. A 10% decrease in the expected amount of
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benefit to be realized on the carryforwards would result in a decrease in net income of approximately
$8.2. The net benefit from operating loss and tax credit carryforwards is as follows:

Operating Loss

Carryforwards Tax Credit
February 29, 2008 (tax effected) Carryforwards
Total carryforwards. . . . . . . $04.9 $16.3
Valuation allowance . .. ... (28.1) —
Netbenefit ............ $65.8 $16.3

- Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefits

The determination of the obligation and expense for pension and other post-retirement benefits is
dependent on the selection of certain actuarial assumptions used in calculating such amounts. These
assumptions include, among others, the discount rate, expected long-term rate of return on plan assets
and rates of increase in compensation and healthcare costs. These assumptions are reviewed with our
actuaries and updated annually based on relevant external and internal factors and information, including
but not limited to, long-term expected fund returns, expenses paid from the fund, rates of termination,
medical inflation, technology and quality care changes, regulatory requirements, plan changes and
governmental coverage changes. See Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements for additional
information.

Forward-Looking Statements

From time to time, in written and oral statements, we discuss our expectations regarding future
events and our plans and objectives for future operations. These forward-looking statements generally
are accompanied by words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “forecast,”
“intend,” “may,” “possible,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” or other similar words, phrases or expres-
sions. Forward-locking statements involve a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual
results to vary from our expectations because of factors such as, but not limited to, competitive and
general economic conditions domestically and internationally; acts of terrorism, war, governmental action,
natural disasters and other Force Majeure events; changes in the legal and regulatory environment; our
restructuning activities; currency fluctuations; changes in customer demand; and the other risks and
contingencies detailed in this Report and our other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
We undertake no obligation to update, amend or clarify forward-looking statements, whether as a result
of new information, future events or otherwise.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

See Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements for information regarding recently issued

_accounting standards.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk:

The principal market risks {i.e., the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and
prices) to which we are exposed include foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and fixed income and
equity price risk.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Operating in international markets involves exposure to the possibility of volatile movernents in
foreign exchange rates. These exposures may impact future earnings or cash flows. Revenue from
foreign locations (primarily Europe and Canada) represented approximately 33% of our consolidated
revenue in 2008 and 30% in 2007. We actively manage the foreign currency exposures that are
associated with committed foreign currency purchases and sales created in the normal course of
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business at the local entity level. Exposures that cannot be naturally offset within a local entity to an
immaterial amount are often hedged with foreign currency derivatives or netted with offsetting exposures
at other entities.

Changes in foreign exchange rates that had the largest impact on translating our international
operating profit for 2008 related to the Euro and the Canadian dollar versus the U.S. dollar. We estimate
that an additional 10% devaluation of the U.S. dollar against the lacal currencies would have increased
our operating income by approximately $8.6 in 2008, assuming no changes other than the exchange
rate itself. However, this quantitative measure has inherent limitations. The sensitivity analysis disregards
the possibility that rates can move in opposite directions and that gains from one currency may or may
not be offset by losses from ancther currency.

The translation of the assets and liabilities of our international subsidiaries is made using the foreign
exchange rates as of the end of the year. Translation adjustments are not included in determining net
income but are disclosed in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) within shareholders' equity
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets until a sale or substantially complete liquidation of the net
investment in the international subsidiary takes place. In certain markets, we could recognize a significant
gain or loss related to unrealized cumulative translation adjustments if we were to exit the market and
liguidate our net investment. As of February 29, 2008, the cumulative net currency translation
adjustments reduced shareholders’ equity by $2.2.

Foreign exchange gains and losses reflect transaction gains and losses. Transaction gains and
losses arise from monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than a business unit’s
functional currency. For 2008, net transaction gains were $4.0.

See Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to interest rate risk primarily on our cash and cash equivalents, investments, notes
receivable and short-term borrowings. Substantially all of cur interest rates on cur long-term borrowings
were fixed during 2008; thus our interest rate risk was minimized on our debt.

Our cash and cash equivalents and investments are primarily invested in short-dated instruments.
Investments in longer-dated securities are entered into to take advantage of temporary market interest
differentials, and our intent is to sell all securities in the short term. However, as of February 29, 2008,
we held $26.5 and $5.0 par value investments in ARS and Canadian ABCP, respectively, for which no
markets currertly exist. The ABCP was considered to be in default at February 29, 2008, and no interest
was being paid. See Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information.

We estimate a 1.0 percentage point change in interest rates would have less than a $5.0 impact to
our results of operations for 2008.

Fixed Income and Equity Price Risk

We are exposed to fixed income and equity price risk primarily on the cash surrender value
associated with our investments in company-owned life insurance. We estimate a 10% adverse change
in the value of the underlying funds, which could be caused by changes in interest rates, yield curve,
portfalic duration or equity prices, would have reduced our operating income by approximately $10.5
and $10.4 in 2008 and 2007, respectively. This quantitative measure has inherent limitations since not all
of our investments are in similar asset classes. In addition, the investment managers actively manage
certain fixed income and equity investments and their results could be better or warse than the market
returns. )

See Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data:

MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting. This system is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with account-
ing principles generally accepted in the United States of Ametrica.

Cur internal controf over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to
the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of our assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary
to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America, and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance
with authonzations of management and the Board of Directors; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of our assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, a system of internal control over financial reporting can provide
only reasonable assurance and may not prevent or detect all misstatements. Further, because of
changes in conditions, effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting may vary over time.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the system of internal control over financial reporting
based on the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, management
determined that cur system of internal control over financial reporting was effective as of February 29,
2008. :

BDO Seidman, LLF the independent registered certified public accounting firm that audited our
financial statements included in this annual report on Form 10-K, also audited the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting, as stated in their report which is included herein.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

STEELCASE INC.
GRAND RAPIDS, MICHIGAN

We have audited Steelcase Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of February 29, 2008,
based on criteria established in Internal Control—Iintegrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsering QOrganizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Steelcase Inc.’s manage-
ment is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its agsess-
ment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying ltem 8,
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in
all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authoriza-
tions of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets
that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Steelcase Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of February 29, 2008, based on the COSO criteria.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board {United States), the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Steelcase Inc. as of
February 29, 2008 and February 23, 20607, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes
in shareholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended Fsbruary 29, 2008
and our report dated April 25, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion.

BDO SEIDMAN, LLP

Grand Rapids, Michigan
April 25, 2008
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

STEELCASE INC.
GRAND RAPIDS, MICHIGAN

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Steelcase Inc. as of Febru-
ary 29, 2008 and February 23, 2007 and the related cansolidated statements of income, changes in
shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended February 28, 2008.
In connection with our audits of the financial staterments, we have also audited the financial statement
schedule listed in ltem 15{a). These financtal statements and schedule are the responsibility of the
Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and
schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
CQversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements and schedule are free of material misstate-
ment. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements and schadule. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Steelcase Inc. at February 29, 2008 and February 23, 2007 and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended February 29,
2008, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Also, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic
consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the informa-
tion set forth therein.

As discussed in the consolidated financial statements, Steelcase Inc. changed its method of
accounting for defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans as of February 23, 2007, in
accordance with Financia! Accounting Standards Board No. 168, Employers’ Accounting for Defined
Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans; share-based compensation as of February 25, 2006, in
accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board No. 123R, Share-Based Payment; and uncertain
tax positions as of February 24, 2007, in accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for
Uncertainty in income Taxes.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of Steelcase Inc.’s internal control over financial
reporting as of February 29, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO)
and our report dated April 25, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

BDC SEIDMAN, LLP

Grand Rapids, Michigan
April 25, 2008
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STEELCASE INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in millions, except per share data)

Year Ended
February 29, | February 23, | February 24,
2008 2007 2006
REVENUE . o e e e $3,420.8  $3,0974 $2,868.9
Costofsales......... ... i i 2,295.3 2,128.2 1,982.4
Restructuring costs . . ... .. i 0.4) 21.3 33.2
Grossprofit ... ... .. 1,125.9 947.9 846.3
Operating eXPeNSES. . . v vt i e 923.1- 831.8 758.1
Restructuring CoSES . . ... oo e e — 2.4 57
Operating inCome . . ... ...t i 202.8 113.7 82.5
Interestexpense ........ ... .. i i (16.9). (18.5) (18.1)
Interest INCOME . ... i e e 23.0 25.9 11.1
Otherincome, net ... ... i e e 2.5 3.5 0.9
Income before income taxexpense . ................... 2i1.4 124.6 76.4
INCOME tax BXPENSE. . . . . v it 78.2 17.7 27.5
NetiMCOME. . oottt et $ 1332 $ 1069 § 489
Earnings per share:
BaSIC . ot e e $ 093 § 072 § 033
Diuted . ... e e $ 0.93 $. 0mM $ 0.33

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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STEELCASE INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
{in millions, except share data)

February 29, | February 23,
2008 2007

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cashand cashequivalents .......... ... ... i iinennnn.. $ 2139 § 527.2
Short-term iNVeStMENtS . o . . et e e 501 33.1
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $21.8 and $23.7 ........ 397.0 352.6
1Y =T 4 o 1= < S 146.7 144.0
Deferred income taxes. . ..ottt i e 52.1 60.8
Othercurrent assets . . ... .. i 74.9 111.9
Total curmrent @888t . .. v vttt e 934.7 1,229.6
Property, plant and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of
$1,2001 and $1,356.0 . . .. oo 478.4 477.1
Company-owned life insurance. . . ......... ... i i, 210.6 209.2
Deferred INComME taXeS . . . oot o e e 161.3 151.7
GooawWill . .. e 2186.7 213.4
Other intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $64.8 and
153 17 48.9 64.6
Long-terminvestments. ... ... ... . o 30.2 43
L (g = = = < 1= N 43.6 49.5
Total assets . ... .. e e e $2124.4 $2,309.4

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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STEELCASE INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS —(Continued)
- {in millions, except share data)

February 29, | February 23,

2008 2007
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
AcCoUNtS payable . . ..o e e $ 2469 $ 2220
Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt . ... ... B.2 51
Accrued expenses:
Employee compensation . . ..., .. ... i e 181.3 162.7
Employee benefit plan obligations. . .. ......... . ... . oL 39.0 34.2
Workers' compensationclaims. . .. ... ... o il 23.8 251
Income taxespayable ... ... .. i 19.5 247
Productwarranties. . . . .. ... oot 21.6 229
Other. . . e e 142.7 147.4
Total current liabilities . . ... . oo 683.0 644.1
Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt less current maturities ... ....... ... . o L 250.5 250.0
Employee benefit plan obligations . .......... ... .. o ool 183.4 191.1
Other long-term liabifities. .. .. ....... ... .. . 96.6 76.3 -
Total long-term liabilities . .. ... ... .. . L 530.5 517.4
Total Babilities . . . . v e e e 1,213.5 1,161.5

Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred Stock-no par value; 50,000,000 shares authorized, none
issuedandoutstanding . . . . .. ... L - —
Class A Common Stock-no par value; 475,000,000 shares authorized,
81,708,920 and 82,077,630 issued and ouistanding . ............ 114.7 2254
Class B Common Stock-no par value; 475,000,000 shares authorized,

56,940,858 and 64,768,219 issued and outstanding . ............ — 34.0
Additional paid-incapital . . . ......... .. 5.0 6.3
Accumulated other comprehensive income {loss) . ................. 17.4 (1.3)
Retained earmings. . . oo oo oo e 773.8 g973.5

Total shareholders’ equity . ... .. ... i 910.9 1,237.9
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity .. ... .- .. ..o oo i $2,124.4 $2,399.4

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

STEELCASE INC.

(in millions, except share and per share data)

Accumuiated Deferred
Common | Clasz A | Class B [Additlonal Other Compensation— Total Total
Shares | Common|Common| Paid-in |Comprehensivef Restricted | Retained | Shareholders’ | Comprehensive
Qutstanding | Stock | Stock | Capital | income (Loss} Stock Earnings Equity Income
February 25,2005 . ............ 148,575,155 $1625 $1348 $13 ${33.1} $3.1) $9341  $1,1958
Common stock conversion . . .. .. .. 05 (305 -
Common stock issuance, . .. ... ... 982563 122 122
Common stock repurchases. . . .. . .. 2500000 (34) (3.4)
Tax effect of exercise of stock options . . 12 1.2
Issuance of restricted stock, net. . . . .. 182,100 25 {2.9) -
Amortization of defered compensation. . 25 25
Performance share and performanoe
units expense . .. . 2.1 2.1
Foreign currency wansiation
adustment . ............... .1 8.1) {8.1)
Minimum pension Rabiity, net of $0.7
tax ... 1.0 10 1.0
Derivative adjustments, net of $0.7 tax . . 1.4 1.4 1.1
Dividends paid ($0.33 per sharg} . . . . . (49.2) (49.2)
Netincome . ................ L _ L 48.9 489 489
February 24,2006 ............. 149,489,818 2055 1044 34 {33.1) 3.9 9338 1,2049 $ 429
Common stock conversion ... . .. 288 {289 -
Common stock issuance. . ... ... .. 1,788,076  23.3 233
Common stock repurchases. . . . . . . . 4400895 (3B6.7) {418 (1.3
Tax effect of exercise of stock options . . 38 38
Adoption of SFAS No. 123[R) . . .. . .. (3.1) 31
Restricted stock expense . Ca 36,850 24 24
Restricted stock units converted to
commonsteck ... ... L. 31,000 03 0.9 -
Perdomance share and performance -
UNitS eXpense ., ... ... ... 32 32
Foreign currency translation
adjustment .. ... ... 99 89 99
Minimum pension tizhity, net of $0.5
B 08 08 08
Derivative adjustments, net of $0.8 tax . . 1.3 13 1.3
Recognition of prior senvice cost & net
loss under SFAS No. 158, net of $15.8
..................... 258 258
DMdends paid ($0.45 per sharg) . . . . . 67.2) {67.2}
Netincome ................. _ _ 106.9 106.9 106.9
February 23,2007 . ............ 146,845,849 2254 340 6.3 1.3 - g73.5 1,237.9 $1189
Adoptionof FIN4S . . ... ........ 36 36
SFAS No. 158 adjustment . .. . .. ... {0.29) " 02
Common stock conversicn .. ... ... 1.0 (1.0 -
Common stock issuanca. . .. ... ... 852238 115 15
Commoen stock repurchases. . . .., .. {9,393,089 (1 29 ?) (33.0 2.6) {165.3)
Tax effect of exercise of stock options . . 1.7
Restricted stock expense . .. ...... 200,185 1.4 1.4
Restricted stock units corverted to
commonstock .. ... . ... 51,500 04 0.4 -
Performance shares converted to
common stock, restricted stock and
restricted stock units. . ... ... ... 93,060 30 B3.0 -
Performance share, performance units
and restricted stock units expense . . . 24 2.1
Foreign curmency translation
adustment . ... ... ... ... ... 224 224 224
Minimum pension kabilty, net of $1.2
tax ... 2.0 20 {2.0)
Desivative adjustments, net of $0.2 tax . . 0.3 {0.3) 0.3
Urvealized loss on investments, net of
$08tax . ... (1.4) (1.4) {1.4)
Dividends paid {$2.35 per share} . . .. . (333.7) (333.7)
Netincome .. ............... . . 133.2 133.2 1332
February 29,2008 .. ........... 138,649,778 $1147 § — $50 $17.4 $- $7738 § 9109 $151.9

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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STEELCASE INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in miflions)

Year Ended
February 29, | February 23, | February 24,
2008 2007 2006
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
NetinCome. . ... ot e e e $133.2 $106.9 $ 489
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization . .. ........... ... ... 0. 92.4 101.4 119.4
Goodwill and intangible asset impairment charges ... ... ..... 211 . 10.7 -
Loss on disposal and write-down of fixed assets, net . .. .. ..., 0.6 39 4.5
Deferred income taxes. . ... .. ot it i 1.3 30.8 0.2
Pension and post-retirement beneft cost. . ............. ... 41 71 11.8
Restructuring payments, net of accrued charges ............ (2.6) (3.9 2.8)
Excess tax benefit from exercise of stock options and vesting of
restricted stock . . . .. ... . e 1.7) 3.9 -
Other, Nt . .o e e e e e (1.1 43 2.3
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Accountsreceivable. . . ... ... .. (20.2) 24.3 {1.4)
IV ONIES . e e 7.8 5.4 (17.0)
Otherassets. . ...t e 1.9 (47.2) (24.7)
Accountspayable . ........ ... . (0.6) 23.4 16.9
Accrued expenses and other liahilities .. ... ... ... ... 3.5 17.2 17.3
Net cash provided by operating activities . . . .. .......... ... ... 249.7 280.5 175.5
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditures .. ... ... ... .. ... i (79.6) (568.2) (71.9)
Net {purchases) liquidations of investments. . .. ................ {42.2) (33.1) 131.6
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets ... .. ... ..., 27.5 18.9 39.3
Proceeds from repayments of lease fundings . . ... ....... ... ... 57 9.7 17.7
Proceeds from repayments of notes receivable, net. . ............ 15.4 17.5 15.3
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired and business divestitures. . . . . . .. (13.8) 0.9 {8.6)
Other, net. . ... o (4.3) 3.2 4.3
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities . . . ......... ... (21.3) (51.9) 127.7
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Borrowings of long-term debt . . .. ... ... ..o oL 0.5 257.4 -
Repayments of long-term debt . .. ... ... ... ... . o0 (1.9) {260.3) (58.9)
Bomrowings (repayments) of lines of credit, net . ......... ... ... 28 6.9 2.3
Excess tax benefit from exercise of stock options and vesting of
restricted stock . ... ... . 1.7 39 -
Common stockissuance . ... ... . o i e 11.5 23.3 12.2
Common stock repurchases. . ... ... oot (165.3) (77.3) (3.4)
Dividends paid . ... ..o e (333.7) {67.2) {49.2)
Net cash used in financing activities . . ...................... (484.4) {127.1) {101.6)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents . .. .. 12.7 1.9 586
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents . .. ......... (313.3) 103.4 207.2
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning ofyear. ... ....... . ...... 527.2 423.8 216.6
Cash and cash equivalents, end ofyear . . . ................... $213.9 $527.2 $423.8
Supplemental Cash Flow Information:
INCOMBtaXES PAId. . . v vttt et e e e e $ 403 $ 36.2 $ 147
Interast paid . . .. .. e $ 165 $ 214 $ 18.5

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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STEELCASE INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Steelcase Inc. is the world's leading designer, marketer and manufacturer of office furniture.
Founded in 1912, we are headquartered in Grand Rapids, Michigan U.S.A and employ approximately
13,500 employees. We operate manufacturing and distribution center facilities in 31 principal locations.
We distribute products through various channels, including independent and company-owned dealers in
more than 800 locations throughout the world, and have led the global office furniture industry in revenue
every year since 1974. We operate under North America and International repertable segments, plus an
“Other” category. Additional information about our reportable segments is contained in Note 15.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Steelcase Inc. and its majority-owned
subsidiaries. Our consolidation policy requires the consolidation of entities where a controlling financial
interest is acquired as well as consolidation of variable interest entities in which we are designated as the
primary beneficiary. All material intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in
consolidation.

Fiscal Year

Our fiscal year ends on the last Friday in February with each fiscal quarter typically including
13 weeks. The fiscal year ended February 29, 2008 included 53 weeks. The fiscal years ended
February 23, 2007 and February 24, 2008 included 52 weeks.

Unless the context otherwise indicates, reference to a year relates to a fiscal year rather than a
calendar year. Additionally, Q1, Q2, Q3 and Q4 reference the first, second, third and fourth quarter,
respectively, of the fiscal year indicated. All amounts are in millions, except share and per share data,
data presented as a percentage or as otherwise indicated.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the prior years’ financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the
current year's presentation.

Foreign Currency Translation

For most international operations, local currencies are considered the functicnal currencies. We
translate assets and liabilities to U.S. dollar equivalents at exchange rates in effect as of the balance
sheet date. Translation adjustments are not included in determining net income, but are disclosed in
Accumulated other comprehensive income floss) within the Consolidated Balance Sheets until a safe or
substantially complete liquidation of the net investment in the international subsidiary takes place. We
translate Consolidated Statements of Income accounts at average rates for the period. Foreign currency
transaction gains and losses are recorded in Other income, net and included net gains of $4.0, $4.1 and
$1.9 in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue consists substantially of preduct sales and related service revenue. Product sales are
reported net of discounts and applicable returns and allowances and are recognized when title and risks
associated with ownership have passed to the dealer or customer. Typically, this is when product is
shipped to a dealer. When product is shipped directly to an end customer, revenue is recognized upon
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STEELCASE INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

delivery or upon acceptance by the end customer. Revenue from services is recognized when the
services have been rendered. Total revenue does not include sales tax as we consider ourselves a pass-
through entity for collecting and remitting sales taxes.

Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents include demand bank depesits and highly liquid investment securities with an
criginal maturity of three months or less. Cash equivalents are reported at cost, which approximates fair
value, and were $178.1 as of February 29, 2008 and $478.3 as of February 23, 2007.

Allowances for Credit Losses

Allowances for credit losses related to accounts receivable, notes receivable and our investments in
leases are maintained at a level considered by management to be adequate to absorb an estimate of
probable future losses existing at the balance sheet date. In estimating probable’icsses, we review
accounts that are past due or in bankruptcy. We review accounts that may have higher credit risk using
information available about the customer or dealer, such as financial statements, news reports and
published credit ratings. We also use general information regarding industry trends, the general economic
environment and information gathered through our network of field-based employees. Using an estimate
of current fair market value of any applicable collateral and other credit enhancements, such as third
party guarantees, we arrive at an estimated loss for specific accounts and estimate an additional amount
for the remainder of the trade balance based on historical trends. Receivable balances are written off
when we determing the balance is uncollectible. Subsequent recoveries, if any, are credited to the
allowance when received. We consider an accounts receivable balance past due when payment is not
received within the stated terms. We consider a note receivable past due when any installment of the
note is unpaid for more than 30 days.

Notes Receivable

Notes receivable includes project financing, asset-based lending and term financing with dealers.
Notes receivable of $24.4 and $27.1 as of February 29, 2008 and February 23, 2007, respectively, are
included within Other current assets and Other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The
allowance for uncollectible notes receivable was $2.0 and $3.1 at February 29, 2008 and February 23,
2007, respectively. Notes receivable from affiliates were $2.2 and $6.0 at February 29, 2008 and
February 23, 2007, respectively. Affiliates include unconsolidated dealers and minority interests in
unconsolidated joint ventures.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. The North America segment primarily uses the
last in, first out {("LIFO") method to value its inventories. The International segment values inventories
primarily using the first in, first out method. Companies within the Other category primarily use the first
in, first out or the average cost inventory valuation methods.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including some internally-developed internal use software, are stated
at cost, Major improvements that materially extend the useiul lives of the assets are capitalized.
Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred. Depreciation is provided
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —(Continued)

We review the carrying value of our long-fived assets held and used, and assets to be disposed of
using estimates of future undiscounted cash flows. If the carrying value of a long-lived asset is
considered impaired, an impairment charge is recorded for the amount by which the carrying value of
the long-lived assst exceeds its fair value. See Note 6 for additional information.

Operating Leases

Rent expense under operating leases is recorded on a straight-line basis over the lease term unless
the lease contains an escalation clause which is not fixed and determinable. The lease term begins when
we have the right to control the use of the leased property, which is typically before rent payments are
due under the terms of the lease. If a lease has a fixed and determinable escalation clause, the
difference between rent expense and rent paid is recorded as deferred rent. Rent expense under
operating leases that do not have an escalation clause or where escalation is based on an inflation index
is expensed over the lease term as it is payable. See Note 14 for additional information.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the difference between the purchase price for, and the related underlying
tangible and identifiable intangible net asset values resulting from, business acquisitions. Annually, or
moere frequently if conditions indicate an earlier review is necessary, the carrying value of the goodwill of
a reporting unit is compared 1o an estimate of its fair value. If the estimated fair value is less than the
carrying value, goodwill is impaired and is written down to its estimated fair value. We evaluated goodwill
and intangible assets using ten reportable units where goodwill is recorded —specifically North America
excluding consolidated dealers, North America consolidated dealers and Softcare within the North
America reportable segment; International; and Brayton, Designtex, Financial Services, IDEQ, Metro, and
PclyVision within the Other categary. In Q3 2008 and Q4 2007, we recognized a goodwill impairment
charge of $5.3 and $3.3, respectively, related to PolyVision. See Note 8 for additional information.

Other intangible assets subject to amortization consist primarily of proprietary technology, trade-
marks and non-compete agreements and are amortized over their estimated useful economic lives using
the straight-line method. Other intangible assets not subject to amoertization, consisting of certain
trademarks, are accounted for and evaluated for potential impairment in a manner consistent with
goodwill. in Q3 2008 and Q4 2007, we recognized an intangible asset impairment charge of $15.8 and
$7.4, respectively, related to PolyVision. See Note 8 for additional information.

Self-Insurance

We are self-insured for certain losses relating to workers’ compensation and product liability claims.,
We purchased insurance coverage to reduce our exposure to significant levels of these claims. Self-
insured losses are accrued based upon estimates of the aggregate liability for uninsured claims incurred
but not reported at the balance sheet date using our knowledge of current claims, certain actuarial
assumptions followed in the insurance industry and our historical claims experience.

A reserve for estimated future product liability costs of $9.8 and $8.3 incurred at February 29, 2008
and February 23, 2007, respectively, are included in Accrued expenses: Cther on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets.

We are also self-insured for a portion of domestic employee and retiree medical benefits. We pay
self-insured claims directly from our general assets. The estimate for incurred but not reported employse
medical, dental, and short-term disability claims was $2.7 and $2.6 at February 29, 2008 and
February 23, 2007, respectively, and is recorded within Accrued expenses: Other on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Product Warranties

We offer a lifetime warranty on most Steelcase and Turnstone brand products delivered in the
U.S. and Canada, subject to certain exceptions. For products delivered to all other countrigs, we offer a
15-year warranty for most Steelcase brand products and a 10-year warranty for most Turnstone brand
products, subject to certain exceptions. These warranties provide for the free repair or replacement of
any covered product, part or component that fails during normal use because of a defect in materials or
workmanship. For all other brands, warranties range from one year to lifetime. The accrued liability for
warranty costs is based on an estimated amount needed to cover future warranty obligations incurred as
of the balance sheet date determined by historical product data and management’s knowledge of
current events and actions.

Year Ended
February 29, | February 23, | February 24,
Product Warranties 2008 2007 2006
Balance at beginning of period . .. ... .. $229 $214 $20.9
Accruals for warranty charges . .. .... .. 12.2 14.1 11.8
Settlements and adjustments . ........ 13.5 (12.6) 11.3
Balance at end of period. .. .......... $21.6 $22.9 $21.4

Shipping and Handling Expenses

We record shipping and handling related expenses in Cost of sales on the Consolidated Statements
of Income.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses, which are expensed as incurred, were $60.9 for 2008, $44.2
for 2007 and $47.4 for 2006. We continue to invest approximately one to two percent of our revenue in
research, design and development each year. Royalties are sometimes paid to external designers of our
products as the products are sold. These costs are not included in the research, design and
development costs since they are variable, based on product sales.

Income Taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences
attributable to temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets
and liabilities and their respective tax bases. These assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which the temporary differences are expected
to reverse.

We have net operating loss carryforwards available in certain jurisdictions to reduce future taxable
income. Future tax benefits associated with net operating loss carryforwards are recognized to the extent
that realization of these benefits is considered more likely than not. This determination is based on the
expectation that related operations will be sufficiently profitable or various tax, business and other
planning strategies will enable us to utilize the operating loss carryforwards. To the extent that available
evidence raises doubt about the realization of a deferred income tax asset, a valuation allowance is
established.

Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB") Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes (“FIN 48") prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial
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statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax retumn.
Tax benefits related to uncertain tax positions are recorded only if the position is more likely than not (a
likelihood of more than 50 percent) to be sustained upcn examination, including resalution of any related
appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax position is
measured and recognized at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of being
realized upon ultimate settlement. See Note 12 for additional information.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of shares of common stock
outstanding during each period. It excludes the dilutive effects of additional common shares that would
have been outstanding if the shares under our stock incentive plans had been issued and the dilutive
effect of restricted shares to the extent those shares have not vested. See Note 13 for additional
information.

Diluted earnings per share includes the effects of dilutive shares and potential shares issued under
our stock incentive plans. However, diluted earnings per share does not reflect the effects of 0.1 million
options for 2008, 1.1 million options for 2007, and 1.3 million options for 2006 because those potential
shares were not dilutive.

Year Ended
February 29, | February 23, | February 24,
Eamings Per Share 2008 2007 2006

NEt iNCOME . . ottt e e e e e $133.2 $106.9 $ 489
Weighted-average shares outstanding for basic net earnings

pershare(inmilions) ........ ... ... ... .. . ... .. 142.5 1485 148.3
Effect of dilutive stock-based compensation {in millions) . . . . 1.1 1.3 0.4
Adjusted weighted-average shares outstanding for diluted

net earnings per share (inmilions) . ................. 143.6 149.8 148.7
Net earnings per share of commaon stock:

BaSIC. . et $ 0.93 $ 0.72 $ 0.33

DB . . et e et e $ 093 $071  $033
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Accumufated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are as follows:

Foreign Minimum Unrealizegd Accumulated
Currency Pension Derivative Loss on Other
Translation Liability Adjustments | Investments | Comprehensive
Comprehensive Income (Loss) Adjustments | {net of tax} | (net of tax) {net of tax) Income {Loss)
February 25,2005 . ......... $(26.4) % (5.6) $(1.1) $— $(33.1)
Other comprehensive (loss)
ncome ............... (8.1) 1.0 14 — (6.0
February 24,2006 .......... {34.5) {4.6) - — (39.1)
Other comprehensive
income ............... 9.9 0.8 1.3 - 37.8
Adjustment for adoption of
SFAS188 . ............ —_ 25.8 - — —
February 23,2007 .......... (24.6) 22.0 1.3 - {1.3)
Other comprehensive income
floss). ... .. 22.4 (2.0} {0.3) (1.4) 18.7
February 28,2008 .......... $ (2.2) $20.0 $1.0 $§1. ) $17.4

Defined benefit and post-retirement pension plans as a component of Accumulated other compre-
hensive income (loss) for 2008 are presented in the table below. Information for prior years is not readily
available as the components of comprehensive income within the minimum pension liability were not
required prior to the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards {*SFAS") No. 158 in 2008.

Before Tax | Tax {(Expense} Net of
Minimum Pension Liability Amount Benefit Tax Amount

Defined benefit and post-retirement pension plans at
February 23, 2007 . . ..o oottt e $35.4 $(13.4) $22.0
Prior service cost from plan amendment during period . . . . - — —
Less: Amortization of prior service cost included in net

periodic pensicn Cost. . .. ... ... e (8.0 3.1 {4.9)

Net prior service cost arising during period . ............. {8.0) 3.1 4.9)

Net change in actuarial {gain) loss during period . . . ... ... 48 {1.9) 2.9

Currentperiodchange . ........... ..., {3.2) 1.2 (2.0
Defined benefit and post-retirernent pension plans at )

February 29, 2008. . ... ... .. $32.2 $(12.2) $20.0

Stock-Based Compensation

Our stock-based compensation consists of performance shares, performance units, restricted stock,
restricted stock units and non-qualified stock options. Our policy is to expense stock-based compensa-
tion using the fair-value based method of accounting for all awards granted, modified or settled.

Restricted stock, restricted stock units, performanice shares and performance units are credited to
equity as they are expensed over their vesting periods based on the current market value of the shares
expected to be issued or the lattice model for shares with market conditions. For stock options, fair
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value is measured on the grant date of the related equity instrument using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model and is recognized as compensation expense over the applicable vesting period. No stock
options were granted in 2008, 2007 or 2006. See Note 13 for additional information.

Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of our financial instruments, consisting of cash equivalents, short-term
investments, accounts and notes receivable, accounts and notes payable, short-term borrowings and
certain other liabilities, approximate their fair value due to their relatively short maturities. The carrying
amount of our long-term investments and long-term debt approximate fair value. The stated rate of
interest approximates a market rate of interest on our long-term debt.

We periodically use derivative financial instruments to manage exposures to movements in interest
rates and foreign exchange rates. The use of these financial instruments modifies the exposure of these
risks with the intention to reduce our risk of short-term volatility. We do not use derivatives for speculative
or trading purposes.

Foreign Exchange Forward Contracts

A portion of our revenue and earnings are exposed to changes in foreign exchange rates. We seek
to manage our foreign exchange risk in part through operational means, including matching same
currency revenue with same currency cost and same currency assets with same currency liabilities.
Foreign exchange risk is also managed through the use of short-term foreign exchange forward
contracts. These financial instruments serve to mitigate the risk of translation into U.S. dollars of certain
foreign denominated net income, assets and liabilities. We primarily hedge intercompany working capital
foans and certain forecasted transactions. The principal currency we hedge through foreign exchange
forward contracts is the European euro. We recorded net losses of $19.6 in 2008 and $13.0 in 2007 in
Other income, net on the Consolidated Statements of Income related to these contracts. The 2008 and
2007 losses were offset by transaction gains of $21.2 and $11.0, respectively. The notional amounts of
all of the outstanding foreign exchange forward contracts were $128.0 at February 29, 2008 and $121.6
at February 23, 2007. The net fair value of these contracts was $(2.4) and ${0.3) at February 29, 2008
and February 23, 2007, respectively, and is recorded in Other current assets and Accrued expenses:
QOther on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Our trade receivables are primarily due from independent dealers, who in turn carry receivables from
their customers. We monitor and manage the credit risk associated with individual dealers. Dealers are
responsible for assessing and assuming credit risk of their customers and may require their customers to
provide deposits, letters of credit or other credit enhancement measures. Some sales contracts are
structured such that the customer payment or obligation is direct to us. In those cases, we assure the
credit risk. Whether from dealers or customers, our trade credit exposures are not concentrated with any
particular entity.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the amounts and disclosures on the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.
Although these estimates are based on historical data and management's knowledge of current events
and actions it may undertake in the future, actual results may differ from these estimates under different
assumptions or conditions.
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3. NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
FIN 48

We adopted the provisions of FIN 48 at the beginning of 2008. FIN 48 requires us to recognize in
our financial statements the impact of a tax position, if that position is more likely than not of being
sustained on audit, based solely on the technical merits of the position. As a result of our adoption of
FIN 48, we recognized a $3.6 decrease to the liability for uncertain tax positions, with a corresponding
increase to Retained earnings. See Notes 2 and 12 for additional information.

We also adopted FASB Staff Position ("FSP™} FIN 48-1, Definition of Settlernent in FASE Interpreta-
tion No. 48 which provides that a tax position will be considered settled if the taxing authority has
completed its examination, the company does not plan to appeal and the likelihood is remote that the
taxing authority would reexamine the tax position in the future. The adoption of FSP FIN 48-1 did not
have a matenal impact on our consclidated financial statements.

SFAS No. 157

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements ("SFAS No. 157").
This statement clarifies the definition of fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and
expands the disclosures on fair value measurements. In February 2008, the FASB issued FSP
SFAS No. 157-2, Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157, which delayed the effective date of
SFAS No. 157 for certain non-financial assets and liabilities until fiscal years beginning after November 15,
2008. For financial assets and liabilities, SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2007. We completed our evaluation and determined the adoption of SFAS No. 157 at the
beginning of 2009 will not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

SFAS No. 159

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, Establishing the Fair Value Option for Financial
Assets and Liabilities (“SFAS No. 159"), to permit all entities the option to measure eligible financial
instruments at fair value. SFAS No. 159 applies to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, with
early adoption permitted for an entity that has also elected to apply the provisions of SFAS No. 157. An
entity is prohibited from retrospectively applying SFAS No. 159, unless it chooses early adoption. We
completed our evaluation and determined the adoption of SFAS No. 159 at the beginning of 2009 will
not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

SFAS No. 141(R)

in December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R), Business Combinations (“SFAS No. 141(R)"),
to create greater consistency in the accounting and financial reporting of business combinations.
SFAS No. 141(R)} establishes principles and requirements for how the acquirer in a business combination
{iy recognizes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities
assumed and any controlling interest, (i) recognizes and measures the goodwill acquired in the business
combination or a gain from a bargain purchase and (i) determines what information to disclose to enable
" users of the financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business combination.
SFAS No. 141(R) applies to fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. Earlier adoption is
prohibited.

SFAS No. 160

In Decemnber 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontrofling Interests in Consolidated
Financial Statements—an amendment of ARB No. 57 (“SFAS No. 160", to establish accounting and
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reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a
subsidiary. SFAS No. 160 establishes accounting and reporting standards that require (i) the ownership
interest in subsidiaries held by parties other than the parent to be clearly identified and presented on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets within equity, but separate from the parent's equity, (i) the amount of
consolidated net income attributable to the parent and the noncontralling interest to be clearly identified
and presented on the face of the consolidated statement of income and (i} changes in a parent's
ownership interest while the parent retains its controlling financial interest in its subsidiary to be
accounted for consistently. SFAS No. 160 applies to fiscal years beginning after Decernber 15, 2008.
Earlier adoption is prohibited.

SFAS No. 161

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Aclivities—an amendment of FASB Statement No. 133 (*SFAS No. 1617), to improve financial
reporting of derivative instruments and hedging activities by requiring enhanced disclosures to enable
investors to better understand their effects on an entity's financial position, financial performance and
cash flows. SFAS No. 161 applies to fiscal years and interim periods beginning after November 15,
2008. We have not determined the effect, if any, the adoption of this statement will have on our future
disclosures.

4. INVESTMENTS

Investments include various types of bonds, notes, auction rate securities, asset-backed commercial
paper and privately-held equity investments.

February 29, February 23,
2008 2007
investment Holdings Cost | Market Value Cost I Market Value

Managed investment portfolio .. .................. $48.9 $50.1 - _
Auctionratesecurities. . . ........ . ... oL 26.5 23.9 33.1 331

Asset-backed commercial paper .. ........ ... ... 50 4.1 - -
Privately-held equity securities . . ............. e 2.2 2.2 4.3 4.3
$82.6 $80.3 $37.4 $37.4
Total short-term investments . .. .. ................ 48.9 501 33.1 331
Total long-terminvestments. . .................... 33.7 30.2 4.3 4.3

%826  $803 S374 374

Managed Investment Portfolio

During 2008, we entered into an agreement with one of our banks, whereby the bank will actively
manage a $50.0 investment portfolio, consisting of short-term investments and certain government
agency and corporate bonds, with maturities ranging from 2009 to 2012. Although the maturity dates of
some of these investments are more than one year after the balance sheet date, the intent of the
portfolio is to actively trade the securities to take advantage of short-term interest rate differentials.
Therefore, the portfolio is primarily accounted for as available for sales investments, and the entire
portfclio is classified as Short-term investments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Auction Rate Securities

Auction rate securities (“ARS") are variable rate longer-term debt instruments whose interest rates
are reset at each auction, which typically occurs every 7-35 days. We previously recorded these
investments as short-term available for sale investments as our investment policy was to put the
investments at each auction. Typically, the carrying value of auction rate securities approximates fair
value due to the frequent resetting of their interest rates through the auction process. During 2008, the
broader market for these securities was essentially shut down, causing auction attempts te fail given the
liquidity constraints in the U.S. market. As of February 29, 2008, we held auction rate securities totaling
$26.5 of par value that failed to clear at auctions. While we continue to earn interest on these
investments at the maximum contractual rate, we believe the estimated market value of these ARS no
longer approximates par value. Accordingly, we reduced these investments to their estimated fair value
of $23.9 and recorded an unrealized loss of $2.6 in Accumulated other comprehensive income {loss) on
the Consolidated Balance Sheets, as we believe the impairment is temporary. We also reclassified these
ARS to available-for-sale Long-term investments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as we do not
reasonably expect to sell the securities in the near term.

We concluded no permanent impairment losses occurred in the year ended February 29, 2008 as
the decline in market value is due to general market conditions. These investments are of high credit,
and we have the intent and ability to hold these ARS until the anticipated recovery in market value
occurs. We will continue to monitor these securities and may be required to record an impairment
charge if the decline in fair value is determined to be other than temporary. We estimated the fair value
of these ARS based on prices provided by the firm managing our investrments, supported by our own
analysis. Our estimates were based on assumptions we believe market participants would use in pricing
the assets in a current transaction, which could change significantly based on market conditions.

Proceeds from sales of ARS totaled $82.0 in 2008, $0.0 in 2007 and $131.6 in 2006. Al proceeds
during 2008 were at par value, before the ARS auctions started to falil.

Asset-Backed Commercial Paper

At February 29, 2008 we held one investment in Canadian asset-backed commercial paper
(*ABCP™) with an original cost of $5.0. When acquired, this investment was rated R1 (High) by Dominion
Bond Rating Service (“DBRS"), the highest credit rating issued for Canadian commercial paper, and
backed by R1 (High) rated assets and liquidity agreements. This investment matured during Q3 2008,
but as a result of a lack of liquidity in the Canadian ABCP market, did not settle on maturity and is
considered to be in default.

Since Q3 2008, a pan-Canadian restructuring committee consisting of major investors has been
working to develop a solution to the liquidity problem affecting the ABCP market. The pan-Canadian
restructuring committee anticipates, following approval by the investors, a restructuring will be affected in
May 2008 which would result in the exchange of the ABCP currently held by investors for a variety of
new long-term floating rate notes. The majority of our ABCP investment will receive a AA credit rating by
DBRS.

Based on the defaulted status of our investment at February 28, 2008, we adjusted the carrying
amount to reflect the estimated fair value of the investment, recognized a related impairment charge of
$0.9 in Q4 2008 and reclassified the investment to available-for-sale within Long-tenmn investments on
the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Privately Held Equity Investments

Privately held equity investments are carried at the lower of cost or estimated fair value. For these
non-quoted.investments, we review the underlying performance of the privately-held companies to
determine if potential declines in estimated fair value exist and are other than temporary. Most recent
historic and projected operating results by investees are considered in the review.

5. INVENTORIES

Fehruary 29, | February 23,
Inventories 2008 2007

Finished goods . .. .. ... i i e $ 879 $ 864
WOrKiNprocess .. ... .o e e e 20.9 26.1
Rawmaterials . ... ... ... e e 67.5 61.9
176.3 174.4
LIFO reserve . .. ..o e e e {(29.6) (30.4)
$146.7 $144.0

The portion of inventories determined by the LIFO method aggregated $54.4 and $64.6 at
February 29, 2008 and February 23, 2007, respectively. The effect of LIFOQ liquidations on net income
was not material in 2008, 2007 or 2006.

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Estimated
. Useful Lives February 29, February 23,
Property, Plant and Equipment (Years} 2008 2007
Land. ... e — $ 440 $ 440
Buildings and improvements . ........... ... ... .. 10-40 5568.3 560.7
Machinery and equipment . . ....... ... ... ... ..., 3-15 836.5 9209
Furnitureandfixtures . ... .......... ... ... ..... 5- 8 B83.0 88.0
Leasehold improvements . . ... .................. 3-10 77.8 73.9
Capitalized software. ... ............ ... ... ...... 3-10 138.5 135.0
Construction iNprogress .. ... ... .o - 29.4 10.6
1,768.5 1,833.1
Accumulated depreciation . ........ ... ... . ..., (1,280.1) {1,356.0)
$ 4784 $ 47741

Depreciation expense on property, plant and equipment approximated $84.0 for 2008, $92.0 for
2007 and $110.7 for 2006. The estimated cost to complete construction in progress at February 29,
2008 was $60.8, which primarily relates to the replacement of a corporate aircraft, renovation of our
learning center and surrounding campus in Grand Rapids, Michigan and relocation of our showrooms in
the Chicago Merchandise Mart.

The net book value of capitalized software was $15.2 and $17.0 at February 29, 2008 and
February 23, 2007, respectively. The majority of capitalized software has an estimated useful life of 3 to
5 years. Approximately 20% of the gross value of capitalized software relates to our core enterprise
resource planning system, which has an estimated useful life of 10 years and is approximately 94%
depreciated as of February 29, 2008.
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Included in Other current assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets is property, plant and
equipment that has been reclassified as assets held for sale, which totaled $10.1 at February 29, 2008
and $10.5 at February 23, 2007. Real estate that is held for sale is stated at the lower of depreciated
cost or fair market value. .

7. COMPANY-OWNED LIFE INSURANCE

Investrments in company-owned life insurance policies were made with the intention of utilizing them
as a long-term funding source for post-retirement medical benefits, deferred compensation and supple-
mental retirement plan obligations aggregating $192.2 at February 29, 2008 with a related deferred tax
asset of $73.6. However, they do not represent a committed funding source for these obligations. They
are subject to claims from creditors, and we can designate them to another purpose at any time. The
policies are recorded at their net cash surrender values, as reported by the four issuing insurance
companies, whose Standard & Poor’s financial strength ratings range from AA to AAA, and totaled
$210.6 at February 29, 2008 and $209.2 at February 23, 2007.

Investments in company-owned life insurance consisted of $100.8 in traditional whole life policies
and $109.8 in variable life insurance policies at February 29, 2008. In the traditional whole life policies,
the investments return a set dividend rate that is periodically adjusted by the insurance companies based
on the performance of their long-term investment portfolio. While the amount of the dividend can vary
subject to a minimum dividend rate, the cash surrender value of these policies is not exposed to
negative returns in that the insurance companies guarantee a minimum dividend rate on these
investments. In the variable life policies, we are able to allocate the investments across a set of choices
provided by the insurance companies. At February 29, 2008, the investments in the variable life policies
were allocated 57% in fixed income securities and 43% in equity securities. The valuation of these
investments can fluctuate depending on changes in market interest fates and equity values. The net
changes in market valuation, normal insurance expenses and any death benefit gains are reflected in
Cost of sales and Operating expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Income. The net effect of
these items in 2008, 2007 and 2006 resulted in non-taxable income of approximately $4.1, $15.9 and
$10.7, respectively.

8. GOODWILL & OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

A summary of the changes in goodwill during the years ended February 29, 2008 and February 23,
2007, by reportable segment, is as follows:

North
Goodwill America | International Other Total

February 24,2006 ...............ivivvnnnn $43.7 $42.1 $1253 $211.1

Acquisiions . ....... .. . L 7.9 — — 7.9

Dispositions and adjustments ............... (1.8) (3.1) (4.2 {8.9)

Currency translation adjustment. . ... . ........ 0.4) 3.7 - 3.3
February 23,2007 ...... ... 49.6 427 1211 213.4

Acquisitions . ... ... 1.4 3.2 - 48

Dispositions and adjustments .. ............. (2.3) — 6.3) {7.6)

Currency translation adjustment. ............. 1.3 50 — 6.3
February 29,2008 ............cviiiiennnnn $50.0 $50.9 $115.8 $216.7
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At February 29, 2008 and February 23, 2007, our other intangible assets and related accumulated
amortization consisted of the following:

Weiaht - February 29, February 23,
g o o
Useful Life Accumulated Accumulated
Other intangible Assets {Years) Gross Amortization Net Gross Amortization Net
Intangible assets
subject to
amortization:
Proprietary
technology . ...... 11.9 $ 46.2 $28.3 $179 § 52.2 $25.0 $27.2
Trademarks ........ 9.5 351 23.3 11.8 29.7 24.8 4.9
Non-compete
agreements. .. .... 3.0 1.1 0.5 0.6 1.1 0.3 08
Other ............. 6.2 14.4 12.6 1.8 8.6 3.3 5.3
Total .......... 06.8 84,7 321 91.6 53.4 38.2
Intangible assets not
subject to
amortization:
Trademarks ........ n/a 16.8 — 16.8 26.4 — 26.4
Total intangible
assets . ...... $113.6 $64.7 $48.9 $118.0 $53.4 $64.6

As a result of our impairment testing in 2008 and 2007, we recorded non-cash impairment charges
related to PolyVision's contractor whiteboard business sold through a direct bid process of $21.1 and
$10.7, respectively, which are included in Operating expenses on the Consolidated Statements of
Income. Of these amounts, $5.3 and $3.3 related to goodwill, respectively, and $15.8 and $7.4 related
to intangible assets, respectively. Of the $15.8 impairment on PolyVision's intangible assets during 2008,
$6.0 related to intangible assets subject to amortization and $9.8 related to assets not subject to
amortization. In performing our impairment testing, we measured the estimated fair value of PolyVision
based on a discounted cash flow valuation. The discounted cash flow analysis was based on the
present value of projected cash flows over five years and a residual value. See the Critical Accounting
Estimates in Part I, ltem 7 of our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended February 29,
2008 for additional information regarding the specific nature of testing procedures performed.

During 2008, we acguired 100% of the outstanding stock of Ultra Group Company Limited. As a
result of the purchase price allocations, goodwill of $3.2 was recorded. Additionally, intangible assets of
$7.5 were recorded including $2.0 of trademarks, $1.2 of non-compete agreements and $4.3 of
intangible assets classified as “Cther” in the table above. The intangible assets have a combined
weighted-average useful life of 5.8 years. We also recorded $1.4 of goodwill during 2008 related to the
consolidation of a variable interest dealer.
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For 2008, we recorded amortization expense of $8.4 on intangible assets subject to amaortization
compared to $9.4 for 2007 and $8.7 for 2006. Based on the current amount of intangible assets subject
to amortization, the estimated amortization expense for each of the following five years is as follows:

| Year Ending February | Amount I
2009 .. $ 88
2010 . e 6.2
2001 L 4.8
2012 4.1
2013 3.4
Thereafter . . ... .. i 4.8

$32.1

As events, such as acquisitions, dispaositions or impairments occur in the future, these amounts may

vary.

9. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS AND LONG-TERM DEBT

Interest Rate Range Fiscal Year February 29, | February 23,
Debt Obligations at February 29, 2008 | Maturity Range 2008 2007
U.S. dollar obligations: _
Seniornotes (1} . ............. 6.5% 2012 $249.5 $249.4
Revolving credit facilities 2)(3) . . . — - - -
Notespayable . . ............. 6.5% 2009-2011 0.3 1.9
Capitalized lease obligations. . . . . 5.9%-7.0% 2009-2013 1.6 0.2
2514 2515
Foreign currency obligations:
Revolving credit facilities (3} .. ... 3.5%-8.3% 2009 7.3 3.5
Capitalized lease obligations. . . . . — - - 01
7.3 3.6
Total short-term borrowings and long-
termdebt ... ... ... 258.7 255.1
Short-term borrowings and current
portion of long-term debt (4) .. ... 8.2 5.1
Long-termdebt. .. .............. $250.5 $250.0

(1) During Q2 2007, we issued $250.0 of unsecured unsubordinated senior notes, due in August 2011

{2012 Notes"). The 2012 Notes were priced at 99.715% of par value. The bond discount of $0.7
- and direct debt issue costs of $1.9 were deferred and will be amortized over the life of the notes.

Although the coupon rate of the 2012 Notes is 6.5%, the effective interest rate is 6.3% after taking
into account the impact of the discount, offset by the deferred gain on interest rate locks related to
the debt issuance. The 2012 Notes rank equally with all of our other unsecured unsubordinated
indebtedness. The proceeds from the 2012 Notes were used to redeem $250.0 of senior subordi-
nated notes that were due in Novernber 2006 ("2006 Notes"). We may redesm some or all of the
2012 Notes at any time at the greater of the full principal amount of the notes being redeemed, or
the present value of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest discounted to the
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redemption date on a semi-annual basis at the corresponding treasury rate plus 25 basis points,
plus, in both cases, accrued and unpatd interest.

{2) We have a $200.0 global committed bank facility. At February 29, 2008 and February 23, 2007, we

had no borrowings against the facility. Qur obligations under the facility are unsecured and unsubordi-
nated. We may, at our option, and subject to certain conditions, request to increase the aggregate
commitment by up to $100.0 by obtaining at least one commitment from one or more lenders. We
can use borrowings under this facility for general corporate purpeses, including friendly acquisitions.
Maturities range from overmight to six months as determined by us, subject to certain limitations.
Interest on borrowings of a term of one month or greater is based on LIBOR plus a margin or a base
rate, as selscted by us. Interest on borrowings of a term of less than one month is based on prime
rate plus a margin or a base rate. The facility requires us to satisfy financial covenants including a
maximum debt ratio covenant and a minimum interest coverage ratio covenant. At February 29,

2008 and February 23, 2007, we were in compliance with all covenants under this facility.

(3) We entered into agreements with certain financial institutions, which provide for borrowings on unse-

cured non-committed short-term credit facilities of up to $47.3 of U.S. dollar obligations and $68.3 of
foreign currency obligations at February 29, 2008. Interest rates are variable and determined by
agreement at the time of borrowing. These agreements expire within one year, but may be renewed
annually, subject to certain conditions. Short-term borrowings on these facilities totaled $7.3 and
$3.5 at February 29, 2008 and February 23, 2007, respectively. In addition to the borrowings, we
had $23.7 and $28.0 at February 29, 2008 and February 23, 2007, respectively, in outstariding
standby letters of credit against these facilities which primarily relate to our self-insured workers’ com-
pensation programs. We had no draws against our standby letters of credit during 2008 or 2007.

{4) The weighted-average interest rates for short-term borrowings and the current portion of long-term

debt were 6.1% and 6.0% at February 29, 2008 and February 23, 2007, respectively.

The annua! maturities of short-term borrowings and long-term debt for each of the following four

years is as follows is as follows:

| Year Ending February I Amount I
2009 ... e $ 82
2000 e e 0.6
2011 e 0.3
2012 e 249.6

$258.7

10. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN OBLIGATIONS

February 29, | February 23,

Employee Benefit Plan Obligations 2008 2007

Defined contribution retirementptans . ... ... ... ... . ... $ 215 $ 159
Post-retirement medical benefits . ... ... ... .. o L 132.8 135.9
Defined benefit pensionplans . .......... .. ... ... 326 389
Deferred compensation plans and agreements . . . .......... 35.5 34.6

2224 2253
Current portion . . ... .. e e 39.0 34.2
long-termportion. . ....... .. . e $183.4 $191.1
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Defined Contribution Retirement Plans

Substantially all of our U.S. employees are eligible to participate in defined contribution retirement
plans, primarily the Steelcase Inc. Retirement Plan (the “Retirement Plan”). Company contributions,
including 401(k) matching contributions, and 401(k) pre-tax employee contributions fund the Retirement
Plan. All contributions are made to a trust, which is held for the sole benefit of participants. For certain
participating locations, the Retirement Plan requires minimum annual Company contributions of 5% of
eligible annual compensation. Additional Company contributions for this plan are discretionary and
declared by our Compensation Committee at the end of each fiscal year. At February 29, 2008, the
Company-funded portion of the trust had net assets of approximately $1.2 billion. Our other defined
contribution retirement plans provide for matching contributions and/or discretionary contributions
declared by management.

Total expense under all defined contribution retirement plans was $30.2 for 2008, $19.7 for 2007
and $20.4 for 2006. The increase in expense in 2008 is primarily due to an increase in Company 401(k)
matching contributions. We expect to expense approximately $32 related to our defined contribution
plans in 2009.

Post-Retirement Medical Benefits

We maintain post-retirement benefit plans that provide medical and life insurance benefits to certain
North American based retirees and eligible dependents. We accrue the cost of post-retirement insurance
benefits during the service periods of employees based on actuarial calculations for each plan. These
plans are unfunded, but we purchased company-owned life insurance policies with the intention of
utilizing them as a long-term funding source for post-retirement medical benefits and other employee
cbligations. See Note 7 for additional information. These policies generate income that offsets the
expense of benefit obligations, however we do not expect the cash flows to match. Because we intend
to hold the policies until maturity, the policies will likely generate insufficient cash to cover the obligation
payments over the next several years, and will generate excess cash in the later years.

Total expense under post-retirement medical benefit plans was $0.7 for 2008, $3.0 for 2007 and
$6.7 for 2006. Medicare changes, workforce reductions and plan amendments contributed to the
reduction in total expense over the past three years.

The Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modemization Act of 2003 {the “Medicare Act”)
entitles employers who provide certain prescription drug benefits for retirees to receive a federal subsidy,
thereby creating the potential for benefit cost savings. We provide retiree drug benefits through our
U.S. post-retirement benefit plans that exceed the value of the benefits that will be provided by Medicare
Part D. In 2008, 2007 and 2006, the Medicare Act reduced pre-tax post-retirernent expense by $4.3,
$5.5 and $5.0, respectively.

Due to workforce reductions in the past three years, curtailment accounting rules were triggered,
and we recognized plan curtaiment gains of $1.1 in 2008, $1.4 in 2007 and $2.5 in 2006.

In Q3 2007, we remeasured our accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation (*APBO”) as of
November 24, 2006 due to an amendment for changes in our survivor benefits. As a result of the
remeasurement, the APBO decreased by $20.4 and reduced expense by $0.8 in Q4 2007.

Defined Benefit Pension Plans

Our defined benefit pension plans include various qualified domestic and foreign retirement plans as
well as non-qualified supplemental retirement plans that are limited to a select group of management
approved by the Compensation Committee. The accrued benefit plan obligation for the non-gualified
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supplemental retirement plans is primarily related to the Steelcase Inc. Executive Supplemental Retire-
ment Plan. This plan is unfunded, but we have purchased company-owned life insurance policies with
the intention of utilizing them as a long-term funding source for the plan and other post-retirement
benefit plan obligations. See Note 7 for additional information. Qur foreign plans are subject to currency
translation impacts. The funded status of our defined benefit pension plans is as follows:

Defined Benefit Pension
Plan Ohligations

February 29, February 23,
2008 2007
. Non-qualified . Non-gualified
CQualified Plans Supplemental Qualified Plans Supplemental
Domestic I Foreign | Retirement Plans | Domestic | Foreign | Retirernent Plans

Planassets........

Projected benefit plan

obligations. ... ...

Funded status. ... ..

Long-term asset . . ..
Current liability . . . ...

Long-term liability. . . .

Total accrued benefit
plan obligations . . .

Accumulated benefit
obligation. .......

$95  $47.7
8.0 55.7
$15  $ (8.0)
$16 $ 25
0.1  (10.5)
$15  $ (8.0
$80  $523

$ —

21.8

99|99
— \%]
= 1=
o ©
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’ o
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©
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$105  $430 $ —
9.2 55.4 23.4
$ 1.3  $(12.4 $(23.4
$18 $ 26 $ —
— — (2.5)
{0.5) (15.0) {20.9)
$ 1.3  $(12.4) $(23.4
$ 92 $52.1 $20.1
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Summary Disclosures for Defined Benefit Pension and Post-retirement Plans

The following tables summarize our defined benefit pension and post-retirement plans. Prior to
2008, we used a measurement date of December 31 for our foreign pension plans, and the last day of
our fiscal year for our domestic pension plans, non-qualified supplemental retirement plans and foreign
and domestic post-retirement plans. In 2008 as required by SFAS No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for
Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Pians—an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87,
88, 106 and 132(R), all of our defined benefit pension and post-retirement plans used a measurement
_ date of February 29, 2008. The adoption of the year-end measurement date in 2008 did not have a

material impact on our financial statements.

Defined Benefit

Post-retirement

Pension Plans Plans

Changes in Projected Benefit Obligations, Assets and February 29, February 23, | February 28, February 23,
Funded Status 2608 2007 2008 2007
Change in benefit obligations:
Projected benefit plan obligations, beginning of

VEAE ot $88.0 $89.7 $135.9 $162.9
Servicecost .. ... 2.3 2.4 1.2 1.6
Inferestcost . ........ ... ... L 5.0 4.4 7.7 8.7
Amendments .. ... e — — - (20.4)
Net actuarial loss (gain}. ... ............... {7.6) {(3.8) (1.9 (7.9}
Plan participants’ contributions .. ........... - — 5.7 55
Estimated Medicare subsidies received .. ... .. — — 1.1 1.1
Currency changes. .. ... .. oo 4.6 4.4 0.8 {©.1)
Adjustment due to plan curtaillment . ....... .. — {0.5) (C.1) {0.2)
Adjustment due to plan settlement . ......... 0.1 0.2 - -
Benefitspaid .......................... 6.8) {7.3) (17.7) (15.3)
Other adjustments ...................... — {1.5) — —
Projected benefit plan obligations, end of year . . 85.6 88.0 132.7 135.9
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year . ... 53.5 49.9 — -
Actual returnonplanassets ............... {0.8) 39 — -
Employer contributiong .. ...... .. ... L 7.5 4.4 10.9 8.7
Plan participants’ contributions . . .. ......... — — 5.7 5.5
Estimated Medicare subsidies received ... . ... - — 1.1 1.1
Currency changes. .. .....ovee e en v nny 3.8 26 — -
Beneftspaid .......................... (6.8) {7.3) (17.7) (15.3)
Fair value of plan assets, end of year. .. ... ... 57.2 53.5 — —
Fundedstatus ......................... $(28.4) $(34.5) $(132.7) $(135.9)
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Defined Benefit

Post-retirement

Pension Plans Plans

Changes in Projected Benefit Obligations, Assets and February 29, February 23, February 29, February 23,
Funded Status 2008 2007 2008 2007
Amounts recognized on the consolidated

balance sheets:
Prepaid pension costs. . .. .....coivrtn .. $ 4.1 $ 44 $ - $ -
Curent liahility .......... ... ... ... .... {(1.8) (2.5) (10.0) (10.0)
Long-term liability . ......... ... ... ... . ..., {30.9) (36.4) {122.7) (125.9)

Net amountrecognized. . .................

Amounts recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive gain (loss)—pretax:
Actuarial (gainjloss. . ... ... ...
Prior service cost (credity. .. .. ... ... ...
Transition obligation ... ..................

Total amounts recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive gain {loss)—pretax. ... .....

Estimated amounts to be amortized from
accumulated other comprehensive gain
{loss) into net periodic benefit cost over
the next fiscal year:

Actuarial (gainjless . . ... ... ... oL

Priorservice cost (credit) . ... ... ... ...

Transition obligation . ....................

Total amounts recognized in accumufated other
comprehensive gain (loss)—pretax.........

56

$(28.4) $(34.5)

$ 6.7 $ 92

0.5 0.5
$ 7.2 $ 97
$ 04

0.1

0.5

$(132.7) $(135.9)

$ 26 $ 44
@41.7) (49.5)

$ (39.1) $ (45.1)

@
I

{7.1)
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STEELCASE INC.

Compaonents of
Expense and
Weighted-Average
Assumptions

Pension Plans

Post-Retirement Plans

Year Ended

Year Ended

February 29,
2008

February 23,

2007

February 24,
2006

February 29,
2008

February 23,
2007

Febsuary 24,
2006

Components of
expense:

Service cost
Interest cost
Amortization of net (gain)

Amortization of prior year
service cost (credit). . .

Amortization of transition
{asset) obligation. . . . .

Expected return on plan
assets . . .. ........
Adjustment due to plan
curtailment. . .. ... ..
Adjustment due to plan
settlement
Adjustment due to
special termination
bengfits . ..........

Net expense

Expense recognized in
beginning retained
garnings (change in
measurement date) . . .

Net expense recognized
in consolidated
staternents of
income

0.2

©
4]
w

$24
4.3

(3.4)
(0.4)

0.1

&
o
=

©
5N
-

$29
4.4

©“r
(%]
v
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$1.2
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7.1

(1.1)

I

@
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$ 16
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. 01
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Components of
Expense and
Weighted-Average
Assumptions

Pension Plans

‘Post-Retirement Plans

Year Ended

Year Ended

February 29,
2008

February 23,
2007

February 24,
2006

February 29,

2008

February 23,
2007

February 24,

2006

Other changes in plan
assets and benefit
obligations
recognized in other
comprehensive
income (loss) (pre-
tax):

Net loss (gain)

Prior service cost
fcredity. ...........

Amortization of gain
floss).............

Amortization of prior year
service (credit) cost . . .

Amortization of

transitional assst
(obligation) . . ... .. ..

Total recognized in other
comprehensive incoms
floss)

Total recognized in net
periodic benefit cost
and other
comprehensive income
{loss) (pre-tax). ... ...

Weighted-average
assumptions used to
determine benefit
obligations:

Discount rate. . ... ....

Rate of salary
progression

Weighted-average
assumptions used to
determine net
periodic benefit
cost:

Discount rate. .. ......

Expected return on plan
assets

Rate of salary
progression

${2.7)

0.2)

@.1)

6.25%

3.75%

5.50%

6.75%

4.00%

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

5.25%

3.50%

5.25%

5.40%

3.30%

n‘a

n‘a

n/a

n/a

na

n/a

5.00%

3.00%

4.50%

5.50%

3.00%
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o
©
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6.50%

5.80%

4.50%

n/a

r/a

n/a

n‘a

na

n‘a

n/a

5.90%

5.70%

4.50%

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

na

5.70%

5.60%

4.50%
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We set the discount rate assumption annlLJaIIy for each of our retirement-related benefit plans at their
respective measurement dates to reflect the ylleld of a portfolio of high quality, fixed-income debt
instruments matched against the timing and amounts of projected future benefit costs. In evaluating the
expected return on plan assets, we conSIdered the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets
based on the specific allocation of assets for elach plan, an analysis of current market conditions and the
views of leading financial advisors and economists.

The assumed healthcare cost trend was 10.7% for pre-65 retirees and 10% for post-65 retirees at
February 29, 2008, gradually declining to 4.5% after 11 years. At February 23, 2007, the assumed
healthcare cost trend was 9.3% gradually declining to 4.5% in 2016 and thereafter. A one percentage
point change in assumed healthcare cost trend rates would have the following effects at February 29,
2008:

|

One percentage One percentage

Health Cost Trend Sensitivifty point increase point decrease
Effect on total of service and interest co‘lst compoenents. . $0.3 $(0.3)
Effect on post-retirement benefit obligation. ... ....... $5.5 $(5.3)

Our pension plans’ weighted-average investment allocation strategies and weighted-average target
asset allocations by asset category at February 29, 2008 and February 23, 2007 are in the following
table. The target allocations are established by the investment committees of each plan after consider-
ation of the associated risk and expected return of the underlying investments.

February 28, 2008 February 23, 2007
Actual Target Actual Target
Asset Category Allocations Allocations Allocations Allccations
Equity securities ................. 46% 48% - 50% 48%
Debtsecurities . ................. 37 33 31 33
Realestate..................... | 3 3 3 3
Other (1). ..o, 14 15 16 16
10 P ' 100% 100% 100% 100%

(1) Represents guaranteed insurance contracts, m'oney market funds and cash.

We expect to contribute approximately $3 to our pension plans and $12 to our post-retirement
plans in 20098. Our estimated future cash outflows for benefit payments under our pension and post-

retirement plans are as follows:
| Post-retirernent Plans
‘ Before
Medicare Act Medicare Act | After Medicare
Year Ending February Pension Plans Subsidy Subsidy Act Subsidy

2009 ... $ 66 $11.8 $ (1.4 $10.4
2010 .\ 6.2 12.1 (1.6) 105
2000 ... 41 12.5 {1.8) 10.7
2012 ... ... ... 4.3 12.8 (2.0) 10.8
2013 . ... ... 58 12.8 (2.2 10.6
2014-2018........... 24.8 68.2 (13.5) 54,7
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Deferred Compensation Plans and Agreements

We have deferred compensation obligations to certain employees who elected to defer a portion of
their salary each year for a period of one to five years, These deferred compensation obligations are
unfunded, but we purchased company-owned life insurance policies with the intention of utilizing them
as a future funding source for the deferred compensation obligation and other post-retirement benefit
plan obligations. See Note 7 for additional information. We also maintain a deferred compensation plan
that is intended to restore retirement benefits that would otherwise be paid under the Retirement Plan,
but are precluded as a result of the limitations on eligible compensation under Internal Revenue Code
Section 401(a){17). Deferred compensation expense, which represents annual participant earnings on
amounts that have been deferred, and restoration retirement benefits were $2.9 for 2008, $3.0 for 2007
and $2.8 for 20086, :

11. CAPITAL STRUCTURE
Terms of Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock

The holders of common stock are generally entitled to vote as a single class on all matters upon
which shareholders have a right to vote, subject to the requirements of applicable laws and the rights of
any outstanding series of Preferred Stock to vote as a separate class. Each share of Class A Common
Stock entitles its holder to one vote and each share of Class B Common Stock entitles its holder to 10
votes. The Class B Common Stock is convertible into Class A Common Stock cn a share-for-share
basis {i) at the option cf the holder at any time, (i) upon transfer to a person or entity which is not a
Permitted Transferee (as defined in our Second Restated Articles of Incorporation), (i) with respect to
shares of Class B Common Stock acquired after February 20, 1998, at such time as a corpoeration,
partnership, limited liability company, trust or charitable organization holding such shares ceases to be
controlled or owned 100% by Permitted Transferees and (iv} on the date on which the number of shares
of Class B Comron Stock outstanding is less than 15% of all of the then outstanding shares of
Common Stock (calculated without regard to voting rights).

Except for the voting and conversion features described above, the terms of Class A Common

" Stock and Class B Common Stock are generally simitar. That is, the holders are entitled to equal
dividends when declared by the Board of Directors and generally will receive the same per share
consideration in the event of a merger and be treated on an equal per share basis in the event of a
liquidation or winding up of the Company. In addition, we are not entitled to issue additional shares of
Class B Common Stock, or issue options, rights or warrants to subscribe for additional shares of Class B
Common Stock, except that we may make a pro rata offer to all holders of common stock of rights to
purchase additional shares of the class of common stock held by them, and any dividend payable in
.common stock will be paid in the form of Class A Common Stock to Class A holders and Class B
Common Stock to Class B holders. Neither class of stock may be split, divided or combined unless the
other class is proporticnally split, divided or combined.

Preferred Stock

Cur Second Restated Articles of Incorporation authorize our Board of Directors, without any vote or
action by our shareholders, to create one or more series of Preferred Stock up to the limit of our
authorized but unissued shares of Preferred Stock and to fix the designations, preferences, rights,
qualifications, limitations and restrictions thereof, including the voting rights, dividend rights, dividend
rate, conversion rights, terms of redemption (including sinking fund provisions), redemption price or
prices, liquidation preferences and the number of shares constituting any series.

60




|
|

STEELCASE INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

‘Share Repurchases and Conversions '

During 2008, we repurchased 7.7 million shares of our Class A Common Stock and 1.7 million
shares of our Class B Common Stock for $165 3. All of the Class B shares were repurchased from
entities affiiated with a member of our Board of Directors for $33.0. Additionally during 2008, 6.1 million
shares of our Glass B Common Stock were copverted to Class A Common Stock.

Special Cash Dividend ' |

In Q4 2008, the Board of Directors declared a special cash dividend of $1.75 per share on our
Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock. The payment of this dividend aggregated $247.5.

12. INCOME TAXES ‘

Provision for Income Taxes '

The provision for income taxes on income Ibei’ore income taxes consists of:

; Year Ended
| February 28, | February 23, | February 24,
Provision for Incoms Taxes 2008 2007 2006
Current income taxes (benefit): i 7
Federal ...........cvvvnn... L $46.1 $ 0.7 $11.9
Stateandlocal . ................ b 50 (1.1) {5.3)
FOrBIGN « o vvveeieeeee e Lo 17.5 14.6 19.0
68.6 3.8 25.6
Ceferred income taxes —temporary differences:
Federal .. ...vovei (4.4) (6.9) (5.2)
Stateandiocal............. ... 0 ... {0.4) 0.2 2.3
Foreign ....... ... . ... oo oo 0.2 11.6 3.3
| {4.6} 4.9 0.4
Deferred income taxes—other: .
Net operating loss utilization. . . ... ... L 11.5 22.6 1.5
Adjustments arising due to changes in t
rates . ... . 3.2 - -
Valuation allowance adjustments ... ... ! ...... {0.5) (13.6) —
: ' 14.2 9.0 1.5
Income tax expense. . ......... ... ‘ ...... $78.2 $17.7 $27.5

|
|

Income taxes were based on the following :lsources of income before income tax expense:

| Year Ended
L February 29, | February 23, | February 24,
Source of Income Before Income Tax Expense 2008 2007 2006
DOMESHC. . .ottt $135.5 $ 74.0 $42.5
Foreign ...... ... iiii o, | ...... 75.9 50.6 33.9
$211.4 $124.6 $76.4
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The total income tax expense we recognized is reconciled to that computed by applying the federal

statutory tax rate of 35% as follows:

(1)

{4

Year Ended
February 29, | February 23, | February 24,

Income Tax Provision (Benefit) Recongiliation 2008 2007 2006
Tax expense at the U.S. federal statutory rate. . . $74.0 $43.6 $26.7
Corporate-owned lifeinsurance .. ........... (1.4) {5.6) (3.7)
US. researchtaxcredit . .................. (2.6) {3.3) (2.3)
Medicare Part Dbenefits . . . ... ...... ... ... {1.5) {1.9) (2.2)
Valuation allowance provisions . . ............ {0.8) 3.8 8.5
Valuation allowance adjustments (1} .......... (1.5) (13.8) -
Tax reserve adjustments (2) ................ — (7.5) (1.3)
Foreign tax credit adjustments (3). ........... — {4.0) -
Enactedratechanges (4} . . ................ 3.2 - —
Other. .. ... . 8.8 6.2 38
Total income tax expense recognized .. ... . ... $78.2 $17.7 27.5

Valuation allowances have been recognized when, based on available evidence, it is more likely than
not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. In 2008 and 2007, certain
valuation allowances were adjusted as a result of improved profitability and implementation of certain
tax pltanning strategies.

Reserves were adjusted in 2007 to better reflect our estimates of potential audit exposures. In addi-
tion, we received a “no change” letter from tax authorities associated with a 3-year audit of a foreign
location. The change in reserves for 2006 was a result of a favorable U.S. Internal Revenue Service
("IRS") appeal settlement. -

Due to net operating losses and foreign tax credit carryovers in the U.S., we elected to deduct for-
eign taxes paid during 2004 through 2006. As a result of improved profitability and the utilization of
all U.S. net operating foss carryovers, we reversed this election and claimed foreign tax credits
through amended tax returns. The resulting foreign tax credit carryover is expected to be fully utilized
within the 10-year carryover period, and thus, we recorded the expected benefit in 2007.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable
income in the years in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets

and liabilities were adjusted in 2008 to reflect tax law and rate changes enacted in Germany, United

Kingdem, Mexico and Canada.
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Deferred Taxes l

The significant compenents of deferred incfome taxes are as follows:

‘E February 28, February 23,
Deferred Income Taxes 2008 2007

Deferred income tax assets: ‘
Employee benefit plan obligations. . .L................. $119.7 $113.2
Foreign and domestic operating I0SSES. . . oot 949 101.5
Reserves and accruals. . ......... L 335 32.4
Tax credit carryforwards . . . ..... .. e ' 16.3 24.2
0115 = S L 133 8.7
Total deferred income taxassets . ..0................. 277.7 280.0
Valuation allowance . ............ L _(29.1) _(28.8
Net deferred income tax assets .. .. ! ................. 248.6 251.2
Deferred income tax liabilities: |
Property, plant and equipment . ... 1. 371 391
Other. .. e e e 2.0 1.4
Total deferred income tax liabilities . . | ................. 3941 40.5
Net deferred income taxes. . ......... L $209.5 $210.7
Net deferred income taxes is comprised of the following
components:
Deferred tax assets—eurrent .. ... ......... ... ..., $ 5241 $ 608
Deferred tax assets—non-current . . . ' ................. 161.3 161.7
Deferred tax ligbilities—current . . ... ... .. o L 0.2 0.2
Deferred tax liabilities—non-current. . | ................. 37 1.6

During 2008, we recorded net deferred tax liabilities for U.S. income taxes of $0.5 on $6.1 in
cumulative undistributed eamings of non-U.S. sub5|d1anes as these earnings are currently not intended
to be indefinitely reinvested in those operations. \We have not recorded any deferred taxes on $264.5 in
cumulative undistributed tax-basis earnings and|profits of other non-U.S. subsidiaries because the
earnings are intended to be indefinitely reinvested in those operations. Accrued income taxes on the
undistributed tax-basis earnings and profits of domestlc subsidiaries and affiliates are not provided
because dividends received from domestic companles are expected to be non-taxable.

Current Taxes Payable or Refundable

Income taxes currently payable or refundable are reported on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as
follows:

i
| February 29, February 23,

Current iIncome Taxes, 2008 2007

Other current assets: |
Current income taxes receivable. . . . . : ................ $ 95 $31.5

Accrued expenses: Income taxes payable;
Income taxes currently payable ... .. | ................ 7.9 9.7
Unrecognized tax benefits . ........ . ............... 11.6 15.0
$19.5 $24.7
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Operating Loss and Tax Credit Carryforwards

Operating loss and tax credit carryforwards expire as follows:

Gross Operating Loss
Carryforwards Tax Effected Operating Loss Carryforwards Tax Credit

Year Ending February Federai l State ] Imternational | Federal l State I internationa! | Total Canryforwards
2009............ $ — $ 35 $ 22 $— $0.2 $ 06 $ 08 $—
2010 .. ... ... 1.8 3.9 5.8 0.6 0.2 1.3 2.1 -
P01 I 25 0.3 4.6 0.9 - 1.5 2.4 -
02,0000, - 0.4 7.3 - - 1.7 1.7 8.8
2013-2027 . .. ..... 12.4 149.7 6.4 4.4 7.9 16 13.9 7.5
No expiration . .. ... — — 229.1 — — 740 74.0 —

$16.7 $157.8 $255.4 58 8.3 80.7 84.9 16.3
Valuation allowance . . . — 0.2) {28.9) {29.1) —
Net benefit. . ... ... $59 $8.1 $51.8 $65.8 $16:3

Future tax benefits for operating loss and tax credit carryforwards are recognized to the extent that
realization of these benefits is considered more likely than not. It is considered more likely than not that a
benefit of $82.1 will be realized on these operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. This determination
is based on the expectation that related operations will be sufficiently profitable or various tax, business
and other planning strategies available to us will enable utilization of the carryforwards.

FIN 48

As of February 29, 2008 the liability for uncertain tax positions including interest and penalties
reported on the Consolidated Balance Sheet was as follows:

February 28,
Liability for Uncertain Tax Positions 2008
Accrued expenses: Incometaxespayable .. ... ..o o i i $11.6
Cther long-term liabilities. . .. ... ... ... .. . . . 0.9
$12.5

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balance of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

February 29,
Unrecognized Tax Benefits 2008
Balance at February 24, 2007 . . . .. ... . e $11.1
Additions: '
Positions related tothe currentyear . . . ... .. .. i 09
Positions of prioryears . ... ... i i e —
Reductions: .
Positions related tothecumrentyear . .. ... ... oo o oL —
Positions of prioryears ......... ... . . . —
Settlements with taxing authorities . ... .. ... ... .. ... ... . .. . ..., 0.2
Lapse of statutes of limitation. . .. .......... .. .. ... oo —
Balance at February 29, 2008 . . ... ..ot e $11.8
Interestand penalties . ....... ... . 0.7
$12.5
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All of the amounts of unrecognized tax ber:1eﬁts reported affect the effective tax rate.

We recognize interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions in income tax expense.
Tax expense in 2008 includes $0.5 of accrued interest and penalties on these uncertain tax positions.
We had $0.7 and $0.2 accrued for interest and penalties as of February 29, 2008, and February 24,
2007, respectively. |

Our federal income tax returns for fiscal years 2004 through 2008 are currently under examination
by the IRS in connection with our participation |n the Compliance Assurance Process. We expect the
IRS examination to close within the next 12 months however, at this time it is not possible to estimate
the impact on the unrecognized tax benefits recorded We also file in numerous state and foreign
jurisdictions with varying statutes of limitation. While it is often difficult to predict the final outcome or the
timing of resolution of any particular uncertain tax position, we believe our liability for uncertain tax
positions reflects the most probable cutcome. We adjust these reserves, as well as the related interest,

in light of changing facts and circumstances. |
13. STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN

Awards currently outstanding under the Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan (the “Incentive
Compensation Plan") include restricted shares, restricted stock units, performance shares, performance
units and non-qualified stock options.

The Compensation Committee of our Boar%j of Directors has authority, subject 1o the provisions of
the Incentive Compensation Plan, to determine: ‘

¢ persons to whom awards under the Incentrve Compensation Plan will be made (awards granted
to our Chief Executive Officer require ap[:froval of our Board of Directors),

* gxercise price, |
¢ vesting, |
» size and type of such awards and l

. L L s . .
* specific performance goals, restrictions on transfer and circumstances for forfeiture applicable to

awards. |

A variety of awards may be granted under the Incentive Gompensation Plan including stock options,
stock appreciation rights (“SARs"), restricted stock restricted stock units, performance shares, perfor-
mance units, cash-based awards, phantom shares and other share-based awards. QOutstanding awards
under the Incentive Compensation Plan vest over a period of three to five years, or at the time a
participant becomes a qualified retiree. Stock optrons granted under the Incentive Compensation Plan
may be either incentive stock options intended to qualify under Section 422 of the Code or non-qualified
stock options not so intended. The Board may amend or terminate the Incentive Compensation Plan at
its discretion subject to certain provisions as strpulated within the ptan.

In the event of a “change of control,” as defined in the Incentive Compensation Plan,

* all outstanding options and SARs granted under the Incentive Compensation Plan will become
immediately exercisable and remain exercisable throughout their entire term;

* any performance-based conditions rmposed with respect to outstanding awards shall be deemed
to be fully earned and a pro rata portion of each such outstanding award granted for all
outstanding performance periods shall become payable in shares of Class A Common Stock, in
the case of awards denominated in shares of Class A Common Stock, and in cash, in the case of
awards denominated in cash, with the remalnder of such award being canceled for no value; and
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* all restrictions imposed on restricted stock and restricted stock units that are not performance-
based shall lapse. :

We reserved for issuance 25,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock under our Incentive
Compensation Plan, as amended and restated February 24, 2007. As of February 29, 2008, there were
13,966,630 shares remaining for future issuance under our Incentive Compensation Plan.

Restricted Stock

Under the Incentive Compensation Plan, the Compensation Committee may approve the granting of
restricted shares of Class A Common Stock and restricted stock units (“RSUs") to certain employees.
Restricted shares and RSUs will be forfeited if a participant leaves our company for reasons other than
retirement, disability, death or termination by us without cause prior to the vesting date. These
restrictions on the restricted shares and RSUs generally lapse three years after the date of grant, at
which time they are converted to unrestricted shares of Class A Common Stock.

In 20086, prior to adopting SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment (*SFAS No. 123(R)"), the
aggregate market value on the grant date of the restricted shares was recorded as common stock and
deferred compensation, a separate component of shareholders’ equity. Upon adopting SFAS No. 123(R)
in 2007, the deferred compensaticn account was netted against common stock. Restricted shares are
now expensed and recorded in common stock over the vesting period based on the value of the shares
on the grant date. RSUs are expensed and recorded in Additional paid-in capital on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets over the three-year vesting period based on the value of the shares on the grant date.

In Q1 2009, the Compensation Committee awarded a portion of long-term incentive compensation
for certain key employees in the form of RSUs totaling 264,569 shares. These RSUs, which were
awarded based on 2008 performance, will vest ratably over a subsequent three-year period or at the
time a participant becomes a qudlified retiree. In 2008, $1.7 was recognized as incentive compensation
expense relating to these RSUs. An additional $1.3 will be recognized over the remaining vesting period.
These RSUs and associated expense are not reflected below.

Total restricted stock and RSU expense and associated tax benefit in 2008, 2007 and 2006 were as
follows:

Year Ended
February 29, | February 23, | February 24,
Restricted Stock and RSU Expense 2008 2007 2006
Restricted stock and RSU expense . ......... $1.6 $2.8 $3.1
Taxbenefit............... ... ... .. ... 0.5 1.0 1.2

Holders of restricted stock receive cash dividends equal to the dividends we declare and pay on our
Class A Common Stock, which is included in Dividends paid on the Consolidated Staternents of Cash
Flows. Holders of RSUs receive quarterly cash payments equal to the dividend we declare and pay on
our Class A Common Stock, which are expensed as paid.

The Board of Directors and the Compensation Commitiee have delegated to the Chief Executive
Officer the administrative authority to award restricted shares and RSUs to employees, subject to certain
limitations and the provisions of the Incentive Compensation Plan. The limitations include the persons to
whom such awards may be granted, the number of shares of restricted stock and RSUs that may be
awarded in any plan year and the number of shares of restricted stock and RSUs that may be awarded
to any individual in one plan year.
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The 2008 activity for restricted stock and TSUS is as follows:

l Weighted-Average

L Restricted Grant Date

Restricted Stock Fair Value

Nonvested Shares Shares Units Total per Share
Nonvested at February 23, 2007 . . 4C:J3.4OO 85,2560 498,650 $13.94
Granted ........ ... ... 209,280 14,510 223,790 13.99
Vested ................. (295,7 15)  (57,440) (353,155) 13.37
Forfeited . .« v vve e (9,845) (25000  (12,345) 13.58
Nonvested at February 29, 2008 . . 307,120 49,820 356,940 14.34

At February 29, 2008, there was $0.8 of relmarnmg unrecognized compensation cost related to
restricted stock and RSUs. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of
0.8 years. The total fair value of shares and RSUs vested during 2008 was $7.0. No shares vested prior

to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R).
1

| Year Ended
' | February 29, | February 23, | February 24,
Grant Date Fair Value per Share 2008 . 2007 2006
Weighted-average grant date fair value per share
of restricted shares and RSUs granted during
2008, 2007 and 2006. .. ......... 1. ... $13.99 $17.43 $13.72

Performance Shares and Performance Units

tn Q1 2008, we awarded performance shares and performance units (*“PSUs" under the Incentive
Compensation Plan. The performance measures for the 2008 awards were based on a combination of
absolute and relative total shareholder return dunng a performance period of 2008 through 2010. After
completion of the performance period for these performance shares and PSUs, the number of shares
earned will be determined and issued as Class A Cormmon. Stock.

For performance shares and PSUs granted‘fin 2008 and 2007, the shares will vest in full and be
issued as shares of Class A Common Stock at the end of the applicable performance period. For
performance shares and PSUs granted prior to 2007 one-third of the shares vest at the end of the
applicable performance period, and the remarnmg two-thirds vest over the following two years. For
performance shares, the number of shares earned will be issued as restricted shares of Class A
Common Stock at the end of the performance perlod subject to vesting, and for PSUs, the number of
shares earned will be issued as Class A Common Stock as they vest.

Performance shares and PSUs are expensed and recorded in Additional paid-in capital on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets over the performance and vesting pericds based on the market value on
the grant date and the estimated number of shares to ke issued.
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The performance shares expense and associated tax benefit in 2008, 2007 and 2006 were as
follows:

Year Ended
February 29, Fehruary 23, February 24,
Performance Shares 2008 2007 2008
Performance shares expense . .. .......ov. .. $2.4 $3.3 $1.6
Taxbenefit. ......... ... ... . . ... .. ..... 09 1.2 0.6

For both performance shares and PSUs, a dividend equivalent is calculated on the basis of the
actual number of shares earned at the end of the applicable performance period. The dividend equivalent
is equal to the dividends that would have been payable on the earned shares had they been held during
the entire performance pericd, including the special cash dividend paid in January 2008. The dividend
equivalents on performance shares and PSUs are expensed and accrued over the performance period.
At the end of the performance period, the dividend equivalents will be paid in the form of cash or Class A
Common Stock, at the discretion of the Board of Directors. During any vesting period following the
performance pericd, holders of performance shares will receive cash dividends on the shares earned,
and holders of PSUs will receive quarterly cash payments on the shares earned equal {o the dividend we
declare and pay on our Class A Common Stock.

The performance pericd for the performance shares and PSUs granted in 2005 was completed at
the end of 2007, and 282,000 shares were earned based on actual results compared to the
performance criteria. One third of the shares earned were issued as shares of Class A Common Stock in
Q1 2008. The total fair value of these shares was $1.9. The remaining shares were issued as restricted
shares or RSUs and vest in equal installments at the end of 2008 and 2008. No performance shares or
PSUs vested prior to 2008.

The number of shares of Class A Common Stock that ultimately may be issued on the performance
shares where the performance period has not been completed ranges from zero to 712,000 shares
based on actual performance levels. The 2008 activity for performance shares and PSUs is as follows:

Weighted-Average

- Grant Date
Maximum Nurmber of Norivested Shares Total Fair Value per Share (1}
Nonvested at February 23, 2007. ... .............. 886,000 $14.69
Granted . ... ... ... 228,000 7.61
Vested ... . i e, (93,060) 13.18
Forfeited. . . ... .o c i e (26,000) 15.80
Adjustments (2). .. ... (282,940 13.18
Nonvested at February 29, 2008. . ................ 712,000 13.17

{1) The performance shares granted during 2008 are valued using a lattice model, whereas all previous
awards are valued using the grant date stock price.

(2) The adjustments included a reduction of 188,240 shares that were converted into restricted stock
and RSUs and a reduction of 94,000 shares due to the actual performance award being less than
the maximum.

At February 29, 2008, there was $1.2 of remaining unrecognized compensation cost related to
nonvested performance shares and PSUs, based on the current estimated number of shares to be
issued. That cost is expected to be recognized over a remaining weighted-average period of 1.6 years.
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|

Year Ended
February 29, February 23, February 24,
Gramt Date Fair Value 2008 2007 2006
: I
Weighted-average grant date fair value per
Share of performance shares and PSUJS
granted during 2008, 2007 and 2006 i ....... $7.61 $19.07 $13.00
Stock Options .
Information relating to our stock options is ‘lals follows:
Weighted-Average | Weighted-Average Aggregate
Unexercised Options Number of Option Price Remaining Intrinsic Value
Outstanding Shares per Share Contractual Term {millicns)
February 23, 2007 .. ... ... 5,653,337| $17.28
Options granted . ....... l —
Options exercised .. ... .. (828, 443) 13.49
Options expired ........ {1,253 523) 29.47
Special cash dividend |
adjustment .......... 512,042 16.18
Options forfeited . . ... ... — I - )
February 29,2008 ........ 4,083,413 13.46 34 $4.7

The exercise price per share of options outstanding ranged from $9.46 to $32.86 at February 28,
2008 and $10.50 to $36.50 at February 23, 2007 All unexercised options cutstanding at February 29,
2008 were exercisable.

in connection with the special cash d|V|dend declared and paid in Q4 2008, our Board of Directors
approved an equitable adjustment to the exerc:se price and number of shares subject to outstanding
stock options in certain jurisdictions, which resulted in the issuance of an additional 0.5 million options.
We made a cash payment in lieu of the equntab1e adjustment to holders of outstanding stock options in
certain other jurisdictions.

We received $11.2 in cash from options that were exercised in 2008. The related tax benefit realized
for tax deductions from option exercises was $2|6 Information relating to the intrinsic value of option
exercises under all share-based payment arrang?ments is as follows: '

! Year Ended
l February 29, | February 23, | February 24,
Intrinsic Value 2008 2007 2008
|
Intrinsic value of options exercised ............... $5.0 $10.2 $3.4

14. COMMITMENTS, GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENCIES
Commitments

We lease certain sales offices, showrooms and equipment under non-cancelable operating leases
that expire at various dates through 2018. Dunng the normal course of business, we have also entered
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into sale-leaseback amrangements for certain facilities. Accordingly, these leases are accounted for as
operating leases and any gains from the sale of the original properties are recorded as deferred gains
and are amortized over the lease term. The deferred gains are included as a component of Other fong-
term kabilities, on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and amounted to $19.3 at February 29, 2008 and
$21.3 at February 23, 2007. Our estimated minimum annual rental commitments under non-cancelable
operating leases are as follows:

[ Year Ending February | Amount I
2000 . L e e e $ 58.3
2010 . . e 491
2011 . e 42.3
2012 . e e e 31.1
201 . 26.6
Thereafter . . ... ... . e 61.8

$269.2

Our estimated minimum annual sub-rental income under non-cancelable operating leases are as
follows:

| Year Ending February ] Amount l
2000 . . e $ 65
2010 . e 6.0
T 58
201 . e 49
2013 e e e e 4.2
Thereafter . ... ... ... i e 18.3

$45.7

Rent expense under all operating leases was $57.0 for 2008, $52.7 for 2007 and $54.1 for 2008,
which excludes $1.6, $0.0 and $2.6 of lease impairment charges recorded during 2008, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. Sublease rental income was $7.6 for 2008, $7.7 for 2007 and $2.6 for 2006.

We have outstanding commitments to purchase two new corporate aircraft that are intended to
replace existing aircraft. During 2008, we made $10.9 in deposits and progress payments toward these
purchases and are committed to make additional payments of $25.4 in 2009, $3.8 in 2010, $15.4 in
2011 and $11.2 in 2012. The deposit, progress payments and capitalized interest totaling $13.1 related
to the first aircraft are included in construction in progress, within Property, plant and equipment, net on
the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The deposit of $0.5 on the second aircraft is recorded in Other assets
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and will be moved to construction in progress, within Property,
plant and equipment, net when construction on that aircraft begins during 2010. We expect to take
delivery of one aircraft in 2009 and one aircraft in 2012. We expect to sell two existing aircraft near the
same times.
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Guarantees and Performance Bonds

The maximum amount of future payments (undiscounted and without reduction for any amounts
that may possibly be recovered fram third partit-:)s) we could be required to make under guarantees and
performance bonds are as follows: |

‘ February 28, | February 23,

Guarantees and Performanc!e Bonds 2008 2607

Performance bonds. . .............. FEERERRRPPP $15.0 $4.0
Guarantees . . .. ... e ‘ ................. 2.0 2.4
Total . .. $17.0 $6.4

We are party to performance bonds for certain installation or construction activities of certain
dealers. Under these agreements, we are liable to make financial payments if the installation or
construction activities are not completed under their specified guidelines and claims are filed. Projects
with performance bonds have completion dates! ranging from one to five years. Where we have supplied
performance bonds, we have the ability to step in and cure performance failures thereby mitigating our
potential losses. No loss has been experienced under these performance bonds, and we have no
reserves recorded related to our potential exposure.

We are contingently liable under guarantees to third parties for the benefit of certain dealers in the
event of default of a financial obligation. The guarantees generally have terms ranging from one to ten
years. We have no reserves recorded at February 29, 2008 related to these guarantees.

We occasionally provide guarantees of the ;l)erformance of certain of our dealers to third parties.
These performance guarantees typically relate to dealer services such as delivery and installation of
products. In the event a dealer cannot complete|these services in a timely manner, we guarantee the
completion of these activities. It is not possible to estimate the potential exposure under these types of
guarantees because of the conditional nature of 'our obligations and the unique facts and circumstances
involved in each particular agreement; however, we have never experienced a material loss and do not
believe any potential loss would be material.

Contingencies ‘
1

Environmental Matters l

Environmental expenditures related to current operations are expensed or capitalized as appropriate.
Expenditures related to an existing condition allegedly caused by past operations, that are not associated
with current or future revenue generation, are expensed Liabilities are recorded on an undiscounted
basis unless site-specific plans indicate the amount and timing of cash payments are fixed or reliably
determinable. Generally, the timing of these accrﬂlals coincides with completion of a feasibility study or
our commitment to a formal plan of action. We have ongoing monitoring and identification processes to
assess how the activities, with respect to the known exposures, are progressing against the accrued
cost estimates, as well as to identify other potentlal remediation sites that are presently unknown. The
fiability for environmental contingencies included i in Accrued expenses: Other on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets was $3.6 at February 29, 2008 and $6.3 at February 23, 2007. Certain of our
environmental obligations were discounted by our risk-free rate of return of 6.5%. Our undiscounted
liabilities were $6.0 at February 29, 2008 and $11 .6 at February 23, 2007. Based on our ongeing
evaluation of these matters, we believe we have accrued sufficient reserves to absorb the costs of all
known environmental assessments and the remediation costs of all known sites.
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Included in our environmental liability at February 29, 2008 and February 23, 2007 is $1.1 and $1.4,
respectively, related to asset retirement obligations associated with our former Grand Rapids manufacturing
complex. We estimate our undiscounted obligations for future investigation, remediation and monitoring
costs related to the Grand Rapids, Michigan complex will be $2.1. This amount excludes environmental
related provisions of $1.7 included in our restructuring reserve. See Note 17 for additional information.

Asset Retirement Obligations

We record all known asset retirement obligations for which the liability's fair value can be reasonably
estimated. We also have known conditional asset retirement obiigations that are not reasonably
estimable due to insufficient information about the timing and method of settlement of the obligation.
Accordingly, these obligations have not been recorded on the consolidated financial statemenits. A liability
for these obligations will be recorded in the period when sufficient information regarding timing and
method of settlement becomes available to make a reasonable estimate of the liability’s fair value. In
addition, there may be conditional asset retirement obligations we have not yet discovered, and
therefore, these obligations alsc have not been included on the consolidated financial statements.

Litigation
We are involved in litigation from time to time in the ordinary course of our business. Based on

known information, we do not believe we are a party to any lawsuit or proceeding that is likely to have a
material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition.

15. REPORTABLE SEGMENTS

We operate on a worldwide basis within North America and Intematicnal reportable segments, plus
an “Other” category. During 2008, we made changes in our organizational structure which resutted in
changes to our segment reporting. As a result of these changes, certain components have been
reclassified between our North America segment and our Other category, including Vecta, which moved
from North America to our Premium Group unit, and a health-care product line within Brayton, which
moved from our Premium Group unit to Nurture by Steelcase.

The North America segment consists of the design, sales and marketing and manufacturing
operations of the Steelcase Group, Turnstone and Nurture by Steelcase which serve customers mainly
through independent dealers in the U.S. and Canada. The North America segment includes furniture,
interior architecture, technology and healthcare environment solutions under the Steelcase, Turnstone,
Details and Nurture by Steelcase brands.

The International segment includes all design, sales and marketing and manufacturing operations of
the Steelcase brand outside the .S, and Canada, with an emphasis on freestanding furniture systems,
storage and seating solutions.

The Other category includes the Premium Group (formerly Design Group), PolyVision, IDEO and
Financial Services subsidiaries. The Premium Group companies provide surface materials, lounge and
executive seating and conference and training room tables. PolyVision designs and manutactures visual
communications products for learning environments and office settings. IDEO provides product design
and innovation services. Financial Services provides lease origination services to customers primarily in
North America to facilitate the purchase of our products and provides selected financing services to our
dealers.

We primarily review and evaluate gross margin and operating income by segment in both our
internal review processes and for external financial reporting. Total assets by segment include manufac-
turing assets associated with each segment.
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Approximately 85% of corporate expenses. are charged to the operating segments as part of a
corporate allocation. Unallocated corporate expenses are reported as Corporate. Corporate costs
include executive and portions of shared serwce functions such as information technology, human
resources, finance, legal, research and development and corperate facilities. Assets in Corporate consist
primarfly of unallocated cash and investment balances.

No single customer represented more thani 10% of net sales in 2008, 2007 or 2006.
i

North

Operating Segment Data America Internationat Other Corporate | Consolidated
Fiscal 2008 ’
RevVeNUE . . ... v i e ne e $1!936.6 $893.8 $590.4 - $3,420.8
Operating income (loss). . .. ......... 166.7 57.0 54 (26.3) 202.8
Totalassets. . .................... 1,005.0 546.8 409.8 162.8 21244
Capital expenditures . .............. i 40.4 22.6 16.6 - 79.6
Depreciation & amortization. .. ....... 51.2 23.8 17.4 — 924
Fiscal 2007
Revenue . ............c. i, $1,796.2 $735.8 $565.4 - $3,097.4
Operating income {loss). . ........... l 96.3 34.2 10.2 (27.0) 113.7
Totalassets. . .................... 961.0 482.0 4828 4736 2,399.4
Capital expenditures . .............. 318 18.0 8.6 - 58.2
Depreciation & amortization. .. ....... l 63.4 22.5 18.5 — 101.4
Fiscal 2006 ‘
REVENUE . . ottt $1696.9 %6445  $527.5 - $2,868.9
Operating income fJoss). ... ......... ‘ 78.0 (1.3) 34.0 (28.2) 825
Totalassets. . ..........cooviunn.. 1,041.8 493.1 521.9 2877 2,344.5
Capital expenditures . .............. | 49.4 15.9 6.6 — 71.9
Depreciation & amortization. .. ... .. .. 80.1 21.8 17.5 — 1194

We evaluate performance and allocate resources based on operating incomne. The accounting
policies of each of the reportable segments are the same as those described in Note 2.

Reportable geographic information is as follows:

f Year Ended
| February 29, | February 23, | February 24,
Reportable Geographic Data 2008 2007 2006
Revenue: ‘
United States . ..................... b $2,2088  $2,171.4  $2,107.8
Foreignlocations. ................... | .......... 1,122.0 926.0 761.1
Total oo l .......... $3,420.8  $3,097.4  $2,868.9
Long-iived Assets: i '
United States . ...l .t $ 7651 § 8182
Foreignlocations. . .. ... . i iinnnnnn. 233.1 195.5
Total . ... $ 998.2 $1,013.7

Revenue is attributable to countries based on the location of the customer.

|
|
|
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Our global product offerings consist of furniture, interior architecture, technology and services. These
product offerings are marketed, distributed and managed primarily as a group of similar products on an
overall portfolio basis. The following is a summary of net sales by product category. As formal product
line information is not readily available for the Company as a whole, this summary is intended to
represent a reasonable estimate of net sales by product category based on the best information
available:

Year Ended
February 29, | February 23, | February 24,
Product Category Data 2008 2007 2008
Systemsandstorage . ........... oo $1,587.2  $1,479.3  $1,400.0
Sealing ... e 804.3 687.3 618.5
Other (1) «vvvee e e 1,029.3 930.8 850.4
Total . ... $3,420.8 $3,097 .4 $2,868.9

(1} Other consists primarily of consolidated dealers, textiles and surface materialg, static and electronic
whiteboards and other uncategorized product lines, and services, none of which are individually
greater than 10% of consolidated revenue.

16. ACQUISITIONS AND DECONSOLIDATIONS

In Q3 2008, we acquired 100% of the outstanding stock of Ultra Group Company Limited (“Ultra"),
for $17.3, subject to certain post-closing purchase price adjustments. Ultra is an office furniture
manufacturer with headquarters in Hong Kong, manufacturing in China and sales and distribution
throughout Asia. As a result of the preliminary purchase price allocation, we recorded goodwill of $3.2
and intangible assets of $7.5. We expect to finalize the allocation of the purchase price to the fair value
of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed when we obtain information sufficient to complete the
formal valuation of intangible assets and working capital adjustments, but in any case, within one year
after acquisition. Qur 2008 consolidated financial statements include $14.6 of revenue, $3.7 of gross
profit, $4.2 of operating expenses and $0.5 of operating loss related to this acquisition.

in 2007, we completed the acquisition of Softcare Innovations, Inc. and its sister company, DJRT
Manufacturing, Inc. for $13.0 in cash. In conjunction with the acquisition, we recorded intangible assets
of $4.0 and goodwill of $7.9. In 2006, we acquired several small dealers within our North America and
international segments, for a combined price of $8.9 in cash. As a result of these acquisitions, we
recorded intangible assets of $3.7 and goodwill of $4.3. These acquisitions were not material individually
or in the aggregate.

In Q2 2008, a consolidated dealer repaid its transition financing and equity balances, resulting in a
non-operating gain of $3.4. The repayment caused us to deconsolidate the dealer as we were no longer
the primary beneficiary, Additionally, during Q2 2008 we transitioned ownership of another dealer to an
independent third party. Our 2008 consolidated financial statements include $30.2 of revenue (before
eliminations), $8.2 of gross profit, $7.7 of operating expenses, $0.6 of operating income and $0.9 of
other expense, net related to these previously consolidated dealers.

During 2007, we completed the sale of a subsidiary of PolyVision for $2.9 and deconsolidated a
variable interest dealer. We recorded a loss on the sale of the PolyVision subsidiary of $1.0. Our 2007
consolidated financial statements include $25.7 of revenue {before eliminations), $11.2 of gross profit,

74




|
STEELCASE INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATElP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —(Continued)

$8.2 of operating expenses, $3.0 of operating iﬁmome and $2.4 of other expense, net related to these
entities. ‘

In Q2 2008, we entered into an agreement which will allow certain members of the management of
IDEC to potentially purchase a controlling equrty interest in IDEQ in two phases before 2013. The first
phase includes a variable compensation program which will allow the employees to acquire up to 20%
of the outstanding shares of IDEQ before June 2009 in lieu of cash variable compensation, provided
certain performance targets are met. In the case where IDEO management has purchased a minimum of
156% under the first phase, a second phase will jallow the buyers a limited option to purchase an
additional 60% equity interest in IDEQ. The agreement provides that, under any circumstance, we will
retain a minimum 20% equity interest in IDEC. As of February 29, 2008, IDEQ management effectively
purchased approximately 12% of IDEQ under the first phase of the agreement.

17. RESTRUCTURING COSTS

We have substantially completed the initiative announced in 2006 to consolidate our North America
operations. We have incurred total cumulative charges of $42.6 related to employee termination costs,
relocation costs, impairment of certain fixed assets and a loss on the sale of our Grand Rapids
manufacturing campus. In 2008, we incurred $4 7 of the restructuring costs, offset by gains of $2.8 on
sales of assets and facilities and $1.1 related to f nal curtailment adjustments. We expect to record an
additional gain of $2.2 during Q1 2009 related to the sale of our Grand Rapids facility, which brings our
estimated cumulative costs related to this initiative to approximatety $40.

The restructuring credit of $2.0 in our International segment in 2008 relates to a gain on the sale of
property and the resolution of environmental coritingencies related to that property.

During Q4 2008, we announced the closure of our Oakland, California (Metro) manufacturing facility,
as we will be consolidating front office and manufactunng operations with other North America and
Premium Group locations. We expect to complete this initiative by Q3 2009. During Q4 2008, we
recorded a charge of $0.9 in our Other categorylrelated to this restructuring plan, which includes initial
severance recognition and asset impairments.

In Q1 2009 we announced three additional restructuring initiatives which will be completed during
2009 and will allow us to eliminate excess oapac|ity and redundancy and focus on our growth strategies.

First, within the North America segment, we|expect to close one manufacturing facility and transfer
its production, along with certain products from another facility, to other manufacturing facilities within
our network. We expect these actions to be completed before the end of Q3 2009.

Second, we expect to close a facility at PolyVision within the Gther category before the end of Q3
2008. This closure is linked to a decision to exit a portion of the public bid contractor whiteboard
fabrication business where profit margins are the|lowest.

Lastly, we announced the launch of various wh1te collar “reinvention” initiatives across our business
in an effort to curb the automatic replacement of future attrition and retirements, and rebalance our
workforce to better align with our growth oppor’[unmes In connection with these efforts, we are
estimating a net reduction of 200 to 250 white- collar jobs across North America by the end of 2010.
Some of those jobs will relocate to a company- owned shared service center, some to third parties and
some may be eliminated as we continue to modermze OUr processes.

We expect these recently announced restructunng initiatives to cost approximately $40, with annual
savings of approximately $40. '
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Reétructuring costs are summarized in the following table:

Fehruary 29, | February 23, | February 24, |
Restructuring Costs 2008 2007 2006
Cost of sales:
NOMN AMEBACA . . oo oot e e e e $0.8 $18.5 $22.6
Intermational . . ... ... s (2.0) 28 8.6
O Bl . . e 0.8 — 2.0
©0.4) 21.3 33.2
Operating expenses:
Noth America . ... oo e e e — 1.7 —
Intermational . . ... ... e — 0.1 5.7
Other . . . e e e — 0.6 —
— 2.4 5.7
OIS ottt $(0.4) $23.7 $38.9

Below is a summary of the charges, payments and adjustments to the restructuring reserve balance

during 2006, 2007 and 2008.

Business Exits

Workforce and Related
Restructuring Reserve Reductions Costs Total
Reserve balance at February 25,2005, .. ... .. ... ... ... .. $ 5.1 $ 94 $14.5
Additions. . . ... .. 15.4 23.5 38.9
Payments . .. .. . .. e e (17.8) (13.3) (31.1)
Adiustments ... ... . e e e 1.2 {12.6) {11.4)
Reserve balance at February 24, 2006. . .................. 3.9 7.0 10.9
Additions. . . ... .. 4.4 19.3 23.7
Payments ... ... oo e 5.9 {15.4) {21.3)
Adiustments .. ... . . e e 1.6 {7.5) 5.9
Reserve balance at February 23, 2007. ... ....... ... .. ..., 4.0 3.4 7.4
Addiions. ... ... .. e e {0.1) 0.3) (0.4)
Payments . ... ... .. i e (3.6 (3.4) (7.0
Adiustments . ... ... 1.5 3.6 5.1
Reserve balance at February 29,2008. . .................. $ 1.8 $ 51

$ 33

The reserve balance at February 29, 2008 for business exits and related costs primarily relates to an
environmental reserve for expected remediation costs for the Grand Rapids campus and a reserve for

employee termination costs related to the Metro closure.
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18. UNAUDITED QUARTERLY RESULTS i

|
! First Second | Third Fourth
Unaudited Quarterly Resuits i Quarter | Quarter | Quarter | Quarter Total

2008

Revenue . ...t i
Grossprofit. .............. ... ... ...
Operatingincome . .......... ..o vvun.

.... %8085 $£8252 $8859 3$901.2 $3,4208
... 2640 2778 2069 2872 11,1259
Cea 48.3 55.0 52.7 46.8 202.8

|

Netincome............... ... .. e 33.6 37.7 31.3 30.6 133.2
Basic earningspershare . .. ............. l C 0.23 0.26 0.22 0.22 0.93
Dituted earnings pershare. .. ... ......... . L 023 026 022 022 0.93
2007

REVENUB . .o ittt e i ... $727.3 $789.7 $802.0 $7784 $3,0974
GrOSS PROfIL. « « v e e L ... 2201 2443 2473 2362 9479
Operatingincome ..................... Lo 28.0 42.4 40.5 2.8 113.7
Netincome. ........... ..t .. 18.2 26.6 32.8 29.3 106.9
Basic eamingspershare. . .............. L. 012 0.18 0.22 0.20 0.72
Diuted earnings pershare .. . ... .............. 0.12 0.18 0.22 0.19 0.71

During Q4 2007, we recorded favorable adjustments to tax reserves and deferred tax asset valuation
allowances totaling $25.1. In addition, we recorded intangible asset and goodwill impairment-related
charges totaling $10.7. These adjustments, comblned with related variable compensation expense of
$9.1, had the net effect of increasing net mcome in 2007 by $11.8. See Notes 8 and 12 for additional
information.

Following is a summary of the pre-tax restru'cturing and other selected costs included in our
quarterly results above: ‘

I First | Second | Third Fourth
Quarterly Restructuring and Other Costs | Quarter | Quarter | Quarier | Quarter | Total

2008 I

Restructuring costs: |
Workforce reductions ... ... ... . i $0.5 $—- $— $01 $ 06
Othercosts........................; ...... 1.2 {1.7). {0.1) {0.4) {1.0)
Total restructuringcosts. . ................ | ...... $1.7 $0.7) $0.1) $03 $(0.4)
2007 X
Restructuring costs: {
Workforce reductions . ... ... ... $0.6 $18 $08 %09 $ 4.1
Other COStS .« v v e oo oo | ...... 3.7 26 - 4.9 84 196
Total restructuring costs. .. ..... ... e . ...... $4.3 $44 $57 $93 $23.7

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements Witl;1 Accountants on Accounting and Financial
Disclosure: w

Nore.
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures:

(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures. Cur management, under the supervision and with the
participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e} and 15d-15(g) under the Exchange
Act, as amended), as of February 29, 2008. Based cn such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer concluded that as of February 29, 2008, our disclosure controls and procedures
were effective in recording, processing, summarizing and reperting, on a timely basis, information
required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act.

(b) Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we have included a report of
management's assessment of the design and effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting
as part of this Report. The independent registered public accounting firm of BDO Seidman, LLP also
attested to, and reported on, the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting.
Management's report and the independent registered public accounting firm’s attestation report are
includéd in this Report in ltem 8: Financial Statements and Supplementary Data under the captions
entitled “Management’s Report on Internal Contro! Over Financial Reporting” and “Report of Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm.”

(c} Internal Controt Over Financial Reporting. There were no changes in our internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f} under the Exchange Act) during our fourth
fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company'’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information:

None.

PART Il

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance:

Certain information regarding executive officers required by this Iltem is set forth as a Supplementary
[temn at the end of Part | of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Other information required by this item is
contained in tem 1: Business under the caption “Available Information™ or in our 2008 Proxy Statement
under the captions “Proposal Requiring Your Vote —Election of Directors,” “Section 16(a) Beneficial
Ownership Reporting Compliance,” “Cther Corporate Governance Matters” and “Committees of the
Board of Directors” and is incorporated into this Report by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation:

The information required by Item 11 is contained in our 2008 Proxy Statement, under the captions
“Committees of the Board of Directors,” “Compensation Committee Report,” “Compensation Discussion
and Analysis,” “Executive Compensation, Retirement Programs and Other Arrangements” and “Director
Compensation,” and is incorporated into this Report by reference.

Item 12, Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters:

The information required by Item 12 that is not listed below is contained in our 2008 Proxy
Statement, under the caption “Stock Cwnership of Management and Certain Beneficial Owners,” and is
incorporated into this Report by reference.
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Securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans as of February 29, 2008 are as
follows: l

[ Number of securities

remaining available for
future issuance under
equity compensation

Number ofI securities to Weighted-average plans
be issued upon exercise exarcise price of {excluding securities
of outstandlng options, | outstanding options, reflected in the
Plan Category warrants and rights warrants and rights second column)
l .
Equity compensation plans
approved by security holders . . 5,127,233 (1) $13.46 (2) 13,966,630
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders . . l — n/a -
Total o 5,127,233 13.46 13,966,630

(1} This amount includes the maximum number of shares that may be issued under outstanding perfor-
mance share, performance unit and restncted stock unit awards; however, the actual number of

shares which may be issued, which will be determined based on the satisfaction of certain criteria,
may be significantly lower. |

(2) The weighted average exercise price exclude's performance shares, performance units and restricted
stock units, as there is no exercise price associated with these awards.

All equity awards were granted under our Incentive Compensation Plan, which was first approved
by our shareholders in December 1997. l

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence:

The information required by ltem 13 is contalned in our 2008 Proxy Statement, under the captions

“Related Person Transactions” and “Director Independence and is incorporated into this Report by
reference.




STEELCASE INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Item 14, Principal Accountant Fees and Services:.

The information required by Item 14 is contained in our 2008 Proxy Statement under the caption
“Fees Paid to Principal Independent Auditor” and is incorporated into this Report by reference.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules:
(a)} Financial Statements and Schedules .
1. Financial Statements (ltem 8)
The following consolidated financial statements of the Company are filed as part of this Report:
* Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
* Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

* Consolidated Statements of Income for the Years Ended February 29, 2008, February 23, 2007
and February 24, 2006

» Consolidated Balance Sheets as of February 29, 2008 and February 23, 2007

¢ Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity for the Years Ended February 29,
2008, February 23, 2007 and February 24, 2006

¢ Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended February 29, 2008, February 23,
2007 and February 24, 2006

¢ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Financial Statement Schedules (S-1)
Schedule [|—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules required by Form 10-K have been omitted because they are not applicable or
the required information is disclosed elsewhere in this Report.

3. Exhibits Required by Securities and Exchange Commission Regulation S-K
Ses Index of Exhibits (pages E-1 through E-5)

(b} Exhibits

The response to this portion of ltem 15 is submitted as a separate section of this Report. See
ltem 15(a)(3) above.

{c) Financial Statement Schedules

The response to this portion of Item 15 is submitted as a separate section of this Report. See
Item 15(a)(2) above.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section|13 or 15{d) of the Securities Exchange Act of ‘
1934, the registrant has duly caused this repf)rt to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,

thereunto duly authorized.

Date: April 28, 2008

STEELCASE INC.

By: /s/ Davip C. SYLVESTER

David C. Sylvester

' Vice President,

Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Secyrities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been
signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on the

dates indicated:

| Signature | | Title | Date | -
[
/s/ James P. Hackert President and Chief Executive Officer, April 28, 2008
James P. Hackett Director (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/  Davip C. SnVESTER Vice f’resident, Chief Financial Officer April 28, 2008
David C. Sylvester {Principal Financial Officer)
fs/ Mark T. Mossing Corporate Controller and Chief Accounting  April 28, 2008
{ . . .
Mark T. Mossing Ofﬂ‘cer (Principal Accounting Cfficer)
/5! WiLLam P. CRAWFORD Director April 28, 2008
William P. Crawford !
|
/s/ EaaL D. Houron Director April 28, 2008
Earl D. Holton '
|
/s/ MicragL J. JANDERNDA Director April 28, 2008
Michael J. Jandernoa '
fs/ Davip W. Joos Director April 28, 2008
David W. Joos
/s/  EuzagemH Vark LonG Director April 28, 2008
Elizabeth Valk Long 1
/s/ Roeert C. Pew lll Chair of the Board of Directors, Director April 28, 2008
Robert C. Pew llI |
/s/  Carry D. Ross Director April 28, 2008

Cathy D. Ross




Signature

Title

Date j

Peter M. Wege Il

/s/ P Craic WELCH, Jr.

P. Craig Welch, Jr.

/s/  KATE Pew WOLTERS

Kate Pew Wolters

Director

Director

Director

82

April 28, 2008

April 28, 2008

April 28, 2008




|
SCHEDULE I
STEEI;.CASE INC.

VALUATION AND CTUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Year Ended
| February 29, | February 23, | February 24,
Allowance for Losses on Accounts Receivable 2008 2007 2006
|
Balance at beginning of year. . . ... ........] Lo $23.7 $32.1 $41.6
Additions: \
Charged to costs and expenses ... ....... b 8.8 59 8.6
Charged to otheraccounts . ... .......... Lo 0.1 {0.5) 0.3
Deductions and other adjustments (1). .. ... .. o {(11.8) (13.8) {18.4)
Balance atendofyear . .................] L $21.8 $23.7 $32.1

(1) Represents excess of accounts written off over recoveries and other adjustments.
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Index of Exhibits

Exhibit

No. Description
3.1 Second Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company (1)
3.2  Amended By-laws of Steelcase Inc., as amended March 27, 2004 (2)
4.1 Credit Agreement, dated as of July 26, 2005 among Steelcase Inc. and JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A., as Administrative Agent; Bank of America, N.A., and BNP Paribas, as Co-Syndication
Agents; Fifth Third Bank and Société Générale, as Co-Documentation Agents; and certain
other lenders (3)
4.2  Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement, issued August 31, 2006 among Steelcase Inc., certain
institutions, JP Morgan Chase Bank, National Association as the administrative agent for the
Lenders (4)
4.3  Amended and Restated Agreement, dated as of October 29, 2004, by and between Steelcase
Inc. and the Shareholders listed on Schedule A thereto (5)
4.4  Indenture for Senior Debt Securities, dated as of August 7, 2006 ameng Steelcase Inc. as Issuer
and JP Morgan Trust Company, National Association as Trustee (6)
45  Form of Global Note Representing 6.5% Senior Notes Due 2011 (7)
4.6  Officers’ Certificate of Steelcase establishing the terms of the 6.5% Senior Notes Due 2011 (8)
10.1  Steelcase Inc. Restoration Retirement Plan (9)
10.2  First Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Restoration Retirement Plan {10)
10.3  2003-1 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Restoration Retirement Plan (11)
104  2006-1 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Restoration Retirement Plan (12)
10.5  2007-1 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Restoration Retirement Plan (13)
10.6  2007-2 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Restoration Retirement Plan (14)
10.7  Steelcase Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan {(15)
10.8  First Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan {16)
10.8  2002-1 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan (17)
10.10 2006-1 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan (18)
10.11  2007-1 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan (19)
10.12  2007-2 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Deferred Compensation Flan (20)
10.13 Deferred Compensation Agreement dated January 12, 1998, between Steelcase Inc. and James
P. Hackett {(21)
10.14 Deferred Compensation Agreement dated May 4, 1998, between Steelcase Inc. and Willam P,
Crawford (22)
10.15  Steelcase Inc. Non-Employee Director Deferred Compensation Plan (23)
10.16 2004-1 Amendment to Steelcase Inc. Non-Employee Director Deferred Compensation Plan (24)
10.17 2006-1 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Non-Employee Director Deferred Compensation Plan
{25)
10.18 Steelcase Inc. Executive Severance Plan (26)
10.19 Steelcase Inc. Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan, amended and restated as of March 27,
2003 {27)
10.20 2006-1 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan {28)
10.21  2006-2 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Executive Supplemental Retirement Pian (29)
10.22 Steelcase Inc. Management Incentive Plan, as amended and restated as of February 24, 2007
(30)
10.23 Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan, as amended and restated as of February 24, 2007
(31)
10.24 Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Stock Option Agreement Form for Board of Directors
Members (32)
10.25 Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Stock Option Agreement Form for Executive
Management Team Members (33)
10.26 Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Stock Option Agreement Form for Participants in
France (34)
10.27 Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Stock Option Agreement for Participants in the

United States (35)
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10.28 Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation [Flan Stock Option Agreement for Participants in the
United Kingdom (36)

10.29 Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Form of Performance Shares Agreement (37)

10.30 Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Form of Performance Units Agreement (38)

10.31 Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation [Plan Restricted Stock Agreement Form for Board of
Directors Members (39)

10.32 Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Restricted Stock Agreement Form {40}

10.33 Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Restricted Stock Units Agreement Form (41)

10.34 Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Form of Performance Shares Agreement (42)

10.35 Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Form of Performance Units Agreement (43)

10.36 Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Form of Performance Shares Agreement (FY 2007)
{44)

10.37 Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Form of Performance Units Agreement (FY 2007)
{45}

10.38 Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Blan Form of Performance Shares Award Agreement as
amended and restated (46) |

10.39 Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Form of Performance Units Award Agreement as

. amended and restated (47)

10.40  Summary of Steelcase Benefit Plan for Qutside Directors (48)

10.41  Summary of Compensation for the Board of Directors for Steelcase Inc.

10.42 Employment Agreement between Steelcase Inc. and James G. Mitchell dated January 20, 2003
{49)

10.43 Amendment dated June 28, 2004 to Employment Agreemenit between Steelcase Inc. and James
G. Mitchell dated January 20, 2003 (50)

10.44  Aircraft Time-Sharing Agreement, dated December 15, 2005, between Steelcase Inc. and James
P. Hackett (51)

10.45  Aircraft Time-Sharing Agreement, dated Becember 15, 2005, between Steelcase Inc. and James
P. Hackett (52)

10.46 Share Repurchase Agreement dated April 25, 2007, by and between Steelcase Inc. and Wiliam F.
Crawford Trust U/A/D December 27, 1995, as amended. {53}

10.47 Share Repurchase Agreement dated April 25, 2007, by and between Steelcase Inc. and Marilyn
M. Crawford Trust U/A/D December 27, 1995, as amended. (54)

10.48 Share Repurchase Agreement dated Apnl 25, 2007, by and between Steelcase Inc. and Walter D.
Idema Grandchild Trust for the benefit of William P. Crawford U/A/D December 15, 1865. (55)

10.49 Share Repurchase Agresment dated Apnl 25, 2007, by and between Steelcase Inc. and Walter D.
Idema Grandchild Trust No. 2 for the benefit of William P. Grawford U/A/D December 23, 1965.
(56)

21.1  Subsidiaries of the Registrant

231 Consent of BDO Seidman, LLP

311 Certification of CEO pursuant to Sectlon 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2  Cerification of CFO pursuant to Sec:hon‘ 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1  Certification of CEO and CFO pursuant t¢ 18 U.S.C Section 1350, pursuant to Section 806 of the
Sarbanes-Oxey Act of 2002

99.1  Asset Purchase Agreement between Steelcase Financial Services Inc. and General Electric
Capital Corporation, dated May 24, 2002 (57)

99.2  Guaranty by Steelcase Inc., in favor of General Electric Capital Corporation, dated May 24, 2002
(57)

(1) Filed as the like numbered exhibit to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
(#333-41647), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commissicn”) on Decem-
ber 5, 1897, and incerperated herein by reference.

(2) Filed as the like numbered exhibit to the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q} for the quarterly
period ended May 28, 2004, as filed with the' Commission on July 7, 2004, and incorporated herein
by reference.
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(3) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.01 in the Company’s Form 8-K, as filed with the Commission on August 1,
2005, and incorporated herein by reference.

(4) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended August 25, 2006, as filed with the Commission on October 3, 2006, and incorporated herein
by reference.

(5) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.11 to Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-3(#333-119757) as filed with the Commission on November 23, 2004, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(8) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.1 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended August 25, 2006, as filed with the Commission on QOctober 3, 2008, and incorporated herein
by reference.

(7) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q} for the quarterly period
ended August 25, 2008, as filed with the Commission on October 3, and incorporated herein by
reference.

(8) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.3 to the Company's Quarterly Repart on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended August 25, 2008, as filed with the Commission on October 3, 2006, and incorparated herein
by reference.

(9) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.4 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
February 26, 1999, as filed with the Commission on May 27, 1999, and incorporated herein by
reference.

(10) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.22 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended May 25, 2001, as filed with the Commission on July 9, 2001, and incorporated herain by
reference.

(11) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.21 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
February 27, 2003, as filed with the Commission on May 16, 2003, and incorporated herein by
reference.

(12) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.32 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
February 24, 2005, as filed with the Commission on May 8, 2005, and incorporated herein by
reference.

(13) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.2 in the Company's Form 8-K, as filed with the Commission on February-9,
2007, and incorporated herein by reference. _

(14) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.2 in the Company’s Form 8-K, as filed with the Commission on February 9,
2007, and incorporated herein by reference.

{15) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.11 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended Novemnber 26, 1939, as filed with the Commission on January 10, 2000, and incorpeorated
herein by reference.

{16) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.23 to the Company's-Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended May 25, 2001, as filed with the Commission on July 9, 2001, and incorporated herein by
reference.

{17} Filed as Exhibit No. 10.24 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended May 25, 2001, as filed with the Commission on July 9, 2001, and incorporated herein by
reference. :

{18) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.34 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
February 24, 2005, as filed with the Commission on May 6, 2005, and incorporated herein by
reference.

{19) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.01 in the Company's Form 8-K, as filed with the Commission on Novem-
ber 22, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference.

(20) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.3 in the Company's Form 8-K, as filed with the Commission on February 9,
2007, and incorparated herein by reference.

E-3




{21) Filed as the like numbered exhibit to Amendrr ent 2 to the Company's Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (#333-41647), as filed with the Commission on January 20, 1998, and incorporated herein
by reference.

(22) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.8 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
February 25, 1998, as filed with the Commission on May 28, 1998, and incorporated herein by
reference.

(23) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.10 to the Company's Ouarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended August 27, 1999, as filed with the Gommission on October 12, 1999, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(24) Filed as Exhibit No. 10,2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended August 29, 2003, as filed with the Commission on October 10, 2003, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(25) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.36 to the Company’s /If\nnual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
February 24, 2005, as filed with the Commission on May 6, 2005, and incorporated herein by
reference.

(26) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.1 in the Company’s Form 8-K, as filed with the Commission on February 9,
2007, and incorporated herein by reference.

{27) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.19 to the Company's /f\nnual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
February 27, 2003, as filed with the Commission on May 16, 2003, and incorporated herein by
reference.

(28) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.33 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
February 24, 2005, as filed with the Gommission on May 5, 2005, and incorporated herein by
reference.

(29) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.01 in the Company’s @uarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended May 25, 2005, as filed with the Commission on July 1, 2005, and incorporated herein by
reference.

{30) Filed as the like numbered exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K, as fi led with the Commission on
June 21, 2007 and amended on June 22, 2007, and incorporated herein by reference.

{31) Filed as the like numbered exhibit to the Company's Form 8-K, as filed with the Commission on
June 21, 2007 and amended on June 22, 20|OT and incorporated herein by reference.

{32) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.28 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended November 26, 2004, as filed with the Commission on January 5, 2005, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(33) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.29 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended November 26, 2004, as filed with the Commission on January 5, 2005, and incorporated
herein by reference.

{34) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.30 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended November 26, 2004, as filted with the Commission cn January 5, 2005, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(35) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.31 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly penod
ended November 26, 2004, as filed with the Commission on January 5, 2005, and incorporated
herain by reference.

(36) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.32 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended November 26, 2004, as filed with the Commission on January 5, 2005, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(37) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.01 in the Company's Form 8-K, as filed with the Commission on May 25,
2005, and incorporated herein by reference.

(38) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.02 in the Company's Form 8-K, as filed with the Gommission on May 25,
2005, and incorporated herein by reference.
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(39) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.33 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the guarterly period
ended November 26, 2004, as filed with the Commissiort on January 5, 2005, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(40) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.34 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended November 26, 2004, as filed with the Commission on January 5, 2005, and incorporated
herein by reference.

{41) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.35 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended November 26, 2004, as filed with the Commission on January 5, 2005, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(42) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.01 in the Company’s Form 8-K, as filed with the Commission on March 22,
20085, and incorporated herein by reference.

(43} Filed as Exhibit No. 10.02 in the Company's Form 8-K, as filed with the Commission on March 22,
2005, and incorporated herein by reference.

(44) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended May 26, 2006, as filed with the Commission on June 30, 2006, and incorporated herein by
reference.

(45) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.2 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended May 26, 2006, as filed with the Commission on June 30, 2006, and incorporated herein by
reference.,

(46) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.01 to the Company's Form 8-K, as filed with the Commissicn on May 4,
2007, and incorporated herein by reference.

{47) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.02 to the Company's Form 8-K, as filed with the Commission on May 4,
2007, and incorporated herein by reference.

(48) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.1 in the Company’s Form 8-K, as filed with the Commission on March 31,
2006, and incorporated herein by reference.

(49) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.26 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended August 27, 2004, as fited with the Commission on October 6, 2004, and incorporated herein
by reference,

{50} Filed as Exhibit No. 10.27 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended August 27, 2004, as filed with the Commission on October 8, 2004, and incorporated herein
by reference.

(51) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.01 in the Company’s Form 8-K, as filed with the Commission on January 30,
2006, and incorporated herein by reference.

(62) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.02 in the Company's Form 8-K, as filed with the Commission on January 30,
2006, and incorporated herein by reference.

(63) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.1 in the Company's Form 8-K, as filed with the Commission on April 26,
2007, and incorporated herein by reference.

{64) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.2 in the Company's Form 8-K, as filed with the Commission on April 26,
2007, and incorporated herein by reference.

{65) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.3 in the Company's Form 8-K, as filed with the Commission on April 26,
2007, and incorporated herein by reference.

{66) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.4 in the Company's Form 8-K, as filed with the Commission on April 26,
2007, and incorporated herein by reference.

(57) Filed as the like numbered exhibit to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended May 24, 2002, as filed with the Commission on July 8, 2002, and incorporated herein
by reference.
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
SARBANES-OXLIIEY ACT SECTION 302

I, James P. Hackett, President and Chief Executivé Officer of Steelcase Inc., certify that:
1} | have reviewed this annual report on Forrn| 10-K of Steelcase Inc.;

2} Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not m|slead|ng with respect to the period covered by this report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in"this
report, fairly present in all material respects the fi nanmal condition, results of operations and cash flows
of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presenged in this report;

-4) The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15{g)) and
internal control over financial reporting {as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f} and 16d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have: ’

a} Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our superwsmn to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated sub3|d|anes is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in Wthh this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over fi nanC|aI reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our super\nswn to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparat:on of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the reglstrant s disclosure controls and procedures and presented
in this report our conclusions about the effectsveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of
the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over fi nanC|aI reporting
that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in
the case of an annual report) that has materlalry affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal contro! over financial reportlng and

5} The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation
of internal control over financial reporting, to the reg|strants auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material|weaknesses in the design or cperation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonabry likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability
to record, process, summarize and report fi nancial information; and

b} Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have
a significant role in the registrant’s internal conttrol over financial reporting.

1 /s/  James P HackerT

Name: James P. Hackett
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

~

Date: April 28, 2008 ) ‘




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT SECTION 302

1, David C. Sylvester, Vice President, Chief Financial Officer of Steelcase Inc., certify that:
1) | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Steelcase Inc.;

2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue staternent of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary 1o make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such staterments were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairty present in all material respects the financial condition, resuits of operations and cash flows
of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4) The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(g)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)} for the
registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal contro! over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢} Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d} Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter {the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in
the case of an annual report} that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5) The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation
of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a} Al significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability
to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have
a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Davip C. SyLveSTER

Name: David C. Sylvester
Title: Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

Date: April 28, 2008




f EXHIBIT 32.1
|
CERTIFICATION OF CEO AND CFO PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
"SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Steelcase Inc. {the “Company”) for the year
ended February 29, 2008 as filed with the Secuntles and Exchange Commission an the date hereof (the
“Report”}, James P. Hackett, as Chief Executive Off icer of the Company, and David C. Sylvester, as Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certif ies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 908 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, based on his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; and .

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the fi nancuaJ
condition and results of operations of the Company

\
! /s/  James P Hackerr

Name: James P. Hackett
1 Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

April 28, 2008 ‘
!
/s/  Davip C. SYIVESTER
Name: David C. Sylvester
Title: Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
April 28, 2008

This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
and shall not, except to the extent required by the' Sarbanes- -Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the

Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securrtles Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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Corporate Information

Global Headquarters
Steelcase Inc.

901 44th Street

Grand Rapids, Mi 49508
Phone: (616) 247-2710

Products and Services

For the address and telephone
number of your nearest

Steelcase dealer or for information
about our products, please

call (800) 333-9939 or visit our
website at www.steelcase.com.

Common Stock Data
Steelcase Inc. Class A Common
Stock has been publicly

traded since February 18, 1898,
and is listed on the New York
Stock Exchange under the
symbol SCS. The Class B
Common Stock is not publicly
traded but is convertible into
Class A Common Stock on a
one-for-one basis.

Dividends

The company has paid cash
dividends each year since 1934,
The current rate is $0.15 per
share per quarter.

Shareholder Account Inquiries
Registered shareholders can access
their account online. Log on to
www.shareowneronline.com

to view share balance, change
address, complete certain
transactions and get answers to
other stock-related inquiries.

You can also call or write
Steelcase's transfer agent at:

www.wellsfargo.com/

shareownerservices.com
or

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.
Shareowner Services
PO, Box 64874

St. Paul, MN 55164-0874
Phone: (866) 457-5829
Qutside the continental
U.S. and Canada:

{651) 450-4064

TDD for those who are
hearing or speech impaired:
(651} 450-4144

Independent Auditors

BDO Seidman, L!LP

99 Monroe Avenue N.W.

Suite 800

Grand Rapids, MI 49503-2698
Phone: (6186) 774-7000

Shareholder Reports and
Investor Inqumes

You can request copies

of financlal doculments. such
as this annual report and
Form 10-K, free of charge, or
direct financial information
inquiries to:

investor Relations

GH-3C-01

PO. Box 1967

Grand Rapids, M1 49501-1967
Phone: (616) 247 2200

Fax: (616) 475- 2270

Email: r@steelcase.com

Investor Relations on the Web
if you wish to reCeive investor
information as sbon asitis
published, please visit the
Investor Helatlons section of

www.steel Q§§§.§Q m. You can
subscribe to email alerts and
receive notification whenever
new events, SEC filings or news
releases are posted to the
website. You ma'y also submit
requests for pr:nted financial
materials.

Corporate Flesponsablllty Reponrt
This 2007 report details our efforts
to protect the eqvnronment and

be good corporate citizens.

You can read trule report online at
www.steelcase.com/responsibility.

Annual Meeting

The annual mee@ing of Steelcase
shareholders will be held on
Thursday, June 26 2008, at

11 am.EDTin our Global
Headquarters. A live webcast
will also be available at

Contact the Steelcase

Board of Directors

To report issues about Steelcase’s
accounting, internal controls and
procedures, auditing matters or other
concerns to the Board of Directors or
Audit Committee, write to the Steelcase
Board of Directors, Chair of the
Board/Lead Non-Management Director,
¢/o Steelcase Inc.

PO. Box 1867

Grand Rapids, Michigan 49501

Phone (800) 437-6167

(in the U.S., Canada or Mexico}

Collect (704) 943-1134

{from outside the United States)

Certifications

Steelcase has included as Exhibits 31.1
and 31.2 to its Annual Report on

Form 10-K for fiscal year 2008 filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission
all required certifications of Steelcase’s
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer regarding the quality of the
company's public disclosures in its fiscal
2008 reports in accordance with Section
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
In July 2007, Steelcase’s Chief Executive
Officer provided to the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE), the annual CEO
certification regarding Steelcase's
compliance with the NYSE's corporate
governance listing standards.

Forward-looking Statements

Certain statements in this document

are “forward-locking statements” within
the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act. These statements
are based on management’s current
expectations and are subject to
uncertainty and changes in circumstances.
Actual resufts may differ materially from
those included in these staternents due to
a variety of factors. For more information
about forward-looking statements and the
factors that may cause actual results to
vary, please see the Forward-looking
Statements section in our Annual Report
on Form 10-K, which is included herein.
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